
NEW WESTMINSTER POLICE BOARD

OPEN AGENDA 

Tuesday, July 16, 2024 at 0900 
Join in-Person: 

555 Columbia Street, New Westminster 
Join via Zoom: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88158165813 

Webinar ID: 881 5816 5813 
+1 778 907 2071

√ Indicates Attachment

We recognize and respect that New Westminster is on the unceded and unsurrendered land of the Halkomelem speaking 
peoples. We acknowledge that colonialism has made invisible their histories and connections to the land. As a City, we 
are learning and building relationships with the people whose lands we are on. 

1 ADOPTION & PRESENTATIONS 

√ 

1.1 
1.2 
1.3  
1.4 
1.5 

Land Acknowledgement 
Introduction of new Board members 
Introduction of new HR Manager 
Selection of new Board Chair and Vice-Chair 
Adoption of Open Agenda: July 16, 2024 

Police Board 
Police Board 
A/DCC Perry 
Police Board 
Police Board 

2 CONSENT AGENDA 

√ 2.1 Approval of Open Minutes: June 18, 2024 Police Board 
2.2 Police Board Member Reports Police Board 

√ 
√ 
√ 

2.3 
2.4 
2.5 

Statistics: June 2024 
Monthly Report on NWPD Overtime 
Policy: OB220 – Sexual Assault Investigations 
Correspondence:  
(a) New Board Appointee - Ms. Kelsi Wall
(b) New Board Appointee - City Councillor Tasha Henderson
(c) Chair and Vice Chair Voting - S.25
(d) E-Comm Governance Review
(e) E-Comm Spectrum Report

A/DCC Ward 
Jacqueline Dairon 
Police Board 

3 
√ 
√ 

ONGOING BUSINESS 
3.1     Strategic Plan Updates  
3.2     Governance Manual Updates: Police Board Honorarium and Roles 

A/DCC Perry 
A/DCC Perry 

4 NEW BUSINESS 

None.    

NEXT MEETING 

Date: September 17, 2024 @ 0930 

Location: Blue Room, 555 Columbia Street 

ADJOURNMENT OF OPEN MEETING 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88158165813


NEW WESTMINSTER MUNICIPAL POLICE BOARD 
June 18, 2023 at 1000hrs 
In-Person and via ZOOM 

New Westminster Police Department, 555 Columbia Street, New Westminster 

MINUTES of Regular Meeting 

PRESENT: Mayor Patrick Johnstone Chair 
Ms. Heather Boersma  
Mr. Drew Hart  
Mr. Patrick Lalonde 
Ms. Mary Trentadue 
Mr. Alejandro Diaz 

STAFF: Chief Constable Dave Jansen 
Deputy Chief Constable Paul Hyland 
Inspector Eamonn Ward 
Inspector Aman Gosal 
Inspector Andrew Perry 
Acting Inspector Martha Miszkurka 
Ms. Jacqueline Dairon  Finance Supervisor 
Ms. Daisy Dyer  Police Board Secretary 
Ms. Hailey Finnigan  Communications 

GUESTS: Sergeant Justine Thom Administrative Services 
Ms. Kim Doxsee Recruitment Coordinator 
Ms. Patti Parsons Recruiting and Training Assistant 
Ms. Emma Palmer Community Engagement 

The meeting was called to order at 1000hrs. 

1. ADOPTION

1.1 Land Acknowledgement 

We recognize and respect that New Westminster is on the unceded and unsurrendered 
land of the Halkomelem speaking peoples. We acknowledge that colonialism has made 
invisible their histories and connections to the land. As a City, we are learning and building 
relationships with the people whose lands we are on. 



New Westminster Municipal Police Board 

 

Minutes of NWPB – June 18, 2024 Page 2 of 5 

 
1.2 Adoption of Regular Agenda: May 21, 2024 

 
MOVED AND SECONDED 
 

THAT The New Westminster Police Board approve the May 21, 2024, Regular Agenda.  
 

CARRIED 
 
1.3 Civilian Presentations: Recruiting | Crime Prevention 

 
Recruiting – Sergeant Justine Thom 
 
Sergeant Thom presented an overview of the Recruiting section and process. This 
included:  
 
Roles and responsibilities, the hiring process, the background investigation, additional 
background queries, the onboarding process, proactive recruitment strategies, and some 
of the challenges that recruitment face.  
 
Received for information.  
 
Crime Prevention – Emma Palmer 
 
Ms. Palmer presented an overview of the Crime Prevention team. This included:  
 
Information regarding volunteer programs, community events, the reserve constable 
program, community engagement, and security audits. 
 
Received for information. 

 
2. CONSENT AGENDA 
 
2.1     Approval of Open Minutes: May 21, 2024 

 
2.2  Police Board Member Reports  
 
2.3  Statistics: May 2024 
 
2.4  Monthly Report on NWPD Overtime 
 
2.5  E-Comm Spectrum Reporting 
   
 MOVED AND SECONDED 

 
THAT item 2.5 be removed from the Consent Agenda; and 



New Westminster Municipal Police Board 

 

Minutes of NWPB – June 18, 2024 Page 3 of 5 

 
THAT the New Westminster Police Board approve the remaining Consent Agenda items. 
 

CARRIED 
 
ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA 

 
2.5   E-Comm Spectrum Reporting 
 

Ms. Trentadue removed this item from the consent agenda enquiring into what the Board 
should be paying particular attention to within the reports.  
 
Inspector Perry noted that E-Comm met their target benchmark of 180 seconds 
consistently, with the exception of February. However, their benchmark was also changed 
from 75% to 80%. This change reflects what E-Comm has budgeted for in order to reach 
this level of service. Additionally, E-Comm also changed to the Genesis system, which will 
also change the statistics and measures. Inspector Perry noted that there have been 
challenges over the years and it would be necessary to see sustained progress before we 
consider these issues resolved.  
 
Ms. Trentadue also requested that it be made clear that these reports are provided by E-
Comm, and not our in-house Comm-Ops statistics.  
 
Received for information.  
 

3.  ONGOING BUSINESS  
  

None. 
 
4. NEW BUSINESS  
 
4.1 2025 Budget Considerations 

 
Ms. Dairon presented a high-level early overview of the New Westminster Police 
Department’s (NWPD) draft Preliminary Operating Budget for 2025. This included non-
discretionary cost increases and recommended budget enhancements to support the 
Department's operational needs and growth, as well as the potential risks. This provided 
an opportunity for guidance in future budget discussions. 

 
Based on initial estimates, approximately 60% of the proposed 2025 budget 
enhancements are due to non-discretionary pressures.  
 
Received for information.  

 
  



New Westminster Municipal Police Board 

 

Minutes of NWPB – June 18, 2024 Page 4 of 5 

4.2  Police Governance 
 

Discussion took place regarding the proposed changes to the governance manual. Chief 
Constable Jansen explained that it would be difficult to cover every nuance.  
 
It was noted that in section 4.3, the term ‘per diem’ should be replaced with 
‘honourarium’. 
 
Ms. Trentadue also noted that there is an ‘appointment’ reference under the Vice Chair 
description, but not under the Chair description. Ms. Trentadue requested that this be 
updated and included for both positions.  
 
Ms. Trentadue requested an amendment to section ‘C’ of the Board Chair 
‘Responsibilities’, which currently reads as follows:  
 

C. Reviewing pre-meeting information packages for completeness, with the goal of 
providing Board members with sufficient information to enable them to prepare 
for the meeting 

 
Ms. Trentadue requested that the aforementioned be edited to reflect current practice, 
whereby the Chair reviews the agenda, and not any reports. Clarification was provided to 
assure that no materials are withheld from the Board as a result of prior review between 
the Chief Constable and Board Chair. This document will be updated as per this discussion. 
 

MOVED AND SECONDED 
 
THAT the Board endorse the changes to the governance manual as amended at this 
meeting; and 
 
THAT in the event of a vacancy of either position, the term of the replacement appointee 
is at the discretion of the Board, as determined at the time of appointment; and 
 
THAT the Chair or Vice Chair can be removed by majority vote. 
 

CARRIED 
 
4.3  CAPG Call for Nominations 
 
 The Board were invited to submit nominations ahead of the upcoming CAPG Conference. 
 
 Received for information.  
 
4.4  Motion to appoint Acting Chief Constable 
 
  



New Westminster Municipal Police Board 

Minutes of NWPB – June 18, 2024 Page 5 of 5 

MOVED AND SECONDED 

THAT the New Westminster Police Board appoints Deputy Chief Constable Paul Hyland as 
the Acting Chief Constable of the New Westminster Police Department, effective June 29, 
2024. This appointment shall remain in effect until a permanent Chief Constable is named 
by the Board. 

CARRIED 

Chair Johnstone congratulated Chief Constable Jansen on his retirement, and thanked 
him for his dedicated career and achievements with the New Westminster Police 
Department. 

ADJOURNMENT of Regular Meeting 

Chair Johnstone adjourned the meeting at 1115 hrs. 

Next meeting 

The next meeting will take place on Tuesday, 18 June, 2024, at 0930 at 555 Columbia Street, New 
Westminster.  

PATRICK JOHNSTONE 
CHAIR 

DAISY DYER 
RECORDING SECRETARY 



 

  
PROTECTED A 

June 2024 
(Report Created: 2024-07-03) 

 

June 2024 - Statistics 

Crime Type Category1 
2024  
May 

2024  
June 

June 
3YR Avg 

YTD  
2022 

YTD  
2023 

YTD  
2024 

YTD 3YR 
Avg 

% Change 
2024-2023 

Persons Offences 

HOMICIDE 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 N/A2 

ATTEMPTED HOMICIDE 0 0 0 2 1 0 1 -100% 

SEXUAL ASSAULTS 5 8 7 33 38 33 35 -13% 

ASSAULT-COMMON 50 39 39 172 208 233 204 12% 

ASSAULT-W/WEAPON OR CBH 24 19 15 73 86 95 85 10% 

ASSAULT-AGGRAVATED 1 0 0 3 5 1 3 -80% 

ROBBERY 1 4 6 21 41 15 26 -63% 

Total Monitored Persons Offences 81 70 67 304 379 377 353 -1% 

Domestic Violence 

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE 37 33 42 332 300 227 286 -24% 

FAMILY VIOLENCE 15 19 26 125 150 117 131 -22% 

Property Offences 

BREAK & ENTER-BUSINESS 12 4 11 86 70 55 70 -21% 

BREAK & ENTER-RESIDENCE 8 7 7 37 44 34 38 0% 

BREAK & ENTER-OTHER 6 6 6 31 34 37 34 9% 

THEFT OF VEHICLE 24 16 12 72 61 79 71 30% 

THEFT FROM VEHICLE 42 30 49 350 315 168 278 -47% 

THEFT-OTHER OVER $5000 1 0 1 7 10 8 8 -20% 

THEFT-OTHER UNDER $5000 68 67 50 197 216 304 239 41% 

MISCHIEF OVER $5000 1 0 1 4 8 2 5 -75% 

MISCHIEF $5000 OR UNDER 34 27 41 241 252 208 234 -17% 

Total Monitored Property Offences 196 157 178 1025 1010 895 977 -11% 

Traffic Offences 

Collisions 

COLLISION-FATAL 1 0 0 2 2 1 2 -50% 

COLLISION-NON-FATAL INJURY 7 5 7 42 55 66 54 20% 

COLLISION-ALL OTHERS 43 46 44 310 262 272 281 4% 

Total Collision Offences 51 51 51 354 319 339 337 6% 

215 | Impaired 

215 ALCOH-24HR & DRUG 5 0 2 16 21 20 19 -5% 

215 ALCOH IRP FAIL & REFUSE ASD-90 DAY 5 3 13 87 83 32 67 -61% 

215 ALCOH IRP WARN 1 4 6 27 36 19 27 -47% 

IMPAIRD OP MV (DRUGS & ALCOH) 10 1 12 100 92 49 80 -47% 

Weapons Offences 

WEAPONS 3 8 7 32 50 36 39 -28% 

Other Non-Criminal Offences 

BYLAW 26 26 33 136 205 133 158 -35% 

FALSE ALARMS 45 59 77 464 399 337 400 -16% 

MISSING PERSONS 27 29 23 136 119 135 130 13% 

MENTAL HEALTH RELATED 98 84 81 329 408 568 435 39% 

DISTURBED PERSON/ATT SUICIDE 42 48 57 286 331 282 300 -15% 

SUDDEN DEATH 14 11 12 71 72 70 71 -3% 

DOMESTIC DISPUTE-NO ASSAULT 23 25 29 186 204 151 180 -26% 

                                                           
1 The above statistics were extracted from LMD PRIME, General Occurrences (GOs) with CCJS Status: <>A (all files except unfounded) or B:Z (founded). Due to the unload 

limitations since the LMD PRIME 8.1 upgrade, only June 2024 files were queried and added to the previous dataset (last updated May 2024). Please note that the figures 

reflect police records as of the day the data was originally extracted; therefore, the figures may have changed over time. The PRIME data was last reviewed on: 2024-07-03. 
Please contact the New Westminster Police Department ‐ Criminal Intelligence Unit for more information.  
2 Undefined. Percent Change = ((new value – initial value / initial value) x 100). Division by zero is division where the divisor (denominator) is zero, where the expression has  

no meaning; therefore, division by zero is undefined. 



  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

June 2024 - Downtown Statistics 
 

Crime Type Category1 2023  
June 

2024  
June 

June 
3YR Avg 

YTD  
2022 

YTD  
2023 

YTD  
2024 

YTD 3YR 
Avg 

% Change  
2023-2024 

ASSAULT-COMMON 18 9 12 53 74 75 67 1% 

ASSAULT-W/WEAPON or CBH 7 8 7 37 44 40 40 -9% 

ASSAULT-AGGRAVATED 0 0 0 1 4 1 2 -75% 

ROBBERY 5 2 3 11 23 6 13 -74% 

BNE-BUSINESS 6 1 4 24 25 23 24 -8% 

BNE-RESIDENCE 2 0 1 5 10 5 7 -50% 

THEFT FROM AUTO - OVER AND UNDER $5000 22 7 12 71 69 48 63 -30% 

THEFT-OTHER - OVER AND UNDER $5000 21 25 19 75 83 111 90 34% 

MISCHIEF - OVER AND UNDER $5000 21 4 13 73 77 65 72 -16% 

MENTAL HEALTH RELATED 31 25 23 78 132 161 124 22% 
 

                                                           
1 The above statistics were extracted from LMD PRIME, General Occurrences (GOs) with CCJS Status: <>A. The data was mapped in ArcMap 10.8.2, and the Downtown statistics were extracted using the Select By Location  function – “are 

completely within the source layer feature”. Due to the unload limitations since the LMD PRIME 8.1 upgrade, only June 2022-2024 files were queried and added to the previous dataset (last updated May 2024). Please note that the figures reflect 

police records as of the day the data was originally extracted; therefore, the figures may have changed over time. The PRIME data was last reviewed on: 2024-07-03. Please contact the New Westminster Police Department ‐ Criminal Intelligence 

Unit for more information. 

 

September 2023 
(Report Created: 2023-10-04) 

 

PROTECTED A 
June 2024 

(Report Created: 2024-07-03) 

 

 



Overtime Report to June 21st, 2024 173

 2024 Annual Budget   YTD Budget 

 Adjusted YTD 
Actual(Prior 
Report)  2024 Actual    YTD Variance 

 Budget 
Remaining 

Last 2 Weeks 
**Incudes Retro 

posting and accural 
reversal 

2023 Prior YTD 
Actual

Management 2,000  945  2,614  2,623               (1,678)               (623)                9  ‐ 

Admin Services  35,000  16,544  34,712  35,687             (19,143)             (687)                974  11,105               
Community & Spec Res 26,000  12,290  11,658  16,483             (4,194)               9,517              4,825  20,508               

61,000  28,833  46,371  52,170             (23,337)            8,830              5,799  31,613               

Patrol Admin 65,000  30,724  9,337  10,375             20,349              54,625            1,039  19,465               
Patrol A Platoon 63,000  29,779  43,610  48,362             (18,584)             14,638            4,752  35,345               
Patrol B Platoon 63,000  29,779  49,322  51,827             (22,048)             11,173            2,505  44,027               
Patrol C Platoon 63,000  29,779  20,550  25,426             4,353                37,574            4,876  38,560               
Patrol D Platoon 63,000  29,779  20,522  22,897             6,882                40,103            2,375  25,746               

317,000  149,839  143,341  158,888           (9,049)               158,112          15,546  163,143             

Major Crime 250,000  118,169  84,226  95,284             22,885              154,716          11,058  126,603             
Forensic Ident 90,000  42,541  29,238  30,816             11,725              59,184            1,578  25,644               
Street Crime  65,000  30,724  10,556  10,556             20,168              54,444            0  18,126               

405,000  191,434  124,020  136,657           54,778              268,343          12,637  170,372             

Total Sworn Overtime 785,000  371,052  316,346  350,337           20,715              434,663          33,991  365,128             

Civilian Overtime

 2024 Annual Budget   YTD Budget 
 YTD Actual(Prior 

Report)  2024 Actual    YTD Variance 
 Budget 

Remaining   Last 2 Weeks  
2023 Prior YTD 

Actual
Management 500  236  ‐  ‐  236  500                   ‐  ‐ 

Admin/Finance 5,000  2,363  ‐  ‐  2,363                5,000              ‐  1,962 

Admin Services 21,000  9,926  5,898  9,258               668  11,742            3,360  12,070               
Records Services 67,500  31,906  36,666  40,743             (8,837)               26,757            4,077  38,007               
Community & SR 5,000  2,363  ‐  ‐  2,363                5,000              ‐  257 
Victim Services 10,000  4,727  5,696  5,973               (1,246)               4,027              276  8,045 

103,500  48,922  48,260  55,974             (7,052)               47,526            7,713  58,379               

Major Crime 1,500  709  26  26  683  1,474              ‐  3,148 
Forensic Ident 5,500  2,600  2,205  2,205               395  3,295              ‐  2,018 

7,000  3,309  2,231  2,231               1,078                4,769              ‐  5,166                  

Total Civilian Overtime 116,000  54,831  50,491  58,205             (3,374)               57,795            7,713  65,507               

Total NWPD OT ‐ Excluding Secondments
901,000  425,883  366,837  408,542           17,341              492,458          41,705  430,636             



OB220 Sexual Assault Investigations OB220 

1 

Sexual Assault Investigations 

 OB220      Revised: July 2024 OB220

Risk Assessment: HIGH 

POLICY 

1. The New Westminster Police Department (NWPD) shall receive and accept for
investigation all complaints alleging a Sexual Offence including Third Party Reporting.
The New Westminster Police Department (NWPD) will receive and investigate all
reports of Sexual Assault and related Sexual Offences including Third Party Reporting.

2. NWPD members assigned to investigate Sexual Offence complaints shall conduct
unbiased, trauma informed, and professional evidence-based investigations that are
thorough yet timely.

3. NWPD members conducting sexual offence investigations shall ensure they take into
account the serious and sensitive nature of these types of offences when dealing with
victims, witnesses and suspects.
The NWPD will ensure that the Sexual Offence Investigations Policy is consistent with
the BC Provincial Police Standards - 5.4 Sexual Assault Investigations, 5.2 Major Case
Management and 6.0 Promotion of Unbiased Policing.

4. The Chief Constable shall ensure all members have completed and/or updated their
trauma-informed investigative training, as required by BC Provincial Policing
Standards 3.2.6 Training to Enhance Service Delivery to Vulnerable Communities, and
that all members are able to recognize that the victim has experienced a traumatic
event and apply their training to seek to ensure victims’ safety and wellbeing in
accordance with BC Provincial Policing Standards 5.4.1 Policy Direction.

5. The NWPD will maintain a review committee that will review all concluded files
alleging a Sexual Assault to ensure these investigations are conducted thoroughly and
in accordance with this policy.



PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

ORDER OF THE LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR IN COUNCIL 

Order in Council No. , Approved and Ordered 

Lieutenant Governor 

Executive Council Chambers, Victoria 

Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General and 
Deputy Premier 

Presiding Member of the Executive Council 

(This part is for administrative purposes only and is not part of the Order.) 

Authority under which Order is made: 

Act and section: Police Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 367, ss. 23 and 24 
 Other: OIC 294/2023 

O10803940 
Page 1 of 3 

On the recommendation of the undersigned, the Lieutenant Governor, by and with the advice and consent of the 
Executive Council, orders that the appointments set out in the attached Appendices A to G are made. 

323 June 17, 2024

2.5 (a)



Page 2 of 3 

APPENDIX A 
ABBOTSFORD POLICE BOARD 

1 Shannon Renee Charney is appointed as a member of the Abbotsford Police Board for 
a term ending June 30, 2025. 

APPENDIX B 
DELTA POLICE BOARD 

1 Lori Anne Mayhew and Nikhil Gopal Pandey are appointed as members of the Delta 
Police Board for terms ending June 30, 2025. 

APPENDIX C 
NELSON POLICE BOARD 

1 Christine Joy Deynaka is appointed as a member of the Nelson Police Board for a term 
ending June 30, 2025. 

 2 Matthew Ernest Nuttall, appointed as a member of the Nelson Police Board by the 
municipal council of the City of Nelson, holds office for a term ending June 30, 2025. 

APPENDIX D 
NEW WESTMINSTER POLICE BOARD 

1 Kelsi Gurpreet Kaur Wall, appointed as a member of the New Westminster Police 
Board by the municipal council of the City of New Westminster, holds office for a 
term ending June 30, 2025. 

APPENDIX E 
OAK BAY POLICE BOARD 

1 Robert Steven Plecas, William Robert Richards and Ian Gordon Robertson are 
appointed as members of the Oak Bay Police Board for terms ending June 30, 2025. 

APPENDIX F 
SAANICH POLICE BOARD 

1 Shelley April Allan is appointed as a member of the Saanich Police Board for a term 
ending June 30, 2025. 



 

Page 3 of 3 

APPENDIX G 
VANCOUVER POLICE BOARD 

 1 Akhtar Raza Mirani, Jason Zachary Murray and Robert Jordan Point are appointed as 
members of the Vancouver Police Board for terms ending December 31, 2025. 

 2 Effective June 30, 2024, Lorraine Lowe, reappointed as a member of the Vancouver 
Police Board by the municipal council of the City of Vancouver, holds office for a 
term ending June 30, 2026. 

 



Via Email: PHyland@NWPolice.org 

June 25, 2024 

New Westminster Police Board 
c/o Paul Hyland, Acting Chief Constable 
New Westminster Police Department 
555 Columbia Street 
New Westminster, BC V3L 1B2 

Dear A/Chief Hyland, 

Re: Appointment of a Council Member to the New Westminster Police Board 

This is to advise that at the Regular (Closed) Council meeting of June 24, 2024, 
New Westminster City Council passed the following resolution: 

1. THAT Councillor Tasha Henderson be appointed to the New Westminster
Police Board effective July 1, 2024; and

2. THAT the aforementioned appointment be publicly released at the next
Regular Council meeting.

In accordance with Part 2 of the resolution, the appointment was publicly released at the 
Regular Council meeting of June 24, 2024. 

If you have any questions or would like more information, please contact me at 
hberg@newwestcity.ca or 604-636-4484. 

Yours truly, 

Hanieh Berg 
Corporate Officer 

ECC: Councillor Tasha Henderson 
Lisa Spitale, Chief Administrative Officer 

2.5 (b)

mailto:PHyland@NWPolice.org
mailto:hberg@newwestcity.ca


1

Daisy DYER

From: Charlton, Katie A PSSG:EX <Katie.Charlton@gov.bc.ca>
Sent: Tuesday, June 18, 2024 1:59 PM
Cc: Trelenberg, Michelle PSSG:EX; Thomas, Jennifer PSSG:EX
Subject: Chair and Vice Chair Voting - S.25

Categories: Police Board

This Message Is From an External Sender  

This message came from outside your organization.  

Good afternoon EDs and EAs, 

Please share with all board members. 

As boards begin to elect their chair and vice chair and develop processes to comply with section 25 of the Police 
Amendment Act, 2024, we have had questions about who can and cannot vote when electing a chair and vice-chair.  I have 
provided the wording of the section below and highlighted subsection 5 for reference.  

Chair and vice chair of municipal police board 
25 (1) Once every 2 calendar years, a municipal police board must elect one of its members as chair and another 
member as vice chair.  
(2) Despite subsection (1), if the office of the chair or vice chair becomes vacant, the municipal police board must
elect a new chair or vice chair at the next meeting of the board after the vacancy occurs.
(3) The vice chair must act as chair if the chair is absent or unable to act.
(4) If both the chair and vice chair are absent or unable to act, the municipal police board members present at a
meeting of the board must elect from among themselves a chair to preside at the meeting.
(5) The chair is a non-voting member of the municipal police board, with the exception that if there is a tie vote at
a meeting of the board, the chair must cast the deciding vote.

Please note the transition language: 
133 Despite section 25 (1) [chair and vice chair of municipal police board] of the amended Act, a municipal 

police board must elect a chair and vice chair promptly after the council member's appointment, as made 
in accordance with section 132 (1) of this Act, takes effect. 

When developing your chair and vice-chair election processes, you may wish to seek legal advice to ensure your process 
complies with the legislation prior to holding your election. 

Once your board has elected a chair and vice-chair, please email Jenn Thomas, cc’d on this email with the names for our 
records and future correspondence. 

Thank you, 

Ka e Charlton (She/Her) 
Director, Police Governance Unit
Policing and Security Branch | Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General 
kaƟe.charlton@gov.bc.ca | Tel: 250‐952‐3070 

Offering gratitude to the lәk̓ʷәŋәn and W̱SÁNEĆ peoples on whose ancestral homelands I live and work. 

2.5(c)



1

Daisy DYER

Subject: FW: E-Comm Governance Review

From: E-Comm Governance Communications <governance.communications@ecomm911.ca> 
Sent: Jul 5, 2024 12:42 
To: Police Board Mailbox <nwpb@NWPolice.org> 
Subject: E-Comm Governance Review 
Good morning, On behalf of the E-Comm Board of Directors, I am writing to share an update on E-Comm’s Governance Review, including an outline of next steps and actions requested of your organization as one of E-Comm’s shareholders (New Westminster  
ZjQcmQRYFpfptBannerStart 

This Message Is From an External Sender  
This message came from outside your organization.  
  
ZjQcmQRYFpfptBannerEnd 

 
Good morning, 
  
On behalf of the E-Comm Board of Directors, I am writing to share an update on E-Comm’s Governance 
Review, including an outline of next steps and actions requested of your organization as one of E-Comm’s 
shareholders (New Westminster Police Board). 
  
The independent Governance Review, conducted by Deloitte, consulted with 80 different E-Comm stakeholders 
and representatives from all its shareholder organizations, including yours. The review identified 10 key 
recommendations to strengthen E-Comm’s governance, including corporate and board structures, as well as the 
financial model. 
 
These recommendations need to be reviewed and some proposed changes will need shareholder approval, 
including by your local government or agency. 
  
To assist your organization in reviewing the recommendations, timeline, and process for the proposed changes I 
am sharing some important resources. 
  

1. Deloitte’s Governance Review – summary and full version of Deloitte’s report, attached 
and also available online here: https://www.ecomm911.ca/transformation/governance/ 
[ecomm911.ca] 

  
2. Shareholder Action Guide – your organization’s guide to the next steps in reviewing 

and approving the proposed changes, including the rationale for changes, benefits, key 
messages and a list of FAQ. 

As outlined in the Shareholder Action Guide, there are some steps that are requested from your organization 
this summer, in advance of a fall shareholder consultation session that you will be invited to attend on Sept 26, 
2024. These steps are outlined on page 5 of the guide, and include: reviewing proposed changes, identifying 
your shareholder representative, and determining your organization’s approval process. 
  
E-Comm is committed to working with your organization to ensure you have the information you need, and the 
opportunity to ask questions or provide feedback into the proposed changes. As such, we will be in contact to 
follow up with your organization on the actions outlined in the Shareholder Action Guide. For more 
information, please contact E-Comm Public Affairs at: governance.communications@ecomm911.ca. I am also 
available to answer your questions as necessary. 



2

  
Thank you, 
Doug Campbell 
Chair, E-Comm Board of Directors 
  



E-Comm 9-1-1 Governance Review – Summary and Next Steps for Shareholders – May 28, 2024

E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review – Summary | June 20, 2024

E-Comm Governance Review – Summary
Background 

At its inception in 1997, E-Comm Emergency Communications for Southwest British Columbia Inc. 
(E-Comm) operated a cooperative radio network for first responders in the Lower Mainland.  More 
than 25 years later, E-Comm is now a vital public safety communications organization that serves the 
diverse communities of British Columbia by answering 99% of 9-1-1 calls in the province, providing 
police and fire communication operations, technology services and operating the emergency radio 
network used by first responders throughout the Lower Mainland.  It serves more than 30 
municipalities and 70 emergency response organizations.  

E-Comm engaged Deloitte in October 2023 to perform this governance review as a response to the
evolving complexities and challenges that E-Comm is facing in serving these key stakeholders.
Deloitte compared E-Comm’s governance model to peers across Canada and internationally. Deloitte
also conducted more than 80 independent in-depth interviews with key stakeholders (including local
government officials, police, fire, ambulance representatives, Board members and E-Comm’s CEO and
Executives) who provided detailed insights into the challenges and opportunities facing the
organization. These insights were validated through reviews of internal and publicly available
documents. The resulting summary of E-Comm’s current state governance challenges and
opportunities for a future-state governance model was discussed with E-Comm’s Governance & Public
Affairs Committee (GPAC), Board of Directors and Executives.

Key Findings 

Over the past 25 years, E-Comm has significantly expanded from a cooperative style, membership-
based corporation that was created to administer a wide area emergency radio network across the 
Lower Mainland. Today it is a full-service call taking and dispatch operation that covers 33 police 
agencies and 40 fire agencies, supported by 700 staff in four BC locations. E-Comm answers 99% of 
the 2 million emergency calls made annually by British Columbians. However, the governance 
framework, operating model, technology infrastructure and capital funding structure have not kept 
pace with this significant growth.  

The shareholder structure, with its voting classes, was designed for the original radio network 
subscribers. With E-Comm’s expanded operations, its governance is marred by significant inequities in 
its shareholders’ rights and influence, board representation, calculation and allocation of operational 
overheads and capital requests, and challenges in its ability to effect change in the delivery of its 
services. The Board is cumbersome and unwieldy, with 23 directors – most representing a local 
government, a group of local governments or user shareholders. The directors are appointed for a 
term of one year and often do not remain beyond a second term. This has resulted in various 
challenges for the Board in its directors’ understanding the complexities of the business model, 
providing effective oversight, approving and supporting the necessary capital investments required, 
and holding management accountable to key financial and performance metrics.  

More concerning is the fact that E-Comm has been operating in a deficit position for a number of years 
as revenues are insufficient to cover its costs of growth and operation. The deficit has continued to 
grow to $7.2M in fiscal 2023. This is not a sustainable financial operating model and certainly one that 
is greatly restricting E-Comm’s ability to invest in technology, process efficiency and organizational 
transformation. The root causes of these deficits stem from a structural historical underinvestment in 
automation, unrealized economies of scale and global efficiency opportunities, and a lack of 
understanding and failure to determine the actual operating costs and the cost of investments 
required by E-Comm to sustain and scale the current model. The Members’ Agreement provides E-
Comm with the ability to recover these operating costs and deficits from its members through cost 

2.5(d)



E-Comm 9-1-1 Governance Review – Summary and Next Steps for Shareholders – May 28, 2024 

E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review – Summary | June 20, 2024 
 

allocation and rate provisions. Moreover, there is a lack of desire by key stakeholders to contribute 
more to E-Comm’s capital and operating costs until it achieves credible operational and financial 
stability.  

Beyond these financial issues, challenges at the service delivery level, including the lack of clear 
contractual terms and metrics, as well as pressure from users to customize service delivery processes, 
deliverables, resourcing and other specific needs, manifests in governance challenges because of the 
resultant operational complexity. This bespoke service delivery model, where each customer often has 
a different suite of services, operating with unique sets of call answer procedures, and resourced 
specifically for their needs (which can occasionally result in some agents being quiet while others are 
overworked), has compromised E-Comm’s effectiveness, sustainability, and scalability. This model has 
constrained E-Comm from creating the requisite economies of scale across the regions and agencies it 
serves. Despite management’s reactive, “firefighting” orientation, there has been a more recent focus 
on transforming and streamlining E-Comm’s operations. E-Comm has made significant strides in 
harmonizing and simplifying its standard operating procedures (from 1,500 to less than 150) and is 
poised to capitalize on other economies by deploying business intelligence technology and rebalancing 
resources within the organization. 

To further complicate matters, the federal government has mandated a shift to Next-Generation 9-1-1 
(NG9-1-1) systems and technologies by 2025. The CRTC requires all telecommunications providers 
and Canadian PSAPs to implement these technologies, which will allow callers to transmit texts, 
images, video, and other data to 9-1-1 call takers and will allow similar digital communications 
between 9-1-1 call takers and emergency responders. There are many stakeholders and active parties 
involved in the transition to NG9-1-1 technology, with several factors that are beyond E-Comm’s 
direct control. Despite good progress and a strong transformation office within E-Comm, there is a 
concern amongst external stakeholders that E-Comm does not have the governance structure 
necessary to provide oversight to ensure that E-Comm is capable and accountable for meeting NG9-1-
1 service delivery expectations. As such, there is a strong reluctance to provide further investment for 
the technology environment. Overcoming this will require a significant increase in trust in E-Comm’s 
financial management, service delivery, change management and relationship management 
capabilities. 

Recommendations 

E-Comm’s operating paradigm has changed dramatically since it was conceived. The increased 
number of stakeholders, rapid pace of technological change, pressure to meet diverse user and public 
expectations, the ability to find and retain strong talent, and to achieve all of this on a minimal 
budget, has left E-Comm in a position of financial and technological deficit and with a credibility gap 
with its stakeholders. While some aspects of the organization have evolved and scaled with this 
growth trajectory, E-Comm’s governance framework has remained somewhat stagnant and is 
constantly challenged to provide effective oversight and accountability.  

However, despite these concerns, E-Comm continues to meet and exceed its core 9-1-1 call answer 
performance metrics and remains well placed to continue to be the cornerstone of the emergency 
response system for BC into the future. Several critical changes need to be made to E-Comm’s 
governance framework including in its stakeholder engagement and its operational and financial 
oversight. There is an opportunity to remove inequities in the shareholder class structure and 
representation processes, creating opportunities to reduce the disproportionate cost they will continue 
to bear, while improving the quality of service and information they receive. While these changes may 
seem relatively intuitive, to-date, E-Comm has not fully implemented them due to management’s 
significant workload to maintain a high level of operational responsiveness and to implement the more 
critical infrastructure, technology, human resource, and operational transformations that are required. 
The success of this governance transformation will depend on creating a strong Board oversight 
mechanism while providing management with the appropriate support and resources to elevate them 
out of their current reactive mode.  



E-Comm 9-1-1 Governance Review – Summary and Next Steps for Shareholders – May 28, 2024 

E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review – Summary | June 20, 2024 
 

Our key recommendations include the following (without consideration of dependencies and therefore 
not listed in the order of implementation timeline). This will initially require extensive shareholder 
communications and engagement in order to formulate and align around the specifics of the 
implementation plans, activities and timelines: 

1) Implement a new governance structure (including a streamlined Board).  
2) Refine the use of representative service governance bodies, such as User and Service 

Committees with member appointed representatives. The committees should have broadly 
understood Terms of Reference and serve to enhance user representation in the governance 
structure.  

3) Propose revisions to Board and Management Committees to support enhanced decision-
making and oversight. 

4) Create a member Nominating or Screening Committee to identify and approve new Board 
director candidates. 

5) Enfranchise all users regardless of regional geography by making them shareholders (rather 
than the current state in which only radio users are Class A shareholders). 

6) Seek Board, member and Ministerial approvals, as required, of proposed changes to the 
governance structure and Articles/Members’ Agreement. 

7) Refine the Board agenda, cycle, materials, procedures, and policies, including a formal 
Delegation of Authorities. 

8) Redesign the operating cost/budgeting model to provide greater equity and transparency while 
reducing the perception that the cost allocation process is not equitable. 

9) Develop a streamlined service delivery and pricing process to drive stronger economies of 
scale and efficiency in the governance, pricing, and service delivery processes.  

10) Develop investment funding and operating cost forecasting strategies to provide greater clarity 
of future costs and remove unexpected fluctuations from the pricing/funding models. 

Although E-Comm is only one organization in the provincial emergency response ecosystem, it is a 
prominent one. There is a significant risk to public safety if E-Comm does not address its current 
trajectory through this governance review. Time is of the essence in continuing to strengthen 
E‑Comm’s governance and oversight. 

Benefits for Current Shareholders  

As discussed, the shareholder structure and associated voting classes are not perceived as equitable 
by all members. The intent of the proposed shareholder changes (i.e. #5) is to enfranchise all users 
regardless of region by making them shareholders, rather than the current state in which only radio 
users are Class A shareholders. E-Comm was created as an incorporated company but provisions in 
the Emergency Communications Corporation Act and Members’ Agreement have eliminated some of 
the traditional rights accruing to shareholders (i.e. rights to dividends or surplus of revenues, rights to 
assets on dissolution, ability to sell shares at current market value, etc.). This effectively means 
shareholders are more members (in a cooperative or non-profit organizational sense), but with voting 
rights on certain significant governance events or changes. The proposed change will allow all users 
(i.e. beyond only radio network users) to become members or shareholders with participating voting 
rights.  

Currently, Class A shareholders (i.e. radio network users) can vote on major governance changes but 
also are required under the Members’ Agreement to fund E-Comm’s annual operational deficits.  As 
such, they will be the group primarily impacted by this recommended change. Class B shareholders, 
and other non-voting members, have no similar voting rights.  Therefore, they have limited ability 
today to impact governance and operating changes.  

 
 



E-Comm 9-1-1 Governance Review – Summary and Next Steps for Shareholders – May 28, 2024 

E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review – Summary | June 20, 2024 
 

The primary implications for Class A shareholders of this proposed change would be as follows: 
• The reliance on Class A shareholders to fund operating deficits would now be greatly reduced as 

the membership/shareholder base is increased (even though operating costs ideally would be 
covered by user service fees and levies). 

• Potential fee reduction as an updated cost allocation model and formulae would consider a cost-
plus model across all members versus a formulaic calculation for Class A shareholders supported 
by a secondary pricing model for non-Class A users. 

• All members become potential funding sources for capital investments and operating cost spikes 
or deficits. 

• More equitable spread of risk and accountability across all users. 

It is important to note that most radio network users (Class A shareholders) are also users of other E-
Comm services, as such, they will see their rates recalibrated so that the pricing for their services 
more accurately reflect the cost to deliver those services with increased pricing transparency.   
The primary implications for Class B shareholders and non-voting members of this proposed change 
would be as follows: 
• Better ability to influence and impact the governance and operations of E-Comm (particularly the 

ability to participate in Board elections). Today these members have no formal representation in 
the governance structure. 

• Participation as full rights, active voting members, if they are a service user. 
• Reduction in the perception of bias or weighting towards Class A members.  
• More effective representation on service as E-Comm looks to users to participate in the service 

governance model (reducing the need to drive changes through the Board). 

Key Dates and Next Steps 

With support from its shareholders, the majority of recommendations discussed in the governance 
review report can be brought forward for approval by Spring 2025. The timeframe below summarizes 
E-Comm’s proposed approach to implement initiatives stemming from those recommendations, 
including key dates for shareholders. 

Key dates: 

June 2024  Distribute Governance Report and recommendations to 
shareholders.  
 

Jul/Aug 2024  Begin developing shareholder resolutions and necessary 
materials to support member decision-making processes.  
Continue to engage with the Province including on matters 
that would require Ministerial approvals. 
 

Fall 2024 Shareholder 
Consultation 

Session 

Obtain feedback and advice from shareholders on the 
direction of the proposed corporate structure and board 
governance changes. E-Comm will then prepare the 
implementation measures needed to enact the governance 
changes, for consideration by shareholders at the spring 
Special General Meeting.  
 

Spring 2025 SGM Approve the implementation measures, which will include 
resolutions for amendments to, among other things, the 
Members’ Agreement, the Articles etc. authorizing 
changes to E‑Comm’s governance affecting the 
recommendations in the report. Management to seek 
ministerial approval.  



E-Comm 9-1-1 Governance Review – Summary and Next Steps for Shareholders – May 28, 2024 

E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review – Summary | June 20, 2024 
 

April-May 
2025 

 Establish new service and user committees, screening 
committee and board committees to make a 
recommendation for the slate of directors to be presented 
to the members at the June 2025 AGM. 

June 2025 AGM Members appoint directors to new E‑Comm Board. 
   
   
   

Next steps: 

E-Comm is committed to working closely with its shareholders in the months ahead to provide the 
information needed to consider and respond to the governance review recommendations. 

In particular, E-Comm has prepared a Shareholder Action Guide outlining the specific next steps that 
each member needs to take in the months ahead to review the governance review recommendations. 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

1 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Governance Model Review  

E-Comm 9-1-1  

April 15, 2024 

 

 

 

 

 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

2 | P a g e  

 

Contents 

1. Executive Summary ........................................................................................................ 3 

2. Introduction and Context ............................................................................................... 6 

3. Background .................................................................................................................... 8 
3.1. History ......................................................................................................................... 8 
3.2. Operational Coverage .................................................................................................... 8 
3.3. Current Jurisdictional Responsibilities ............................................................................. 10 
3.4. Transformation of E-Comm ........................................................................................... 12 
3.5. Jurisdictional Scan ....................................................................................................... 13 

4. Guiding Principles ........................................................................................................ 15 

5. E-Comm - Current State Analysis ................................................................................. 16 
5.1. Corporate structure ..................................................................................................... 17 
5.2. Oversight and accountability ......................................................................................... 17 
5.3. Financial sustainability ................................................................................................. 20 
5.4. Stakeholder Engagement ............................................................................................. 22 
5.5. Operating and decision-making Effectiveness and Efficiency ............................................. 23 

6. Recommendations - Corporate Structure ..................................................................... 25 
6.1. Potential Legal Structures ............................................................................................. 25 
6.2. Private Corporation (refined status quo) ......................................................................... 25 
6.3. Not-for-profit Society ................................................................................................... 25 
6.4. Statutory Authority ...................................................................................................... 26 
6.5. Crown Corporation....................................................................................................... 26 
6.6. Shareholder Structure .................................................................................................. 27 
6.7. Summary of Recommendations – Corporate Structure ..................................................... 28 

7. Recommendations – Board Governance ....................................................................... 28 
7.1. Board Structure .......................................................................................................... 28 
7.2. Board Operations ........................................................................................................ 29 
7.3. Summary of Recommendations – Board Governance ....................................................... 30 

8. Recommendations – Stakeholder Engagement ............................................................. 31 
8.1. Public awareness ......................................................................................................... 31 
8.2. Government relations .................................................................................................. 32 
8.3. Chair and CEO roles ..................................................................................................... 32 
8.4. Board and Shareholder Communications ........................................................................ 32 
8.5. Customer relationship management ............................................................................... 32 
8.6. Summary of Recommendations – Stakeholder Engagement .............................................. 33 

9. Recommendations – Funding Model ............................................................................. 33 
9.1. Long-Term Capital Investment Planning ......................................................................... 34 
9.2. Operational Costing and Forecasting .............................................................................. 37 
9.3. Pricing Model .............................................................................................................. 37 
9.4. Summary of Recommendations – Funding Model ............................................................. 38 

10. Overall Conclusions ...................................................................................................... 39 

APPENDIX A – SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE ......................................................................... 41 

APPENDIX B – EXAMPLE BOARD COMMITTEES .................................................................... 43 

APPENDIX C – SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS .............................................................. 46 

APPENDIX D – IMPLEMENTATION ROADMAP ...................................................................... 49 

 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

3 | P a g e  

 

1. Executive Summary  

1.1. Background 

At its inception in 1997, E-Comm Emergency Communications for Southwest British Columbia Inc.  

(E-Comm) operated a cooperative radio network for first responders in the Lower Mainland.  More than 25 

years later, E-Comm is now a vital public safety communications organization that serves the diverse 

communities of British Columbia by answering 99% of 9-1-1 calls in the province, providing police and fire 

communication operations, technology services and operating the emergency radio network used by first 

responders throughout the Lower Mainland.  It serves more than 30 municipalities and 70 emergency 

response organizations.  

E-Comm engaged Deloitte in October 2023 to perform this governance review as a response to the 

evolving complexities and challenges that E-Comm is facing in serving these key stakeholders. Deloitte 

compared E-Comm’s governance model to peers across Canada and internationally. Deloitte also 

conducted more than 80 independent in-depth interviews with key stakeholders (including local 

government officials, police, fire, ambulance representatives, Board members and E-Comm’s CEO and 

Executives) who provided detailed insights into the challenges and opportunities facing the organization. 

These insights were validated through reviews of internal and publicly available documents. The resulting 

summary of E-Comm’s current state governance challenges and opportunities for a future-state 

governance model was discussed with E-Comm’s Governance & Public Affairs Committee (GPAC), Board of 

Directors and Executives.  

1.2. Key Findings 

Over the past 25 years, E-Comm has significantly expanded from a cooperative style, membership-based 

corporation that was created to administer a wide area emergency radio network across the Lower 

Mainland. Today it is a full-service call taking and dispatch operation that covers 33 police agencies and 40 

fire agencies, supported by 700 staff in four BC locations. E-Comm answers 99% of the 2 million 

emergency calls made annually by British Columbians. However, the governance framework, operating 

model, technology infrastructure and capital funding structure have not kept pace with this significant 

growth.  

The shareholder structure, with its voting classes, was designed for the original radio network subscribers.  

With E-Comm’s expanded operations, its governance is marred by significant inequities in its shareholders’ 

rights and influence, board representation, calculation and allocation of operational overheads and capital 

requests, and challenges in its ability to effect change in the delivery of its services. The Board is 

cumbersome and unwieldy, with 23 directors – most representing a local government, a group of local 

governments or user shareholders.  The directors are appointed for a term of one year and often do not 

remain beyond a second term. This has resulted in various challenges for the Board in its directors’ 

understanding the complexities of the business model, providing effective oversight, approving and 

supporting the necessary capital investments required, and holding management accountable to key 

financial and performance metrics.  

More concerning is the fact that E-Comm has been operating in a deficit position for a number of years as 

revenues are insufficient to cover its costs of growth and operation. The deficit has continued to grow to 

$7.2M in fiscal 2023. This is not a sustainable financial operating model and certainly one that is greatly 

restricting E-Comm’s ability to invest in technology, process efficiency and organizational transformation. 

The root causes of these deficits stem from a structural historical underinvestment in automation, 

unrealized economies of scale and global efficiency opportunities, and a lack of understanding and failure 

to determine the actual operating costs and the cost of investments required by E-Comm to sustain and 

scale the current model. The Members’ Agreement provides E-Comm with the ability to recover these 

operating costs and deficits from its members through cost allocation and rate provisions. Moreover, there 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

4 | P a g e  

 

is a lack of desire by key stakeholders to contribute more to E-Comm’s capital and operating costs until it 

achieves credible operational and financial stability.  

Beyond these financial issues, challenges at the service delivery level, including the lack of clear 

contractual terms and metrics, as well as pressure from users to customize service delivery processes, 

deliverables, resourcing and other specific needs, manifests in governance challenges because of the 

resultant operational complexity. This bespoke service delivery model, where each customer often has a 

different suite of services, operating with unique sets of call answer procedures, and resourced specifically 

for their needs (which can occasionally result in some agents being quiet while others are overworked), 

has compromised E-Comm’s effectiveness, sustainability, and scalability. This model has constrained      

E-Comm from creating the requisite economies of scale across the regions and agencies it serves. Despite 

management’s reactive, “firefighting” orientation, there has been a more recent focus on transforming and 

streamlining E-Comm’s operations. E-Comm has made significant strides in harmonizing and simplifying 

its standard operating procedures (from 1,500 to less than 150) and is poised to capitalize on other 

economies by deploying business intelligence technology and rebalancing resources within the 

organization. 

To further complicate matters, the federal government has mandated a shift to Next-Generation 9-1-1 

(NG9-1-1) systems and technologies by 2025. The CRTC requires all telecommunications providers and 

Canadian PSAPs to implement these technologies, which will allow callers to transmit texts, images, video, 

and other data to 9-1-1 call takers and will allow similar digital communications between 9-1-1 call takers 

and emergency responders. There are many stakeholders and active parties involved in the transition to 

NG9-1-1 technology, with several factors that are beyond E-Comm’s direct control. Despite good progress 

and a strong transformation office within E-Comm, there is a concern amongst external stakeholders that 

E-Comm does not have the governance structure necessary to provide oversight to ensure that E-Comm is 

capable and accountable for meeting NG9-1-1 service delivery expectations. As such, there is a strong 

reluctance to provide further investment for the technology environment.  Overcoming this will require a 

significant increase in trust in E-Comm’s financial management, service delivery, change management and 

relationship management capabilities. 

1.3. Conclusions 

E-Comm’s operating paradigm has changed dramatically since it was conceived. The increased number of 

stakeholders, rapid pace of technological change, pressure to meet diverse user and public expectations, 

the ability to find and retain strong talent, and to achieve all of this on a minimal budget, has left E-Comm 

in a position of financial and technological deficit and with a credibility gap with its stakeholders. While 

some aspects of the organization have evolved and scaled with this growth trajectory, E-Comm’s 

governance framework has remained somewhat stagnant and is constantly challenged to provide effective 

oversight and accountability.  

However, despite these concerns, E-Comm continues to meet and exceed its core 9-1-1 call answer 

performance metrics and remains well placed to continue to be the cornerstone of the emergency 

response system for BC into the future. Several critical changes need to be made to E-Comm’s 

governance framework including in its stakeholder engagement and its operational and financial oversight. 

There is an opportunity to remove inequities in the shareholder class structure and representation 

processes, creating opportunities to reduce the disproportionate cost members will continue to bear, while 

improving the quality of service and information they receive. While these changes may seem relatively 

intuitive, to-date, E-Comm has not fully implemented them due to management’s significant workload to 

maintain a high level of operational responsiveness and to implement the more critical infrastructure, 

technology, human resource, and operational transformations that are required. The success of this 

governance transformation will depend on creating a strong Board oversight mechanism while providing 

management with the appropriate support and resources to elevate them out of their current reactive 

mode.  



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

5 | P a g e  

 

Our key recommendations include the following (without consideration of dependencies and therefore not 

listed in the order of implementation timeline). This will initially require extensive member 

communications and engagement in order to formulate and align around the specifics of the 

implementation plans, activities and timelines: 

1) Implement a new governance structure (including a streamlined Board).  

2) Refine the use of representative service governance bodies, such as User and Service Committees 

with member appointed representatives. The committees should have broadly understood Terms 

of Reference and serve to enhance user representation in the governance structure.  

3) Propose revisions to Board and Management Committees to support enhanced decision-making 

and oversight. 

4) Create a member Nominating or Screening Committee to identify and approve new director 

candidates for the Board. 

5) Enfranchise all users regardless of regional geography by making them members (rather than the 

current state in which only radio users are Class A members). 

6) Seek Board, member and Ministerial approvals, as required, of proposed changes to the 

governance structure and Articles/Members’ Agreement. 

7) Refine the Board agenda, cycle, materials, procedures, and policies, including a formal Delegation 

of Authorities. 

8) Redesign the operating cost/budgeting model to provide greater equity and transparency while 

reducing the perception that the cost allocation process is not equitable. 

9) Develop a streamlined service delivery and pricing process to drive stronger economies of scale 

and efficiency in the governance, pricing, and service delivery processes.  

10) Develop investment funding and operating cost forecasting strategies to provide greater clarity of 

future costs and remove unexpected fluctuations from the pricing/funding models. 

Although E-Comm is only one organization in the provincial emergency response ecosystem, it is a 

prominent one. There is a significant risk to public safety if E-Comm does not address its current 

trajectory through this governance review. Time is of the essence in continuing to strengthen E-Comm’s 

governance and oversight.   



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

6 | P a g e  

 

2. Introduction and Context  

2.1. Purpose of this Document 

The Board of Directors and Executive team of E-Comm want to enhance the governance, oversight, and 

decision-making framework for the organization. The Board also wants to address E-Comm’s financial 

deficit and inherent challenges in the existing funding model as part of organization’s governance 

maturity. E-Comm is a vital public safety communications corporation serving the diverse communities of 

British Columbia by providing critical emergency communications services. Since its inception in 1997, 

E-Comm has evolved from a member-based Lower Mainland radio network provider to a complex, multi-

location radio and telecommunications provider, serving more than 30 municipalities and 70 emergency 

response organizations. E-Comm engaged Deloitte in October 2023 to perform this governance review in 

response to the evolving complexities and challenges E-Comm faces in serving its key stakeholders. This 

report provides our observations, recommendations, and conclusions to support E-Comm in maturing its 

governance framework to be more robust, efficient, and transparent and to enhance E-Comm’s ability to 

meet its public safety mandate and mission to, “Deliver exceptional emergency communications to the 

public and first responders that help save lives and protect property.”1 

2.2. Overall Approach 

In this review of E-Comm’s corporate governance and funding framework, Deloitte gathered information 

regarding current practices, assessed key stakeholder perspectives, identified recommendations for 

improving the future state corporate governance framework, and ultimately tries to align the perspectives 

of external stakeholders, directors, members, and management.  

The key principles for the methodology we used in this review are as follows:  

a) Identify Guiding Principles for a strong governance framework. Fundamentally, any changes 

to E-Comm’s governance structure must be consistent with its values and principles. In essence, 

E-Comm’s values must guide Deloitte’s recommendations for any proposed future state governance 

model.  

b) Understand the Current State. A strong understanding of the challenges, frustrations and 

opportunities in the current state operating environment provides the baseline for those areas where 

change must be prioritized over activities that are considered strong and therefore maintained in any 

future state model. 

c) Identify key attributes of a Future State governance model. To validate which governance 

activities should be prioritized and implemented, we identified several attributes against which 

potential corporate structure, governance structure, delegations of authority, and funding model 

options could be assessed. These allowed us to translate the guiding principles for the future state 

model into specific evaluation criteria against which we assessed the options available to E-Comm 

and its members. 

d) Prioritize implementation activities. Improving the overall governance structure of E-Comm will 

be a multi-year journey with foundational steps for E-Comm to take in the short-term on which to 

build for longer-term measures. We have provided an implementation plan and timeline as a 

roadmap for E-Comm and its members to move this work forward.  

2.3. Key Methodologies Employed 

We employed the following methodologies in this review:  

 

 

1 Our Mission | 9-1-1 Emergency Dispatcher | 9-1-1 Emergency Dispatch (ecomm911.ca) 

https://www.ecomm911.ca/about-e-comm/our-mission-vision/#:~:text=E-Comm%20911%20is%20a%20911%20emergency%20dispatcher%20committed,connect%20you%20to%20fire%2C%20police%20and%20medical%20departments.


E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

7 | P a g e  

 

Stakeholder Interviews  

Deloitte conducted over 40 independent in-depth interviews with over 80 key external and internal 

stakeholders. These stakeholders included local government officials, police, fire, ambulance 

representatives, directors, E-Comm’s CEO and members of the Executive team. This approach allowed for 

a systematic analysis of the issues, concerns and opportunities raised by stakeholders. Deloitte 

aggregated the information gathered into themes about the challenges facing the organization today, the 

requirements for a future state governance and funding model, and recommendations to advance this 

mandate.  

Documentation Review 

Deloitte reviewed a significant number of documents.  Within E-Comm we reviewed documents regarding 

the current state of the organization, transformation projects and financial models including presentations 

and proposals to the Board. We also reviewed and considered documents external to E-Comm including 

industry-specific materials to determine industry leading practices and initiatives; as well as recent 

research and relevant studies in areas such as the role of local governments, governance structures for 

similar organizations, funding models, and call answer levies, among other things.    

Jurisdictional Scan  

Deloitte investigated the structures and operations of similar organizations in other jurisdictions (across 

Canada, as well as some comparable American and international jurisdictions) to understand the broader 

context and maturity of a variety of emergency communications organizations’ corporate governance 

practices, operating models, regulations, and leading practices. Internationally, due to geographic, 

demographic, and regulatory similarities, the Netherlands C2000 system, Spark NZ (and New Zealand 

Police Force), and Danish Police (Politi) proved to be insightful comparators. By examining these 

governance landscapes, Deloitte was able to gain valuable insights into potential areas of opportunity and 

improvement.  

Funding Model Analysis  

In parallel with the stakeholder interviews, Deloitte engaged in discussions focused on understanding the 

dynamics and constraints of the current funding model with stakeholders, E-Comm’s Executive and 

Finance & Accounting personnel. Deloitte assessed information on funding sources, capital expenditure 

forecasting, revenue and operating cost budgets, rates and levies, and service charge models. Our review 

also included discussions about future potential funding sources and the implications of significant 

anticipated costs, such as the integration of new regions and customers, and major transformation 

projects (including NG9-1-1).  

GPAC and Board Engagement  

Deloitte shared the initial key themes, including the current challenges facing E-Comm, as well as 

attributes for a successful future state model, with E-Comm’s Governance & Public Affairs Committee 

(GPAC) and the Board in several sessions. This included a workshop-style steering committee session to 

gather insights and feedback from GPAC and other directors on key challenges and preliminary options for 

the organization going forward. This provided an opportunity to hear any immediate feedback and 

concerns or potential hurdles in moving forward.  

Overall, this approach allowed Deloitte to gain a comprehensive understanding of the feasibility of, and 

receptiveness to, the themes coming from the stakeholder engagement processes as well as potential 

models being assessed. By combining the findings and analysis from the jurisdictional scan, 

documentation review, stakeholder interviews, funding model analysis, and other discussions, Deloitte has 

been able to develop pragmatic recommendations for improving E-Comm’s corporate structure, board 

effectiveness, and funding model. The methodologies employed in the review ensure recommendations 

are evidence-based and tailored to the specific needs and challenges identified by key stakeholders. 

The remainder of this document will consider the governance, funding and decision-making challenges 

faced by E-Comm, explore potential solutions, and propose a pathway forward that aligns the interests of 

E-Comm, its stakeholders including its members, and the public it serves.   



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

8 | P a g e  

 

3. Background 

3.1. History 

E-Comm is an emergency communications operation established in Vancouver, BC. Following the 1994 

Vancouver hockey riots, local governments recognized the need for an effective integrated emergency 

communications network across the Lower Mainland. In 1997, E-Comm was incorporated under the BC 

Business Corporations Act, designated as an emergency communications corporation under the 

Emergency Communications Corporations Act, and given a mandate.  

E-Comm’s purpose was to provide emergency communications and related services to its members.  It 

developed and implemented a wide area radio network - the largest multi-jurisdictional, tri-service 

emergency radio system in the province. This radio system provides a common platform for emergency 

services personnel (police, fire, ambulance, and transit police) to communicate with each other across 

jurisdictions and agencies during emergencies. The various local governments and public safety agencies 

initially served by E-Comm are its original members - predominantly local governments but also other key 

stakeholders such as police boards, BC Emergency Health Services, and the South Coast British Columbia 

Transit Authority. These radio network users comprise the members (collectively the Class A and Class B 

members or shareholders) who are bound by the terms and conditions of the Members’ Agreement, or, in 

the case of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP), a Special Users Agreement. Radio users have 

access to the network.  Specific contracts govern the balance of the services that E-Comm delivers to its 

users. The Emergency Communications Corporations Act stipulates at section 7 that E-Comm’s members 

must pay all rates for operating expenses and capital expenses assessed by E-Comm.  

3.2. Operational Coverage  

The current services provided by E-Comm cover seven (7) core business lines:  

1) 9-1-1 Call Taking/ Primary Public Safety Access Point (primary PSAP), comprising ~7.5% of 

total annual revenue;  

2) Police Communication Operations (PCO), comprising ~50% of total annual revenue, which is 

made up of: 

a. emergency call taking/Secondary Public Safety Access Point (secondary PSAP) 

b. non-emergency call taking; and 

c. dispatch  

3) Fire Communications Operations (FCO), comprising ~5% of total annual revenue, which is 

made up of: 

a. emergency call taking/Secondary Public Safety Access Point (secondary PSAP) 

b. non-emergency call taking; and 

c. dispatch.  

4) Fire Technology Services, which comprises: 

a. computer-aided dispatch (CAD) 

b. records management systems (RMS); and 

c. technology services; and  

5) Wide Area Radio Network Services, comprising ~25% of total annual revenue;  

6) HealthLink BC Technology Services;  

7) PRIMECorp (a subsidiary formed to provide police records’ management services).  

Over the past 25 years, E-Comm has significantly evolved to include a more robust emergency wide area 

radio network for the Lower Mainland and expanded its Police and Fire Communication Operations to 33 

police agencies and 40 fire agencies, supported by over 700 E-Comm staff members working out of two 

main operations facilities (Vancouver and Saanich) and two business support locations in Burnaby.  

Approximately half of E-Comm’s revenue is generated from its Police Communication Operations (PCO) 

(made up of emergency call taking/secondary PSAP, non-emergency call taking, and dispatch services), 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

9 | P a g e  

 

and engages two-thirds of E-Comm’s staff. Radio services generate approximately 25%, 9-1-1 call taking 

approximately 7.5% and Fire Communications Operations (FCO) approximately 5% of E-Comm’s total 

annual revenue. 

E-Comm’s two operations facilities are purpose-built sites. Both buildings are designed to withstand an 

earthquake and operate self-sufficiently for up to 72 hours following a disaster. Having two operations 

facilities offers some physical-site redundancy but does not adequately support full operational backup (as 

each location, individually, would struggle to handle the emergency call volume regularly handled across 

both sites).  

Annually British Columbians make over 2 million 9-1-1 calls (2.3M in 2023), of which 99% are answered 

by E-Comm, by far the largest primary Public Safety Answering Point2 in BC. E-Comm’s target service 

level as a primary PSAP for 9-1-1 response is for 95% of calls to be answered in 5 seconds or less. In 

recent years, E-Comm has met this response time target at levels exceeding 98% (with the notable 

exception of the 2021 ‘heat dome’ emergency call surge).  

Of all calls to 9-1-1, approximately 65% are for police, 30% for ambulance and 5% for fire departments. 

Of the 65% of calls for police and 5% for fire, E-Comm acts as both primary and secondary PSAP for about 

half of those calls. The other calls, for which E-Comm does not provide secondary PSAP services, are 

transferred by E-Comm as the primary PSAP to other non-E-Comm secondary PSAPs. 

There are currently 14 Emergency Communication Centers or sites, including the two (Vancouver and 

Saanich) that are operated by E-Comm, in British Columbia.  The other 12 sites are comprised of nine 

police PSAPs and three sites managed by BC Emergency Health Services (BCEHS). Calls for ambulance are 

always transferred by E-Comm as primary PSAP to the BC Emergency Health Services, who operate three 

emergency communication centers or sites that are virtually integrated into a single secondary PSAP for 

emergency medical calls.  

 

Police Communication Operations 

The Police Act delineates the responsibilities of Provincial and local governments for providing policing 

services. Therefore, local governments can decide how they fulfill their mandate under the Police Act. In 

terms of police communication operations, there are three modes by which local governments can provide 

9-1-1 calls (primary PSA) and secondary PSAP services:  

(1) by contracting for those services from E-Comm; 

(2) by using the RCMP Provincial Police Service for secondary PSAP services, or 

(3) by providing secondary PSAP services for themselves.  

There are currently nine police Emergency Communication Centers (ECCs) or sites in addition to  

E-Comm’s two facilities in British Columbia. The non-E-Comm ECCs are: 

 

1. Courtenay (RCMP) 6.   Surrey (RCMP) 
2. Green Timbers - Chilliwack (RCMP) 7.   Langley (RCMP) 

3. Prince George (RCMP) 8.   Transit Police 
4. Kelowna (RCMP) 9.   Nelson Police 
5. Coquitlam (RCMP)  

 

 

2 A primary PSAP is an emergency communications centre that initially answers a 9-1-1 call and is the first point of 
contact for a caller. When someone calls 9-1-1, that call is routed by the telco directly to the primary PSAP to 
determine the caller’s need (police, fire, or ambulance) and location (city). The caller is then connected with a 
secondary PSAP emergency call-taker who assesses the situation by gathering relevant information and determines the 
appropriate response. Primary PSAPs connect the caller to secondary PSAPs. The secondary PSAP completes the call 
taking process and transfers requests to the proper dispatcher to dispatch the appropriate first responder service 
agency (police, fire, ambulance). 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

10 | P a g e  

 

A more detailed flow for police emergency communications, for example, is outlined in the diagram below. 

 

Diagram 1: Overview of the communications flow for a typical 9-1-1 call 

Wide Area Radio Network Services  

Radio services are delivered under a single radio levy to E-Comm’s 26 Class A members/shareholders3.  

These radio users have Class A shares equivalent to the number of E-Comm’s radio network services 

(police, fire, ambulance, municipal) they use. The 26 Class A members hold among them 37 Class A 

shares as some members subscribe to more than one radio network service (e.g., Coquitlam uses E-

Comm’s radio services for both fire and police and holds two Class A shares).   

E-Comm only provides radio services across the Lower Mainland.  The radio levy that E-Comm charges to 

its radio users (i.e., its Class A members) includes:  

1) Rates based on radio infrastructure costs (e.g., antennae on buildings, or diesel generators); 

2) Rates based on maintenance/management of the radio infrastructure; and  

3) Amortized equipment/hardware costs (e.g., radios and consoles for agencies)  

3.3. Current Jurisdictional Responsibilities  

For its non-radio lines of business, E-Comm operates within a matrix of federal, provincial, and local 

governments and government agencies in Canada, each with important roles in maintaining overall public 

safety.  

Federal:  

At the national level, the Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission (CRTC), as the 

federal body responsible for regulating telecommunications companies, plays a significant role in public 

 

3 See Appendix A – Shareholder Structure for a listing of all Class A and B members/shareholders. 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

11 | P a g e  

 

safety as 9-1-1 calls are made using telecommunications network infrastructure.  Telecommunications 

companies (telcos) route those calls to the primary PSAP servicing the caller’s region (e.g., E-Comm).  

The CRTC has mandated that Next-Generation 9-1-1 (NG9-1-1) systems be implemented by 2025 by all 

Canadian telecommunications companies and all primary and secondary PSAPs. NG9-1-1 technologies will 

eventually allow callers to transmit text messages, images, video, and data to primary-PSAP/9-1-1 call 

takers and will allow those call takers to similarly use digital communications to downstream that 

information to secondary-PSAPS/emergency call takers and first responders. Although this transformation 

will come at a significant cost, it marks a big step forward in the evolution of emergency communications 

and is expected to materially enhance public safety across Canada.  

The federal government is also involved in policing and other related enforcement and emergency 

response areas. Federal agencies, such as the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP), are responsible for 

enforcing certain laws and conducting investigations that span across provincial and international borders.  

Importantly, BC has a Provincial Police Service Agreement with the Government of Canada, which makes 

the RCMP BC’s provincial police force.  The RCMP in BC is called E-Division.  One of the responsibilities of 

E-Division is detachment policing, which, under the Police Act, serves: municipalities in BC with 

populations <5,000 and unincorporated areas; and municipalities who enter into agreements to engage 

the RCMP (as the provincial police force) to act as the municipal police department in their municipalities. 

By way of example, the City of Langley and Coquitlam contract for policing services delivered by the 

RCMP.  When those services are delivered by the RCMP, they fall under federal jurisdiction, which may 

result in operational differences, such as the application of federal versus provincial privacy laws and 

federal procurement obligations.   

Other federal bodies involved in public safety include Public Safety Canada, which coordinates federal 

efforts for national security and the safety of Canadians and other federal departments who have interests 

in emergency preparedness, operations infrastructure. Additionally, Innovation, Science and Economic 

Development Canada is responsible for ensuring the radio spectrum is available for first responders. 

Provincial: 

At the provincial level, the Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General (PSSG) is responsible for 

overseeing policing and ensuring an adequate and effective level of law enforcement in British Columbia.  

PSSG is also responsible for the Emergency Communication Corporations Act (ECC Act), which provides a 

high level of regulation to E-Comm as well as CREST (the emergency radio services provider in the South 

Island region). Among the powers of the Ministry in the ECC Act is the requirement to approve any 

changes to E-Comm Members’ Agreement before they can come into effect, including structural and 

governance changes.   

The Province does not systematically and continuously fund 9-1-1 or emergency call handling in BC, but 

has provided one-time funding on certain occasions, most notably a $150M commitment for the 

implementation of NG9-1-1 technology in BC.  

Other notable provincial ministries engaged in E-Comm’s work are the Ministry of Citizens Services (which 

is responsible for extending communication connectivity in northern and remote BC areas), and the 

Ministry of Health (MoH), which is responsible for BCEHS. The MoH oversees the delivery of healthcare 

services in the province, which includes emergency medical services.  

In particular, mental health services are increasingly being discussed as a possible addition (a fourth 

option) to the existing emergency call answer service framework of police, fire and ambulance services 

but does not presently exist. Calls relating to mental health and addictions have been escalating, creating 

significant complexity for E-Comm’s dispatch and police dispatch services. Mental health professionals are 

increasingly collaborating with first responders to provide their specialized skills to support these types of 

calls. Increased call numbers related to substance abuse and mental health will continue to put service 

pressures on E-Comm. BCEHS plays a critical role at the intersection of first responders and the critical 

information BCEHS receives from E-Comm to provide to those responding to these calls. In addition, The 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

12 | P a g e  

 

BC Mental Health Support Line is currently a separate phone number supported by the provincial 

government. 

Local Government: 

At the regional and municipal levels, local governments in British Columbia are responsible for providing 

public safety and emergency services to their residents (under such legislation as the Police Act). 

Municipalities are responsible for the provision of local law enforcement as a critical component of the 

emergency and public safety system. Municipalities can offer secondary PSAP/emergency call answer and 

dispatch services themselves or procure these services from third parties, including E-Comm and the 

RCMP, many municipalities have chosen to obtain these services from E-Comm.  Reasons for this may 

include the criticality and the 24/7 nature of the service requirement, the challenge of attracting, training, 

and retaining experienced call-takers, the requirement for significant investments in technology, and the 

overall economies of scale that can be achieved through a consolidated service delivery model.   

As discussed above, a number of these local government and emergency response agencies are also 

members of E-Comm, providing a further layer of governance and stakeholder engagement. This layered 

governance structure can be illustrated as follows.  

 

Diagram 2: How E-Comm fits into the BC emergency communications landscape.    

3.4. Transformation of E-Comm 

E-Comm has commenced a multi-year program to transform its core service delivery, operating model and 

supporting systems to streamline operations, improve service quality and to ready the organization for the 

next generation of digital and artificial intelligence (AI) technologies. Significant drivers for this effort 

include the need to automate cumbersome manual processes; upgrade legacy software; consolidate more 

than 1,500 standard operation procedures (SOPs) developed with partners (as they historically dictated 

the procedures that they wanted E-Comm to follow for their services); to improve the stability and 

transparency of levies, rates and pricing information; and to prepare for the implementation of  

NG9-1-1 systems. There are five core pillars to the ongoing transformation strategy: (1) Operations, (2) 

People & Culture, (3) Governance & Stakeholders, (4) Corporate Foundation and (5) NG9-1-1. 

 

NG9-1-1 will bring the following capabilities.  These will enhance both public safety and safety for first 

responders.  However, these capabilities will also add complexity for E-Comm in relation to its service 

delivery, technology, security, privacy, governance, and operations. 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

13 | P a g e  

 

• Multimedia transmission: In addition to voice calls, NG9-1-1 will allow for text messages, 

photos, videos, and other forms of multimedia. Callers will be able to convey crucial information to 

emergency responders more efficiently and comprehensively. NG9-1-1 systems are based on IP 

networks, which allow for more efficient routing of emergency calls and data. It would also enable 

the integration of additional services and applications, such as real-time translation services or 

medical device monitoring. 

• Location Accuracy: This technology will allow for more precise location information for 

emergency calls, including indoor location tracking (e.g., what floor a person is on in a high-rise 

building). This is particularly important for situations where the caller is unable to provide their 

location, is in a remote area, or in some Indigenous communities. 

• Connectivity with Other Systems: Enhanced systems will be able to integrate with other 

emergency response systems (police, fire, and medical systems). This will facilitate better 

coordination and enhance emergency response. This would also include advanced call routing 

systems. 

• Accessibility Features: This will assist individuals with disabilities to better access emergency 

services. This may include support for text-to-speech and speech-to-text technologies. 

• Resilience and Redundancy: In the event of network outages or other disruptions, these 

technologies would help to minimize downtime and ensure that emergency services remain 

available when needed. 

3.5. Jurisdictional Scan  

A key part of our review was to investigate the governance, funding, and operational models in place in 

other jurisdictions for the operation of PSAPs and emergency radio network communications services, 

particularly across Canada.  

Our review concluded that there are several differences in the way the PSAPs are operated across Canada 

and the US. For the most part, provincial and state governments are responsible for providing emergency 

services and play a critical oversight and coordination role across emergency services, including PSAPs. 

The operation of PSAPs, dispatch and emergency response are often the purview of local governments, as 

is the case in BC.  

When considering future state governance opportunities for E-Comm, we grouped our observations about 

notable differences and opportunities for E-Comm, under four key areas. These are: 

1) legal responsibility for PSAPs;  

2) legal structure of PSAPs;  

3) funding for PSAPs; and  

4) for the shared radio network - management of shared emergency radio network services.  

 

1) Legal Responsibility for PSAPs 

In most jurisdictions, the responsibility for providing emergency services ultimately lies with the provincial 

or state government. Local governments are typically responsible for providing PSAPs for their 

communities (including in Alberta, Quebec, Ontario, and British Columbia).  

In one case, Newfoundland has placed the responsibility for operating a PSAP in a not-for-profit 

organization that serves the entire province.  

Provincial governments have not established call answer standards (most voluntarily adopt the National 

Emergency Number Association (NENA) minimum standard of answering 90% of all 9-1-1 calls within 15 

seconds). Ontario’s independent Ombudsman has recommend implementing a provincial oversight body 

following a series of fatalities linked to call answer and response delays in ambulance dispatch in 2018 and 

again in 2021. 

 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

14 | P a g e  

 

2) Legal Structure of PSAPs (Primary and Secondary)  

Some PSAPs are operated as crown corporations (e.g., SaskTel is the operator in Saskatchewan).  Other 

provinces, including British Columbia, include private corporations as part of the public safety system, for 

example Northern911, as a division of Northern Communications Inc., in Ontario and CommAlert in 

Alberta. Additionally, the RCMP operates PSAPs at the local government level, but this results in 

fragmentation, with those PSAPs servicing only individual regions without the benefit of economies of 

scale. This also results in multiple independent PSAPs across Alberta and over 100 PSAPs operating in 

Ontario. 

The Province of Newfoundland operates NL911 as a not-for-profit PSAP. It is like E-Comm in that NL911 

has two facilities for Newfoundland and Labrador providing a similar level of redundancy as  

E-Comm with its two operational facilities in Vancouver and Saanich. 

3) Funding for PSAPs  

Eight provinces/territories across Canada4 have a wireless (cellphone) call-answer levy administered by 

the primary telecommunication company in the province, which provides a stable source of funding to 

support the operating and capital expenses of the PSAPs in those provinces. In provinces where local 

governments are responsible for providing PSAPs, funding often comes from municipal property taxes or 

call answer levies (as is the case in BC with landline levies). Most provinces provide grants and special 

purpose funding, particularly for large capital expenditures such as infrastructure investment and 

assistance with technological upgrades (e.g., NG9-1-1).  

4) Management of Shared Emergency Radio Network Services 

It is common to have shared radio network services in any given province. The key benefits of tri-service 

(police, fire and ambulance) networks are continuity and interconnection of emergency response 

communications.  

BC has, thus far, provided the authority to operate emergency communications services to two 

corporations: E-Comm and CREST (Capital Regional Emergency Service Telecommunications) and retains 

the ability to designate other emergency communications corporations under the Emergency 

Communications Corporation Act. Other provinces, such as Ontario and Saskatchewan, operate shared 

provincial emergency radio networks through provincial agencies in partnership with the RCMP or other 

public safety agencies.  

The federal and provincial governments are watching this space as technologies continue to evolve to 

ensure interoperability amongst first responder services. For example, the federal government is driving 

for a national public safety broadband network (PSBN), which is a secure, high-speed, mobile wireless 

communications network that will allow seamless interoperability between first responders across regions 

and with the American system. Other technologies, such as low earth orbital satellites (LEOs) will also 

become more prominent in these discussions. E-Comm’s governance and technology structures will have 

to evolve to remain current with these changes. 

Beyond North America, we identified several relevant governance models that E-Comm, and BC in 

general, could benefit from emulating. These include the Netherlands and New Zealand – both operating 

very efficient, effective, and resilient emergency radio communication networks. Although it should be 

noted they do benefit from having a consolidated national police force and other emergency response 

organizations, far different from the fragmented decentralized environment in which E-Comm and its 

peers across Canada operate. 

 

4 Provinces/territories in Canada (and their respective monthly cellphone levy amounts) are as follows: Alberta ($0.95), 

New Brunswick ($0.97), Newfoundland and Labrador ($0.75), Northwest Territories ($1.70), Nova Scotia ($0.43), 
Prince Edward Island ($0.70), Quebec ($0.52), and Saskatchewan ($2.08). 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

15 | P a g e  

 

Several relevant observations and opportunities arising from this jurisdictional scan have been 

incorporated in the balance of this review. 

4. Guiding Principles 

For assessing the current state of E-Comm’s governance framework as well as considering its future state, 

Deloitte developed several guiding principles through discussion with stakeholders and leveraging industry 

leading governance practices. These guiding principles form the basis of the recommendations made in 

this report and should feature centrally in any future governance framework and its supporting decision-

making, funding and service delivery models. 

Objective What this means for E-Comm’s governance framework: 

Public Safety 

Oversight of management’s execution of strategy and open discussions 

about risks, conflicts, and mitigating actions, particularly where there is a 
potential impact to public safety, is an overriding principle for the success of 
the organization. The corporate strategy, and all investments, should 
directly engage this principle, and risks to the strategy and public safety 
should be surfaced to the Board in a timely manner. Given the 
interdependencies across the emergency response system, mechanisms 
should exist to allow input and involvement in E-Comm’s key decisions from 

user and other stakeholder groups.   

Clear 
Accountability 

It is paramount that the governance framework supports the long-term 
strategy and sustainability of the organization while encouraging innovation 
and evolution of the service delivery model. The role and presence of 
independent directors on the Boards is fundamental, as is the requirement 

for the Board to be objective and independent of management. The directors 
are the stewards of E-Comm, exercising independent judgement in 

supervising management and safeguarding the interests of its members and 
key stakeholders. They must be appropriately educated and informed about 
to the business model and operations and hold management accountable for 
strategic metrics, actions, and decisions. 

The governance framework must be clear with respect to the reporting 

relationships, role and responsibilities of E-Comm’s Board, management, and 
their various committees. 

Transparency 

As a critical constituent in the public safety system, E-Comm should operate 
in a highly transparent manner. Service delivery standards and performance 
metrics should be clearly communicated. Key decisions and actions should 

be informed by sound principles and data, as should financial forecasts, 
funding requirements and pricing models. Communication to the public, 
governments, public safety agencies and other stakeholders should be clear 
and accessible. 

Fairness 

The governance structure, funding model, service delivery costing and 
pricing, and overall operating model should be fair and equitable to all 

members and users. E-Comm’s decisions and actions should follow a 
utilitarian approach, favoring the ability to enhance public safety broadly 
over the preferences of any individual stakeholder group.  



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

16 | P a g e  

 

Sustainability 

E-Comm is a critical service and needs to be both scalable and sustainable. 
Its governance framework and decision-making processes need to anticipate 
expected and unexpected changes in the climate and the economic, 

technological, and social environments in which E-Comm operates. E-Comm 
needs to be cost-efficient, aligned with stakeholder needs, and scalable into 
the future.  

Employee 
Motivation 

The governance framework should optimize E-Comm’s use of its human 
resources to achieve objectives, while recognizing that E-Comm’s employees 

are critical to public safety and the success and long-term viability of the 
organization. 

Efficiency of  
Decision making 

A key objective for the governance framework is to enhance board and 
management effectiveness and efficiency. Efficiency, simplicity and direct 
flow of decisions up and down the organization should be major 

considerations in determining appropriate decision-making roles and 

responsibilities and allocation of work. Although fiduciary responsibilities will 
drive many Board decisions, committee work, and effective delineation of 
management and the Board’s roles, should enhance oversight. The 
appropriate delegation of responsibilities, based on level in the organization, 
competencies, skill and efficiency, is critical. Similarly, eliminating 
unnecessary complexity, redundancy in information flows, and iterative 
decision-making are key design principles.  

Defensibility 

Beyond the efficiency of decision-making, a critical attribute of a governance 
framework within E-Comm is the effectiveness of the process. Decisions 
made by management and the Board must be accurate, reasonable, 
evidence-based, and legally defensible, particularly as they relate to 
regulatory compliance and contractual obligations. Key operational and 

financial decisions must be readily supportable, have strong risk mitigation 

mechanisms and be easily explainable to all key stakeholders.  

 

These guiding principles have been applied as key evaluation criteria in our analysis and recommendations 

for the future state governance structure for E-Comm. 

5. E-Comm - Current State Analysis 

In considering the guiding principles for an enhanced future state governance structure (as outlined in the 

prior section), it was clear from Deloitte’s discussions with users, shareholders, directors, management, 

and other stakeholders that most of these guiding principles are not being fully followed today. Despite 

these challenges, Deloitte notes that E-Comm continues to meet higher than expected call answer 

response times, maintains strong working relationships and communications with emergency service 

agencies, and provides a meaningful working environment for its people – which are the cornerstones of a 

strong public safety organization. However, Deloitte’s analysis is that the current state is not sustainable 

and is at risk of being unable to meeting public safety requirements in the future (two key governance 

principles identified above).  

Although there are several root causes or drivers for these concerns, the key current state governance 

challenges facing E-Comm can be grouped into five categories: 

1. Corporate structure 

2. Oversight and accountability 

3. Financial sustainability 

4. Stakeholder engagement 

5. Operating and decision-making efficiency and effectiveness. 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

17 | P a g e  

 

Some of the key concerns or challenges identified in the current governance framework and operating 

model relating to the above themes, as well as the potential opportunities they present, are as follows:  

5.1. Corporate structure 

a) Legal structure. E-Comm as an organization, has evolved significantly from its original purpose, 

intent, and operating model. The organization was incorporated under the BC Business Corporations 

Act and essentially had a member-based model for establishing and operating the emergency wide 

area radio network for the Lower Mainland. Some key corporate features including reporting, tax 

treatment, and shareholder structure were varied because of its designation as an emergency 

communications corporation under the Emergency Communications Corporation Act. Additionally, E-

Comm operates as a not-for-profit enterprise. This legal structure was appropriate for the original 

scope of E-Comm’s operations to manage a cooperative wide area radio network as intended by its 

founding members. Over the last 25 years, E-Comm has diversified its business lines, grown in scale 

and complexity and now has features more akin to a corporation, albeit with a public service 

mandate and semi-monopolistic tendencies, given its dominant regional coverage.  

 

A pertinent question now is whether there is a more suitable legal structure to better meet the 

needs of the modern E-Comm to allow it to address some of its governance challenges more 

effectively and directly. Stakeholders have posed a few different legal structures ranging from 

maintaining the status quo to other possible vehicles such as a not-for-profit society, private 

corporation, statutory agency, or crown corporation. 

 

b) Shareholder structure. Currently E-Comm’s share structure has two voting classes. E-Comm has 

26 Class A members (holding 37 Class A shares) and 16 Class B members (holding 18 Class B 

shares). Class A members have rights of access to the radio network as well as significant voting 

preferences. Class B members have the right for future use of the radio network (essentially, a right 

to join) and have secondary voting rights. The members (collectively, Class A and Class B members) 

do not have rights to assets or dividends from any revenue surplus but would bear a pro rata share 

of annual operating costs under the provisions of the Members’ Agreement cost sharing formula.  

 

The shareholder structure, voting rights structure and Members’ Agreement have not changed to 

address the additional business lines that E-Comm has expanded into, most notably, primary and 

secondary PSAP operations (i.e. 9-1-1 call taking and emergency call taking), dispatch, non-

emergency call taking and technology services.  This has resulted in additional users and 

stakeholders who are not involved or reflected in E-Comm’s governance structure as a result of their 

business relationships with E-Comm.   

 

Most stakeholders believe the current share structure is inequitable and outmoded. There is an 

opportunity to revisit the share structure within the governance framework to adjust it to account 

for the relatively small proportion of the current business that pertain to the radio business (~25% 

of total annual revenue) and to rebalance it so that it is more equitable amongst E-Comm’s many 

stakeholders. Any changes to E-Comm’s shareholder structure must have at least a two-thirds 

shareholder majority vote and ministerial approval.   

5.2. Oversight and accountability 

The Board of Directors is currently appointed by Class A members, the Province of BC, and includes five 

independent Directors. The Board is supported by radio network Service and User Committees. The 

governance structure is therefore largely representative of the original radio network infrastructure users 

(i.e., ~25% of E-Comm’s revenue) and therefore is imbalanced from a governance perspective when 

considering the oversight needs of those users contracting for PSAP (primary/9-1-1 and 

secondary/emergency call taking) and other related services (i.e., the balance of E-Comm’s revenue 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

18 | P a g e  

 

sources) as well as many other key external stakeholders. The governance oversight structure in E-Comm 

today can be illustrated as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Diagram 3: Current Corporate Governance Structure of E-Comm 

a) Board Oversight. Despite the recognition of strong guidance and leadership from the Chair, the 

Board is large (23 directors) and regarded as cumbersome.  We heard that the Board does not 

effectively balance the interests of E-Comm’s various stakeholders. Turnover is high (with an 

average tenure of two years) making it a challenge to retain institutional knowledge about the 

rationale and context for recent significant decisions and a steep learning curve for new directors 

before they can materially contribute to E-Comm’s governance. Directors often have limited 

experience in the emergency services environment or experience on professional boards, so can 

struggle at times to understand the complexities of the business model and protocols for related 

decision making.  Of the 23 directors, five are independent and nominated for their skills and 

experience.  The remaining non-independent directors are appointed from member constituencies 

(and consortia of member constituencies) and sometimes feel pressured to represent the interests 

of their appointing bodies over bringing a fiduciary perspective to the governance table. Decision-

making and oversight challenges at the Board level are thereby exacerbated by the shareholder 

structure. These challenges all conspire to create a governance model where it can be difficult to 

provide clear direction and oversight to management, and hold them accountable for their actions 

and decisions.  

 

Given the complexity and risk faced by E-Comm, there is an opportunity to create a smaller, more 

stable board comprised of a group of board professionals who would bring an appropriate mix of 

technical knowledge, experience, and skillsets. The appropriate governance structures and 

mechanisms would allow for independent oversight and accountability while truly governing the 

organization to the benefit of the company in a more equitable manner that considers the interest of 

all stakeholders.  

 

b) Board and Stakeholder Committees. E-Comm has three Board standing committees and one 

task force as follows: 

1. Finance Committee; 

2. Governance and Public Affairs Committee; 

3. People and Culture Committee; and 

4. Transformation Oversight Task Force.  



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

19 | P a g e  

 

Additionally, the Members’ Agreement provides for Service Committees for each of the agency 

groups for radio network users, as follows: 

5. Police Service Committee; 

6. Fire Service Committee;  

7. Ambulance Service Committee; and, 

8. Municipal Services Committee (not presently in place).  

Each Class A member may appoint a representative to each Service Committee for the Designated 

Service (radio) which that member subscribes to (i.e., police radio, fire radio, ambulance radio).  

Currently, the only Designated Service is the radio service. These Service Committees provide 

advice to management and are accountable to their members and the User Committee.  

Importantly, summarizing the Members’ Agreement, the purpose of the User Committee is to advise 

management on operational policy, the delivery of (radio) services and the requirements of the 

users of E-Comm’s (radio) services.  The User Committee has the responsibility to act in the best 

interests of all the representative service agencies (police, fire and ambulance). The User 

Committee is accountable to the Service Committees and has the responsibility to ensure regular 

and open communications with the Board and the President (CEO). Notably, the Members’ 

Agreement at section 6.2, together with the Terms of Reference for the User Committee, stipulate 

that the User Committee:  

1. Is to, within the financial budgets established by the Board, formulate the Established 

Standards of Service; 

2. Is to provide advice to the Board on the appointment of the President (CEO); 

3. Is to review and provide advice to the Board regarding E-Comm’s proposed annual operating 

and capital budgets;  

4. Is to review and provide advice to the Board on the establishment of rates assessed to 

members and any proposed change to the cost sharing formula; and 

5. Has the right, on written notice to the Board specifying the issues to be brought before the 

Board, to require the Chair of the Board to call a meeting of the Board at which the User 

Committee is represented. 

The purpose, authority, influence, and decision-making ability of all these committees have evolved 

over time and the committees themselves are struggling, in some cases to understand their roles 

within the governance structure, and to adapt and meet the fast-growing needs of E-Comm. Also, 

membership of these committees somewhat reflects individual knowledge and experience but does 

vary due to the inherited inequity, opaqueness, and representation challenges that exist at the 

broader Board level.  

In particular, the roles of the Service and User Committees are not well understood across  

E-Comm’s governance and management groups. There is a meaningful opportunity to use the 

Service and User Committee structure to greater effect in a revised governance framework. While 

these committees are meeting and deliberating on matters, they are struggling to provide the right 

level of strategic, financial, service, and operational oversight required for E-Comm’s growing needs. 

There is an opportunity that comes with any governance review to reconsider the structure, terms 

and mandates of the committees and their membership.  

 

c) Government mandates. While the provincial government, through the Ministry of Public Safety 

and the Solicitor General, provides overall direction respecting police services in the province and 

ensures that there are adequate and effective levels of policing, PSAP operations (primary and 

secondary) are a local government responsibility. While PSAP operations are not strictly a policing 

function, answering of police related calls is, and the links between those two functions is plain.   

 

Local governments have the responsibility to administer and manage PSAP operations and some 

emergency response services within their regions. This has contributed to the lack of clear or 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review

20 | P a g e

consistent service delivery protocols/procedures, metrics, and standards and accountabilities 

regarding the primary and secondary PSAP and dispatch systems across the entire system in BC. 

The Union of BC Municipalities has recently called for a provincial mandate and requisite funding 

from the Provincial government.5 The government has responded by providing funding for the  

NG9-1-1 transition6. However, stakeholders have expressed some skepticism regarding the ability of 

the Provincial government to effectively oversee the delivery of these services (i.e., as a Crown 

Corporation or a statutory agency) but most interviewees expected the Provincial government to 

play a larger role in overseeing the players in the ecosystem. There was also an expectation that the 

Provincial government should directly or indirectly provide funding for emergency communications 

corporations to support the evolution of a stable and reliable emergency management systems 

(e.g., stronger operational resilience, NG9-1-1 implementation, and alignment of service delivery 

across communities). 

There is an opportunity for E-Comm to support the Provincial government to clarify service delivery 

expectations for all stakeholders, as per the UBCM 9-1-1 special resolution, and once financially and 

operationally stabilized, to support the Provincial government in advancing the quality and 

availability of emergency communications across BC. With clarity of service delivery standards 

across the industry, as well as continued funding support, the Provincial government will directly 

enhance the governance environment in which E-Comm operates, as well as facilitate stronger 

transparency and operational effectiveness. The Province has stepped in to support the initial 

funding of NG9-1-1, but there is certainly a greater role for the Provincial government to potentially 

help E-Comm manage or even consolidate the complexity of the many local government contracts, 

service level expectations, payment streams, and ongoing implementation and operating costs of a 

NG9-1-1 call answer environment.  

5.3. Financial sustainability 

a) Operating deficits. E-Comm has been operating in a deficit position for a few years as revenues

are not sufficient to cover its costs of growth and operation. The deficit continues to grow year-over-

year from a shortfall of $2.7M in fiscal 2021, to $5.4M in 2022, and most recently $7.2M in 2023.

This is not a sustainable financial operating model and certainly one that is restricting E-Comm’s

ability to make required investments in technology, process efficiency and organizational

transformation. The root cause of this shortfall relates to a combination of factors: a lack of

understanding and appreciation of the actual operating costs and investments that E-Comm requires

to sustain and scale its current operating model; a lack of desire by key stakeholders, including

members, to contribute more to E-Comm’s capital and operating costs until it achieves credible

operational and financial stability; a structural historical underinvestment in automation, economies

of scale, and drive for global efficiencies.

The Emergency Communications Corporations Act provides for the reimbursement of all operating 

expenses and capital expenditures assessed by E-Comm to the members of the emergency 

communications corporation. Section 4.7 of Schedule C of the Members’ Agreement specifically 

states that “discrepancies between actual costs and amounts billed in a year (due to differences 

between budgeted and actual annual costs, or due to a change in User Agency membership over the 

year) [can be] recovered in the following year” from members. E-Comm is in the process of 

developing a deficit repayment plan, however, a truly sustainable solution is required to solve the 

fundamental problem of a lack of sufficient revenue and funding. 

5 https://www.ubcm.ca/convention-resolutions/resolutions/resolutions-database/new-provincial-mandate-and-funding-

9-1-1-1
6 Current BC government commitment is for $150M (of which $60M was distributed to local governments in 2023

through UBCM and $90M was distributed to E-Comm).



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

21 | P a g e  

 

b) Long term capital investment planning. E-Comm’s technology and operating infrastructure has 

been significantly under-invested in for several years and requires significant enhancement to 

modernize the organization and to move it to an efficient, streamlined provider of critical services. 

The Board is responsible for approving the annual capital budget (per section 7.4 of the Members’ 

Agreement), in consultation with the User Committee (per section 6.2.2.2 of the Members’ 

Agreement), however, beyond the annual capital budget, there has been a lack of effective longer-

term capital forecasting, and a lack of clear, transparent and regular reporting on capital investment 

requirements and funding for the medium-to-long-term to both the Board and the key stakeholders, 

including E-Comm’s members. In addition, E-Comm does not currently maintain capital reserves for 

such investments. This heightens the risk and lack of longer-term transparency regarding E-Comm’s 

ability to effectively fund and manage its infrastructure investments.  

 

Stakeholders do, however, recognize the fact that significant investments are required to support 

the transformation to a stable operating model, to generate efficiencies and economies of scale, and 

to implement NG9-1-1 technologies.  However, there is currently a lack of clarity as to how future 

capital requirements will be funded and how much they will cost. There is a strong need for a more 

transparent longer-term capital investment planning model that appropriately engages the Service 

and User Committees, as representatives of the service users within E-Comm’s governance 

structure. 

 

c) Operational costing and forecasting. Operational revenues and costs are estimated in the annual 

budget raised to the User Committee, for review and advice to the Board, as required by s.6.2.2.3 of 

the Members’ Agreement, and to the Board for approval, as required by Section 7.3 of the Members’ 

Agreement. The agreement provides that all services must be delivered on a cost-recovery basis, 

the key elements of which are as follows: 

• The Radio cost sharing model is outlined in Schedule C, covering operational and capital costs 

allocation formulae for radio services. The radio cost allocation model uses a weighted 

distribution model with coverage area and usage rates the main allocation factors, resulting in a 

‘Total Annual Cost,’ which also includes a share of the cost of E-Comm’s corporate overheads. 

• Costs of other services, including primary and secondary PSAP, dispatch and non-emergency call 

taking, are dictated by cost-recovery agreements or contracts with users. The cost allocations 

differ from agreement to agreement (for example, the dispatch levies for Lower Mainland users 

follows a different cost model to Vancouver Island users, with differences in how capital 

expenditures are funded). 

A series of unanticipated financial costs has called into question E-Comm’s understanding of its cost 

base and the ongoing solvency of the current model. There is a concern amongst the key 

stakeholders, including E-Comm’s members, that E-Comm has historically not understood the true 

costs of delivering, maintaining, and upgrading the business, while taking on new users over time 

(not always by choice and often adding to the structural deficit). In addition, stakeholders, including 

E-Comm’s members, cited significant frustration regarding what they perceive to be management’s 

lack of transparency and ability to communicate the underlying cost make-up, which results in the 

user’s invoice for services. 

 

As an example, the original allocation of costs between radio and “Dispatch” customers (a short-

hand term often used by E-Comm management to mean most of the non-radio customers, 

specifically primary and secondary PSAP, dispatch and non-emergency call taking customer) was 

30% radio and 70% Dispatch. It was subsequently changed to 40% radio and 60% Dispatch, which 

remained in place until the end of 2009. In the 2010 annual Board-approved budget, the allocation 

was adjusted to 65% radio and 35% Dispatch, flipping most of the cost burden onto radio from 

Dispatch. There has been no change since. The Members’ Agreement states that costs should be 

reviewed on at least an annual basis and there is nothing preventing E-Comm from reviewing and 

updating this corporate overhead ratio (or indeed a different method of allocation the costs) on at 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

22 | P a g e  

 

least an annual basis. However, this would require a stronger understanding of cost drivers and 

investment needs than exists today. 

 

d) Pricing model. The lack of a detailed understanding of cost drivers, inability to forecast and 

balance investment requirements, challenges in negotiating equitable user contracts, and 

inefficiencies in the operating service delivery model have resulted in an inaccurate, opaque, 

inequitable, and reactive pricing model. Interviewees indicated they did not understand the existing 

pricing model and were frustrated by the lack of predictability and consistency in the annual levies. 

There is also a significant concern regarding the inequity in billings, whereby some users are 

effectively subsidizing others. For example, some interviewees expressed concern that radio 

customers pay a disproportionate amount for the services they receive and, in practice, are 

subsidizing non-radio / ”Dispatch” customers. This is driven by a combination of the historical cost 

allocation model (including the inequitable overhead allocation) and by inadequately costing out 

services for new customers.  

 

By not fairly pricing their services, E-Comm is seen to be creating additional costs and service 

delivery risks for existing users. Similarly, a reduction in services is likely not to result in any cost 

reduction (particularly given the current operating deficit). There is a strong desire across all 

stakeholders for a transparent, predictable, and equitable pricing structure. 

5.4. Stakeholder Engagement 

a) Stakeholder credibility. E-Comm has struggled to maintain credibility and trust with key 

stakeholders, including members, given recent failures to meet service delivery, performance, 

communications, and budget expectations. There is significant misalignment across the expectations 

of key stakeholders, which further amplifies the perceived concerns. There is a consistent perception 

that management is highly reactive and focused on ‘putting out fires’ as opposed to building a 

strategic foundation and significantly enhancing the robustness of systems and processes.  

 

Internally, considerable progress has been made to strengthen the infrastructure and streamline 

processes, but this is not yet visible to external stakeholders. There remains a significant 

opportunity to both address the root cause issues (e.g., financial performance, accountability, 

reporting and other governance issues) and continue to build stronger working relationships with 

external stakeholders. 

 

b) User/Member representation. As discussed above, Section 6 of the Members’ Agreement sets 

out two specific vehicles to represent key users/members: Services Committees and a User 

Committee. These operate adjacent to the Board and facilitate the representation, interaction, and 

communication of the interests of these key user/member constituencies to management and the 

Board, particularly as they make key investment, budgeting and other strategic decisions. Members 

are responsible for the appointment of designated representatives for each of the Fire, Police, 

Ambulance and Municipal Services' Committees, who meet to provide advice and instruction on 

operational impacts on their specific Service (radio), as required by the Committee or the CEO. The 

User Committee is comprised of the chairs and vice-chairs of each of the Service Committees 

(police, fire and ambulance) and provides specific advice and instruction on operational policies, 

standards regarding delivery of services, budgeting and annual capital costs, and rates/cost-sharing 

formulae. These Committees presently meet on a cycle that tracks the Board meetings. It is not 

clear how effectively these meetings are being utilized – in effect, the lack of an effective venue for 

service governance (especially for non-radio customers who are not represented in these 

Committees) results in users seeking input and representation through their Board appointees. 

 

c) Customer management. Existing customer contracts are not consistent or necessarily clear in 

their service delivery and investment expectations. Many are annual contracts that do not provide 

sufficient certainty to support investments in infrastructure that are required to meet longer-term 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

23 | P a g e  

 

service commitments. There is a lack of account management resources and infrastructure to 

support customer concerns about service delivery. Challenges in delivering to user expectations are 

often resolved through direct communications with the executive, often through the member’s 

appointed director.  

 

An opportunity exists to create a more supportive accountable customer relationship management 

process and account management personnel, although this would come at additional ongoing cost. 

This could be supported by further clarity regarding performance metrics and reporting on relevant 

and timely statistics and information (some of which is being provided but possibly not well 

understood by the user). Additionally, although only the radio service users are represented in the 

Service committees and the User committee to provide feedback to management and the Board 

regarding service expectations, there are a number of other committees in place to engage non-

radio customers, which could continue to be leveraged or refined.  

 

d) Executive Communications. Board presentations are perceived as comprehensive but often overly 

positive and not always transparent about risks or challenges. Management initiatives are often 

presented as a fait accompli, with an intent to update and seek formal Board approval, rather than 

educating and bringing the Board along in the decision-making process. The size and structure of 

the Board certainly does not facilitate efficient debate and discussion, and this may be compounded 

by perceptions of personal and representative-agenda dynamics.  

 

Regarding user related communications, often the CEO and senior executives are the individuals 

responding to customer concerns or issues – which, aside from pulling them away from more 

strategic activities, may challenge their motives or credibility in addressing the concerns. 

Management is seen as unduly optimistic in their communications. There is a sense of deflecting 

accountability for current issues through comparisons to other jurisdictions or to transformation 

progress underway. 

  

There is a need for clarity, transparency, and consistency in communications to the Board and 

external stakeholders. Management reporting should be balanced and focused on what the Board 

needs to know versus what management wants to share. Current efforts are underway to address 

external communications with stakeholders, as these also require clarity and a level of simplification.  

 

e) Public Education. Despite increased communications, there is an opportunity to increase both key 

stakeholder and public education and awareness around the role, structure, and responsibilities of  

E-Comm as a PSAP within the broader public safety ecosystem. There is a perception that failures in 

call, telecommunication provider, and agency service responses are attributed to E-Comm. The 

potential for reputational damage if other agencies are failing to respond in a timely manner 

increases significantly with shifts in service delivery to secondary PSAPs as well as with the 

introduction of NG9-1-1 and its associated technologies and complexities. 

5.5. Operating and decision-making Effectiveness and Efficiency 

a) Delegation of Authorities. Decision making with E-Comm largely rests with the Executive team, 

with the Board approving the most significant decisions – but also often functioning as an informed 

sounding board. Members could have some input into the approval process through Board 

committees (User Committee and Police, Fire and Ambulance Service Committees) and other task 

forces if these were to be created appropriately. In some cases, management committees and 

external task forces exist to gather input or provide consultation and validation mechanisms. 

However, the delegation of authority framework is not clearly defined or consistently applied. There 

is an opportunity with the improvement of the Board oversight model to also address the authorities 

delegated to the CEO and management, as well as to enhance the engagement of key stakeholders 

in decision-making processes. This will also serve to release some pressure from users who are 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

24 | P a g e  

 

leveraging current board directors or direct communications with the Executive team to achieve 

certain operational objectives.  

 

b) Service delivery structure. Governance in relation to overseeing service delivery is frustrated by 

the lack of clear contractual terms and metrics, as well as pressure from users to customize service 

delivery processes, deliverables, resourcing, and other metrics relating to their specific needs. This 

has resulted in a bespoke service delivery model where each customer often has a unique suite of 

services, operating under unique call answer operating procedures, and resourced specifically for 

their needs (which can sometimes result in certain call takers being under-utilized while others are 

overworked). This eliminates the opportunity for E-Comm to create economies of scale across the 

regions and agencies they serve, as well as inherently creating increased risk of operating deficits 

through the combination of inefficient delivery and the need to invest in new technologies to serve 

the broad user base. 

 

Through the current transformation and streamlining activities, E-Comm has made significant strides 

in harmonizing and simplifying the number of standard operating procedures (from 1,500 to less 

than 150) and is considering other opportunities for economies through deploying technology and 

balancing resourcing needs. Additional gains are likely available through further use of technology, 

standardized services, consistent service delivery metrics, clarity of responsibilities across the 

system, and the elimination or transfer out of low value or low revenue services.  

 

c) Interpretation of the Members’ Agreement. During various interviews and discussions, we 

heard frustration about limitations that are preventing E-Comm from making certain decisions or 

implementing specific operational changes. When questioned, the rationale or barrier often cited was 

restrictions arising from the Members’ Agreement, Articles, the Emergency Communications 

Corporation Act or other similar governance documents. Upon further investigation it is apparent 

that these documents need to be read in concert with one another. Further, in consultation with 

external legal counsel, we noted that the basis for these beliefs were often not present in the 

current version of the Members’ Agreement. For example, amongst the challenges noted was the 

inability of E-Comm to raise debt or debentures; to recover operational costs from a departed 

member; to reduce the number of board members; to seek member approval for longer-term capital 

investment budgets; questions about the ability to amend the capital cost allocation between radio 

and dispatch users; amongst others, all of which would, we recognize, require various approvals but 

can be done. There are sections of the Members’ Agreement where further clarity could be 

introduced, but there seems to be a lack of consistent understanding of the Members’ Agreement.   

 

d) NG9-1-1 Transformation. There are a considerable number of stakeholders and active parties 

involved in the successful transition to the NG9-1-1 solutions. In some cases, the responsibility to 

manage and negotiate these relationships lies outside of E-Comm’s control (e.g., telecommunication 

provider contracts with E-Comm’s users, or the implementation timeline of other PSAPs, etc.). 

Despite good progress and a strong transformation office with E-Comm, there is also a concern 

amongst some stakeholders that the oversight, accountability, and capability does not exist in 

E-Comm’s governance structure to successfully meet the NG9-1-1 service delivery expectations. As 

such, there is a no clear indication from the provincial government that it will provide further 

investment towards the technology environment, without a significant shift of trust in E-Comm’s 

financial management, service delivery, change management and relationship management 

capabilities. 

 

 



DRAFT - E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review | Private and Confidential  

  

25 | P a g e  

6. Recommendations - Corporate Structure 

6.1. Potential Legal Structures 

At present, E-Comm operates as a private corporation under the BC Business Corporations Act, with 

some dispensations and authorities accorded under the Emergency Communications Corporation Act 

that create more features of a not-for-profit membership structure. The question now exists as to 

whether there is a more appropriate corporate and legal structure that better meets the needs of the 

modern E-Comm and allows it to address some of its governance challenges more effectively and 

directly. Our review has identified four potential corporate structures that could be considered going 

forward. All will meet the guiding principles outlined at the beginning of this report to varying degrees. 

The advantages and implications of each have been considered below. These models are:  

1. Private Corporation 

2. Not-for-profit Society 

3. Statutory Authority 

4. Crown Corporation 
 

Note that changes to the legal structure, membership constituency and shareholder voting classes 

would require a two-thirds vote majority approval of all members, changes to the Articles (also 

requiring a two-thirds majority member approval), and approval of the Minister of PSSG. Changing the 

corporate structure away from the current corporation (options 2-4) will likely also require legislative 

amendment to the Emergency Communications Corporation Act. Certainly, options 3 and 4 will require 

substantive provincial and regional government engagement.  

6.2. Private Corporation (refined status quo) 

The current corporate legal structure could be maintained and still achieve the governance goals and 

objectives set out in this report. Some changes could be considered to clarify or specifically allow the 

creation of investment reserves or recovery of accumulated deficits, for example, but most 

recommendations in this report could be achieved through Board resolution, management strategy or 

with amendments to the Members’ Agreement.  

Advantages:  

a. Allows continued authority for the Board and management to develop and implement a strategy 

aligned with E-Comm’s vision and stakeholder objectives. 

b. Permits surplus revenues to be retained as reserves for future infrastructure investments. 

c. Permits the raising of financing or debt beyond the existing members. 

 

Implications: 

a. Pressure may come from members to distribute surpluses or otherwise retain control over 

those funds rather than allowing E-Comm to build capital reserves internally. 

b. Changes to Members’ Agreements require two-thirds majority member approval. 

c. May not fully address the core governance issues without changes to the Board and delegations 

of authorities. 

6.3. Not-for-profit Society 

The creation of the current corporate structure for E-Comm anticipated several attributes of a not-for-

profit corporate structure (e.g., members without rights to assets or dividends, taxation relief, etc.). 

E-Comm could consider moving fully to a not-for-profit model to further simplify these requirements 

and eliminate any constraints placed by the current shareholder voting structure. This would move 

oversight and governance fully to the Board (on behalf of the government, members, and customers) 

and management. The termination of the existing corporation would require two-thirds majority 

approval of all members, as well as ministerial approval. 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

26 | P a g e  

 

Advantages:  

a. Provides full autonomy to the Board and management to develop and implement a strategy 

aligned with E-Comm’s vision, without government and member oversight. 

b. Permits surplus revenues to be retained as reserves for future infrastructure investments. 

c. May permit the raising of financing or debt. 

 

Implications: 

a. Eliminates the need for shareholders as well as their ability to directly influence E-Comm’s 

strategy (although the format and rights of shareholders would still need to be considered). 

b. Requires two-thirds majority shareholder approval and ministerial approval. 

c. Requires legislative amendment to the Emergency Communications Corporation Act. 

d. May not fully address the core governance issues without changes to the Board and 

delegations of authorities. 

e. Likely will require additional oversight from regional representation on the Board or other 

governance council. 

6.4. Statutory Authority 

The most relevant example of a region-wide statutory authority in BC is TransLink. Under this 

structure the Emergency Communications Corporation Act, or a similar new legislation, would provide 

E-Comm the authority to operate specified services within specified regions, and provide for the 

governance, levy model, and other operational needs.  

 Advantages:  

a. Provides some autonomy to the Board and management to develop and implement a strategy 

aligned with E-Comm’s vision but with government and regional/mayoral oversight. 

b. May permit surplus revenues to be retained as reserves for future infrastructure investments. 

c. May permit the raising of additional levies (e.g., cellphone), financing or debt. 

 

Implications: 

a. May require a provincial mandate for E-Comm as the primary PSAP or consider the authority 

of other PSAPs. 

b. Eliminates the need for members as well as their ability to directly influence E-Comm’s 

strategy. 

c. Requires ministerial approval, provincial engagement, and legislative change. 

d. May not fully address the core governance issues without changes to the Board and 

delegations of authorities. 

e. Likely will require additional oversight from regional representation on the Board or other 

governance council, such as a Mayoral Council above the Board. 

6.5. Crown Corporation 

Several stakeholders were advocating that E-Comm be moved into a Crown Corporation structure. 

Under this model the government would become the sole shareholder of E-Comm and provide the 

authority to operate specified services within specified regions, and provide for the governance, levy 

model, and other operational needs through specific legislation. As with other Crowns, E-Comm would 

likely report to the Crown Agencies Secretariat (CAS) in the Ministry of Finance and a core ministry, 

such as PSSG.   

 Advantages:  

a. Provides some autonomy to the Board and management to develop and implement a strategy 

aligned with E-Comm’s vision but with direct government accountability and oversight. 

b. May permit surplus revenues to be retained as reserves for future infrastructure investments. 

c. May permit the raising of additional levies (e.g., cellphone), financing or debt. 

 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

27 | P a g e  

 

Implications: 

a. Likely creates a provincial mandate for E-Comm as the main PSAP and removing the authority 

of other PSAPs. 

b. Will require E-Comm to adopt, resource and invest in key government mandates and policy 

direction (e.g., Indigenous reconciliation, climate change, rural telecommunications access, 

etc.). 

c. Will minimize the ability of users to directly influence E-Comm’s strategy. 

d. Requires ministerial approval, provincial engagement, and legislative change. 

e. Government will likely replace the Board, through the Crown Agencies and Board Resourcing 

Office, (CABRO) and will help define delegations of authorities. 

f. May require surpluses to be redirected to government revenues for other purposes. 

6.6. Shareholder Structure 

Members of E-Comm, under the terms and definitions of the Members’ Agreement, refers to the Class 

A and Class B members. The Class A members receive radio network services and, as such, are 

accorded voting and approval rights over significant strategic, investment or rate changes for those 

services, while Class B members have a future right to access the radio network but in the interim are 

appropriately not accorded the voting rights to approve changes to aspects of the radio services.  

One challenge this structure poses is that over time E-Comm has expanded its customer base, non-

radio business lines, and geographic coverage. This has resulted in a scenario where the rights of 

members (in particular, radio network members i.e. Class A members/shareholders) provide 

significant potential advantages over non-members (who contribute ~75% of E-Comm’s revenue) in 

determining the oversight, governance, funding allocations, and certain decisions and operations of 

the business. These provisions are defined within the Members’ Agreement – which was also identified 

in other sections of this report as having some outdated, unwieldy, or inequitable clauses. Similarly, 

the Class A members carry a disproportionate share of costs (and potentially deficits, debt and other 

financial risk). This inequity in the governance model was identified as an area of risk and concern by 

stakeholders interviewed and as such there is an opportunity to collapse and simplify the shareholder 

structure and the Members’ Agreement. 

A potential solution would be to consolidate the shareholders into one class with equal voting rights. 

The Emergency Communications Corporation Act and Members’ Agreement together provide the 

mechanisms and provisions for management to assign fair and transparent rates or levies to both 

radio network and non-radio customers – ultimately allowing management to move to a service 

contract structure where all users are charged a fair fee for the services they subscribe to. Moving to a 

model of ‘one member, one vote’ will provide stronger and more equitable corporate governance when 

it comes to selecting Board directors, approving significant changes to the membership model, or 

approving critical business decisions or changes.  

There will be some complexities in implementing this change, specifically: 

- amendments to the Articles and Members’ Agreement will need to be reviewed and agreed to by 

the current members/shareholders.7 

- the nature of these changes will likely require a 75% approval by the current Class A members 

and similarly a separate majority vote approval by Class B members. 

- ministerial approval will be required before the changes can be enacted. 

- Class B members would likely have to voluntarily relinquish their shares in return for the new 

Class A shares; and,  

- Members with multiple shares (e.g., for Police, Fire, Ambulance services) would have to voluntarily 

relinquish their shares in excess of the one enduring future share. 

 

7 Note: The Members’ Agreement (version 4) was last amended in 2021 (and 2010 prior to that) [we are on the 5th 

restatement which was updated in 2023 to add a 5th independent director.] 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

28 | P a g e  

 

There are certain consistent beliefs within management and the Board regarding specific limitations 

imposed on E-Comm by perceived restrictions in the Members’ Agreement. It appears that the basis 

for these management beliefs was often not present in the Members’ Agreement. There are sections of 

the Members’ Agreement where further clarity could be introduced with the above changes, as well as 

the provision of further interpretation, education, and support for management. 

6.7. Summary of Recommendations – Corporate Structure 

Based on the analysis above, all four of the potential legal structures would support the direction and 

vision of E-Comm into the future albeit with differing levels of governance effectiveness. This implies 

the structure is less of a factor in the future corporate governance model, while shareholder equity, 

strength of the Board, and stakeholder, especially user/customer, engagement mechanisms would be 

more critical factors. These can all be achieved through the current model with minimal change. The 

other three structural options do require significant legislative and corporate change, in some cases 

requiring considerable public and stakeholder consultation, as well as member and ministerial 

approval. This would come at considerable cost with minimal incremental benefits. As such, we would 

recommend the following: 

1. Maintain the current corporate legal structure. 

2. Review and amend the Members’ Agreement to address current inconsistencies or 

opportunities identified in this report (e.g., simplifying the shareholder voting structure; 

ensuring equity in approval and approval of decisions impacting all members; screening the 

nomination and approval of new Directors; facilitate the accumulation of capital reserves; 

etc.). 

3. Seek member and ministerial approval for the simplification of the share structure to a 

common shareholder model whereby all customers are considered equal members. 

Develop a guidance document (Frequently Asked Questions) to support management and the 

Board in their understanding and interpretation of what is possible vs. not permitted under the 

requirements of the Members’ Agreement. This should be updated as new questions and 

concerns are raised for clarification.  

7. Recommendations – Board Governance  

There are a few immediate to near-term recommendations that would improve the governance, 

oversight, and accountability of the Board. Changes to the Board size, nominating process and terms 

may require amendments to the Members’ Agreement and ministerial approval, while other changes 

are likely within the purview of the Board in its normal decision-making capabilities.  

7.1. Board Structure   

a) Board size. Section 4.1 of the Members’ Agreement and Section 12.1 of the Articles sets the 

Board size between 3 and 25 persons. Ideally the leading practice for board sizes for similar 

organizations is approximately 8-10 directors, including the Board Chair. With the appropriate 

skillsets and experience, this would facilitate effective discussion, debate and decision making.   

b) Board composition. The composition of the Board is set out in Section 4.2.6 of the Members’ 

Agreement and includes a requirement for five “Independent Directors” who have an interest 

or expertise in the Purpose or the Company Services to be provided by the Company. 

Otherwise, the members are entitled to designate the remaining directors as specifically 

provided for in the Members’ Agreement. This has resulted in the large unwieldy nature of the 

current Board. Any limits on Board size should also address the composition of independent 

directors versus government or member appointees. Although directors could all be 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

29 | P a g e  

 

independent, they would be required to represent the best interests of E-Comm and its 

stakeholders, including all members, under their common law fiduciary duties. 

c) Board term. Article 13.1 of the Articles requires that all directors retire at the Annual General 

Meeting and the Members will elect the new Board in accordance with the terms of the 

Members’ Agreement. This has inadvertently resulted in the annual turnover of many 

directors, limiting their ability to gain the knowledge and experience to provide strong 

oversight and accountability, as well as creating challenges for on-boarding education. Leading 

practice would suggest a term of 3-4 years, with the ability to stand for additional terms.  

d) Board nominations. Although the Board would use a subcommittee (e.g., Governance and 

Public Affairs Committee) to identify a pipeline of prospective directors and present them for 

member approval, E-Comm could consider creating a nominating or screening committee of 

members to facilitate the identification and appointment of suitable candidates and as a 

mechanism for member engagement. This is a practice employed by other organizations and 

government agencies (e.g., TransLink). This would require an amendment to the Members’ 

Agreement, it would require ministerial approval (under Section 4 of the Emergency 

Communications Corporation Act) as well as a simple majority resolution of members holding 

Class A shares to amend Section 14.3 of the Members’ Agreement. Alternatively, the Board 

could nominate its own director candidates, to be approved by a vote of the members.   

7.2. Board Operations 

a) Director experience. Effective governance requires that directors have professional board 

experience, knowledge of E-Comm’s operations and the technical skills required to oversee an 

organization of E-Comm’s complexity and importance. Ideally, a strong Board would be 

comprised of directors with diverse and complementary knowledge, experience, skills, and 

competencies to oversee strategy, provide strong risk and oversight on key decisions, and 

hold management accountable – while representing E-Comm’s interests taking account of the 

considerations of all stakeholders. These experience requirements could include areas such as 

prior large board experience, technical competencies (i.e., in the area of telecommunications 

and emergency communications services), relevant subject matter expertise (e.g., law, 

finance, information technology, human resources, etc.), as well as the communication and 

leadership experience to be able to mentor and oversee the CEO and the Executive team. 

While we understand that E-Comm’s Board uses a skills matrix and formally requests that the 

appointing entities consider these skills in their appointments, there is no obligation for the 

appointing entities to do so.  

b) Board committees. The expectations, fiduciary requirements and potential liabilities of a 

Board director have increased significantly in recent years. To manage the variety of demands 

involved in reviewing and approving management materials, capital requests, financial 

statements and disclosures, compensation, director nominations, policy changes, corporate 

and risk management strategies, and the many other critical roles of a director, the leading 

practice is to develop specific subcommittees of the Board to remove these significant roles 

from the whole Board agenda. It is not uncommon for other Board directors to attend these 

committee meetings, but this approach serves to effectively spread the effort and improve 

board diligence in a number of critical governance areas. Specifically, E-Comm’s Board could 

consider establishing/maintaining the following Board committees:8 

1. Governance & Public Affairs Committee 

2. Audit & Risk Committee 

3. People & Compensation Committee 

4. Finance & Capital Committee 

 

8 See Appendix B for more details on the potential purpose, term and membership of these proposed Committees.  



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review

30 | P a g e

5. Strategic Transformation Advisory Committee (temporary)

Each Committee would be comprised of 3-4 directors and have formal terms of reference. 

c) User/Customer Representation. The Members’ Agreement provides for User and Service

Committees for each of the agency groups (Police, Fire, Ambulance and Municipal) for radio

network users. These have been largely underutilized, forcing users/customers to influence

change and decisions directly through their Board appointees or through management.

Committees could be structured to represent all user/customer interests and, in accordance

with the intent of the Members’ Agreement, advise management on operational policy, the

delivery of all services and the requirements of the users of these services. These would form

a critical input and advisory role to the Board, perhaps with limited approval capabilities, and

have the responsibility to ensure regular and open communications with the Board and CEO.

d) Board Terms of Reference and Policies. Within the Board, each Committee should have a

written Charter or Terms of Reference that defines its responsibilities and qualifications for

membership. These do exist today for the current Committee structure, but there is an

opportunity to revisit and enhance these through the re-envisioning of the Board and its

Committees, as well as the strengthening of the User and Service Committees. The

Governance and Nominating Committee should review Committee charters to ensure

appropriate allocation of responsibilities, consultation and decision making. The Committees

should regularly review and assess the adequacy of their own charters to ensure that their

objectives, regulatory requirements, and best practices are clearly reflected within.

While a key step is to clarify the key evaluation, responsible and approval bodies for key

decisions, the process to effectively implement this lies in the formal Delegation of

Authority. This should define the quantitative (e.g., financial thresholds) and qualitative

(e.g., risk factors) relating to each key decision category, providing clear guidance to the

various levels of management as to what decisions they are empowered to make and what is

required to be escalated for approval or consultation. Currently management will bring

decisions to the Board for approval but there is limited formal guidance regarding the

monetary thresholds and risk factors that would require elevation of decisions to the Executive

and Board.

7.3.  Summary of Recommendations – Board Governance 

Based on the conclusions above, we recommend the following changes to the Board structure 

and governance. 

1. Set the Board size to a maximum of 10 directors including the Board Chair.

2. Require all directors to meet specified independence requirements. This may not require all

Directors to be fully independent (e.g., the provincial government may require continued

representation, or the Board and members may decide a representative of a region or service

is required to complete the skills matrix knowledge requirements)

3. Update the Articles for directors to serve on terms of 2-4 years, with the ability to be re-

elected for 1-2 subsequent terms.

4. Implement a structured director on-boarding and exit/transition program to improve individual

director knowledge, education and understanding of the operations of E-Comm.

5. Create a member nominating or screening committee to work with the Governance and Public

Affairs Committee to facilitate the identification, screening, and recommendation of director

candidates to the E-Comm Board for approval.

6. Use a skills matrix reflecting the diverse and complementary sets of knowledge, skills and

competencies required by Board directors to oversee the strategy, provide strong risk and

oversight to key decisions, and hold management accountable.



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

31 | P a g e  

 

7. Consider leveraging a professional Board recruiter and/or the BC government CABRO to 

identify potential Board candidates.  

8. E-Comm’s Board could consider establishing/maintaining the following Board and advisory 

committees: 

i. Governance, Public Affairs & Nominating Committee 

ii. Audit & Risk Committee 

iii. People & Compensation Committee 

iv. Finance & Capital Committee 

v. Strategic Transformation Advisory Committee (temporary)  

9. Refresh the User and Service Committees and redefine their Terms of Reference (within the 

requirements of the Members’ Agreement) to provide appropriate representation and input 

into key management and Board decisions. 

10. Revise or develop formal Terms of Reference for each resulting Board committee to clarify 

roles, accountabilities, and management oversight responsibilities. In addition, the User and 

Service Committees and other advisory committees should also each have clearly defined 

Terms of Reference.  

11. Revisit and clearly document the formal Delegation of Authorities for the Board down to the 

Executive and Management, including Management Committees.   

12. The Board should adopt the guiding principles identified at the outset of this report and ensure 

they are reflected throughout their operating structure and decision-making process.  

 

8. Recommendations – Stakeholder Engagement 

E-Comm has struggled to maintain credibility and trust with their user groups and stakeholders given 

recent failures to meet budget expectations and other expectations regarding communications, 

engagement, and service delivery. There is significant misalignment across the expectations of users, 

which further amplifies the perceived concerns. There are frustrations with management’s 

communications, and a general concern regarding the focus and effectiveness of management in 

moving from a reactive to proactive state. Beyond the core users and shareholders, there is also a gap 

in the general public’s understanding of what E-Comm does and how it fits into the emergency 

response landscape – despite various efforts to improve public awareness.  

From both a governance perspective and credibility perspective, E-Comm needs to continue to take a 

comprehensive approach to communications and engagement with key stakeholders to rebuild trust, 

strengthen the profile of the organization, and facilitate the level of support required to continue to 

evolve and mature the organization and the efficiency of its service delivery model. This needs to 

occur at several levels, as follows: 

- Public awareness; 

- Government relations; 

- Board and member communications; and 

- Customer relationship management. 
 

8.1. Public awareness 

The brand and even naming convention for E-Comm are not clearly understood by the general public. 

Despite increased communications, there is a need to increase public education and awareness around 

the role, structure, and responsibilities of E-Comm as a PSAP within the broader emergency response 

ecosystem, and how it interacts with other PSAPs and emergency response organizations. This could 

reinforce the success of E-Comm but also the challenges inherent in the system – strengthening  



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

32 | P a g e  

 

E-Comm’s brand and profile while seeking public support for the role and investment required. This 

will become more critical as the NG9-1-1 transformation unfolds. Ultimately the overall success of  

E-Comm is highly dependent on supportive taxpayers and ratepayers appreciating the performance of 

a well governed organization and endorsing the funding support from all levels of government.  

8.2. Government relations 

A critical aspect of managing stakeholder engagement and the overall governance of the emergency 

response system is continuing to meet or exceed the standards of service delivery expected of all 

participants. Similarly, it is critical for the operational and financial sustainability of E-Comm that all 

participants understand and agree on the service level metrics each is committing to. Beyond the 

initial call taking metrics, these are not formally defined across the system, but rather determined by 

each local government and emergency response entity. There is a role for the Provincial government 

to play in working with local governments to support E-Comm and the other PSAPs in defining 

minimum standards expected across the system for public safety. The User Committee, as defined in 

the current Members’ Agreement, would ordinarily be responsible for interpreting these standards and 

performance measures specifically for E-Comm across the designated services. Currently this 

Committee is underutilized and only has the mandate for radio services, requiring some evolution to 

support a stronger user/customer engagement model for service governance.  

8.3. Chair and CEO roles 

The Board Chair and CEO play a key role in maintaining strong relationships and communications with 

the various members, provincial and local government organizations, and other stakeholders. Beyond 

the effort required to educate and inform governments of the importance of policy directives and 

mandates such as common industry service metrics or funds and grants, there is a need to ensure 

strong ongoing alignment as part of the governance framework. They also both play a significant role 

in communications and relationship management with the members. One key consideration is the fact 

that the current Board Chair’s term will end in the next year, creating the need for a strong transition 

throughout the implementation of the recommendations adopted in this report. The succession plan 

for the Chair and eventually the CEO at some point will be key considerations for the members and 

the incoming Board. The terms of the Chair and CEO are also considerations in any review of the 

Members’ Agreement. 

8.4. Board and Shareholder Communications 

Board presentations should be transparent about risks or challenges. Resolving the size, structure and 

independence of the Board and its Committees will help the governance and oversight process 

significantly. Management reporting should be balanced and focused on what the Board needs to 

know, versus what management wants to share. Board meetings and materials should be structured 

to provide and allow for sufficient focused discussion on key challenges, metrics, and solutions – 

allowing early visibility and input to key risks and potential strategic initiatives well before formal 

approval is required. A strong Delegation of Authority framework, as described in the prior section, will 

also ensure the right decisions are being escalated to the right levels with the right supporting 

information. 

8.5. Customer relationship management 

There is a need for clarity, transparency, and consistency in communications to external stakeholders. 

In many instances users are forced to circumvent typical account management protocols and instead 

work directly with the Executive team or through their appointed Board director, creating significant 

inefficiency, governance and prioritization issues. The lack of a proactive customer relationship 

process and resource model is creating inefficiencies and credibility issues for E-Comm leadership. 

Communications with users relating to operating, billing or specific program concerns should be 

addressed by the appropriate members of management, ideally through some form of dedicated 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

33 | P a g e  

 

account manager focused on anticipating the needs and concerns of key users, with unfettered access 

to senior executives as well as the operational and financial data required to resolve issues or present 

solutions. 

Performance reporting and financial billings should also be clear, concise, and transparent, supported 

by relevant statistics and other relevant information related to contractual service delivery metrics and 

budget/funding expectations. This likely requires further investment in data analytics and business 

intelligence reporting capabilities. 

8.6. Summary of Recommendations – Stakeholder Engagement 

We recommend E-Comm consider implementing the following recommendations to improve the 

governance, oversight and communications with key stakeholders, including its members: 

1. Leverage the User and Service Committees to not only provide appropriate representation and 

input into key management and Board decisions on behalf of users, but also support change 

management and communications back to these organizations around key initiatives.  

2. There is a need to increase public education and awareness around the role, structure, and 

responsibilities of E-Comm as a PSAP within the broader emergency response ecosystem. 

3. There is an opportunity for E-Comm to work with the provincial government to clarify service 

delivery expectations for all PSAPs and stakeholders across the emergency communications 

landscape in BC. 

4. Board agendas, materials and presentations should be concise and transparent about risks or 

challenges. Board meetings and materials should be structured to provide and allow for 

sufficient focused discussion on key challenges, metrics, and solutions – allowing early 

visibility and input to key risks and potential strategic initiatives well before formal approval is 

required.  

5. Ensure a clear succession plan for the Chair and CEO are in place and communicated to all 

members. 

6. Communications with users relating to operational, billing, or specific program concerns should 

be addressed by the appropriate members of management. Consider an account manager 

focused on anticipating the needs and concerns of key users, with access to senior executives 

as well as the operational and financial data required to resolve issues or present solutions. 

7. Performance reporting and financial billings to users should be clear, concise, and transparent, 

supported by relevant statistics and other relevant information related to contractual service 

delivery metrics and budget/funding expectations.  

 

9. Recommendations – Funding Model 

An area of significant concern for both management and external stakeholders is the financial 

management and sustainability of E-Comm. A number of key concerns were raised regarding the 

transparency, reliability and predictability of financial information provided to them. Following our 

overall governance guiding principles, there is a need for stronger accountability, transparency, 

fairness and defensibility in the calculation and allocation of cost recoveries. The overall scalability and 

sustainability are in question, particularly regarding the ability to identify new capital sources as well 

as moving from a net deficit to net surplus position. 

 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

34 | P a g e  

 

The key future state governance and funding model recommendations fall into the same three primary 

categories as our observations of current state challenges: 

1. Long-term capital investment planning 

2. Operational costing and forecasting  

3. Pricing model 

9.1. Long-Term Capital Investment Planning 

Stakeholders recognize the fact that significant investments are required to support the 

transformation to a stable operating model, to generate efficiencies and economies of scale, and to 

implement NG9-1-1 technologies. However, there is currently a lack of clarity as to how future capital 

requirements will be funded and how much will be required. As such, there is a strong need for a more 

transparent, longer-term capital investment planning model. 

E-Comm needs to clearly define and cost each service’s infrastructure requirements for the short, 

medium and long term (both capital and ongoing operating costs as a result of the capital spend). This 

information should be populated into a long-term infrastructure planning model. Key to the success of 

this model is achieving clarity on how each capital project is funded and the impact on customers. 

a) Funding sources 

A systematic approach should be developed to identify new funding sources to offset these capital 

investment expenditures, including maximizing revenue from existing sources (within the expectations 

of users). This includes, but is not limited to the following sources: 

Within E-Comm’s direct control: 

Borrowing Section 8 of the ECC Act provides that E-Comm may borrow money required for (a) 
capital purposes related to the purposes of the corporation and (b) to meet its 
current operating expenses before its revenue, from all sources, to pay for those 

expenses has been received. 

The Articles outline E-Comm’s ability to borrow: E-Comm’s Directors may “borrow 
money in such manner and amount, on such security, from such sources and upon 

such terms and conditions as they think fit” (Schedule A to the Members’ 
Agreement at Part 8). Borrowings in excess of that set out in an Authorized 
Operating Budget or an Authorized Capital Budget require approval by a vote of not 
less than two-thirds of the votes cast by Members holding Class A Shares per 
section 2.5.4 of the Members’ Agreement.  

In 1998, E-Comm entered into an agreement with the Municipal Finance Authority 
of British Columbia (MFA) to borrow up to a maximum of $170M.  As of December 

31, 2023, E-Comm’s total long-term debt was $13.6M (down from $22.1M in 2022 
and $34.4M in 2021).   

E-Comm should review and confirm the feasibility, value-for-money and 
sustainability of increasing its long-term borrowing – be it with MFA or other 

lenders – specifically for the purpose of infrastructure investment. 

Debentures 

and Bonds 

The Articles permits E-Comm’s Directors to “issue bonds, debentures and other 

debt obligations either outright or as security for any liability or obligation of the 
company or any other person” (Schedule A to the Members’ Agreement at Part 8).  
Issuing debentures or bonds could be a relatively inexpensive, efficient, and direct 
means of securing funding for specific capital projects. 

Though borrowing from the MFA would likely present a cheaper financing option, 
E-Comm does have the fallback option of issuing debentures or bonds as a 

potential additional or alternative source of funding for specific and time-bound 
infrastructure projects.   



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

35 | P a g e  

 

Grants E-Comm should implement a business case development function / mechanism / 
process to secure grant or other sources of funding for specific capital projects. 

All funding (capital and operational) received from customers stems from municipal taxpayers. Under 

the current corporate structure, E-Comm has no control over taxes or other levies placed on taxpayers 

by the provincial or local governments. E-Comm’s customers utilize public funds to pay for the 

services, primarily through a call-answer levy (CAL) on landline phones and property taxes. 

To review and enhance the approach to raising taxes and levies to fund emergency communications in 

BC, E-Comm should develop a coordinated approach with the relevant key stakeholders, including the 

Provincial Government, Regional Districts and Municipalities. The complexity of negotiating many 

service contracts with local governments and the inability of E-Comm to influence telecommunications 

provider negotiations with local governments (i.e., in the case of NG9-1-1 funding) does create 

significant overhead and time commitment for E-Comm. One of the UBCM recommendations in their 

special resolution was to consolidate contractual negotiations into a single payor model whereby the 

Provincial government would take the lead in these contractual negotiations insulating E-Comm from 

this complexity and the many payment streams. There is certainly merit to E-Comm in having this 

single payment customer model and the reduced governance and management complexities it would 

provide. There would still need to be a strong stakeholder engagement model, likely encompassing 

Provincial government personnel, to ensure the users continue to receive the quality of service they 

are paying for.  

E-Comm’s long-term infrastructure planning model should include detailed and costed-out funding 

scenarios to be used to illustrate the financial benefits of an enhanced funding approach over time 

versus the current reactive status quo. 

Potential funding sources of this nature include the following: 

Beyond E-Comm’s direct control: 

Landline 

Levies 

Landline levies are not currently mandatory in BC. In addition, due to the 

decreasing proportion of households with landlines (52.4% in BC in 20199) and 

an inconsistent approach to utilizing landlines across BC’s jurisdictions, they 

would not be a substantial and sustainable source of funding in the medium-to-
long term. In general, call answer levies are mandated by the Provincial 
government, collected and administered by the telecommunications providers, 
and distributed through a funding entity to local governments who have agreed 
to participate in this program to spend at their discretion on relevant call answer 
and dispatch services. As such, and also considering that not all municipalities 
choose to fund their call answer services through this source, there is limited 

control by E-Comm over this form of funding.  

Property 
Taxes 

Property taxes are the other primary source of funding used by BC local 
governments to raise funds for emergency communications, often in lieu of call 
answer levies.  However, the approach and tax rates are inconsistent from 

municipality to municipality. 

Cellular Phone 
Levies 

Cell phone levies to fund emergency communications do not currently exist in 
BC. E-Comm could advocate for the implementation of a province-wide cell 
phone levy as a potential new revenue source, although similar to a landline call 
answer levy (CAL), these revenues would likely have to be collected into a 
specific dedicated fund and distributed to municipalities to support their costs of 
providing or sourcing PSAP and emergency services at the specific request of the 

municipality.   

 

9 https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/210122/t002b-eng.htm  

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/210122/t002b-eng.htm


E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

36 | P a g e  

 

Over 92.9% of BC households have at least one cellular telephone10.  A universal 

cell phone levy could ultimately be more equitable than the existing levies and 
taxes. Initially, a cell-phone levy could eventually replace a number of other 
taxes and levies over time. 

This will require a coordinated approach between the Province, municipalities and 

telecommunications providers (which we expect will receive significant pushback 
without a compelling business case).  

Assuming support for this model, cell phone levy funding potential could be11: 

 Monthly fee range across Canadian Provinces $0.43-$1.95 
 Average monthly fee    $0.96 

 BC population12     5.58M 

 Proportion of population with cell-phone 84%13 

 Estimated total cell phones in BC  4.69M 

Based on an average monthly fee the total annual gross revenue (before any 
applicable administration or other fees) could be over $54M. 

 

b) Capital reserves 

One of the key challenges identified as part of this review is the inability of E-Comm to effectively 

carry forward capital reserves to facilitate both the balancing of levies charged to users as well as 

better matching funding sources to expenditures. Ideally E-Comm would create capital investment 

funds/reserves to enhance transparency, reportability and more efficient and effective management of 

capital funds.  

The capital budget is authorized by the Board. The board is responsible for determining and approving 

“all long-term capital requirements of the Company” per s. 4.10.6 of the Members’ Agreement and the 

board will approve “a proposed annual capital budget for such fiscal year which will provide for all 

capital expenditures to be made for the Company for that year and any long-term capital plans or 

proposed capital expenditures for any subsequent years” per s. 7.4 of the Members’ Agreement. 

Section 4.7 of Schedule C of the Members’ Agreement sets out: “No costs are carried forward for 

future allocation, nor is a Latecomer Agency charged any costs beyond their current-year cost share”, 

with the exception of: set up costs; discrepancies within a year; and working capital funds retained by 

E-Comm. The latter could be considered a reserve but does not likely meet the requirements for 

ongoing capital expenditures as it is specifically referring to working capital. 

To amend Schedule C to allocate capital or other costs not already covered in this schedule or 

otherwise create capital reserves, approval by a simple majority resolution of Members holding Class A 

shares to amend the Members’ Agreement will be required. This should be strongly considered once a 

realistic, predictable capital investment planning model has been created. 

c) Investment monitoring and reporting 

A capital investment cost allocation approach should be developed (i.e., the capital funding gap after 

taking into account all other funding sources) based on each service type’s infrastructure 

requirements. This provides the basis for transparent reporting and ongoing investment monitoring.  

Dashboard reporting capabilities should be developed to enhance the transparency and manageability 

of capital investments. These should be reported regularly to the Board and funders (including 

customers) particularly regarding: 

 

10 https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/210122/t002b-eng.htm  
11 Monthly fees per Province obtained from https://www.telus.com/en/support/article/enhanced-911-e911 
12 https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/data/statistics/people-population-community/population/quarterly_population_highlights.pdf  
13 https://www.statcan.gc.ca/o1/en/plus/3582-so-long-landline-hello-smartphone  

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/210122/t002b-eng.htm
https://www.telus.com/en/support/article/enhanced-911-e911
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/data/statistics/people-population-community/population/quarterly_population_highlights.pdf
https://www.statcan.gc.ca/o1/en/plus/3582-so-long-landline-hello-smartphone


E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

37 | P a g e  

 

- Infrastructure requirements. 

- Progress against the infrastructure investment plan. 

- Capital spends and movements in the capital investment funds / reserves. 

- New and amended sources of funding, including the impact on capital cost allocation to 

customers. 

 

9.2. Operational Costing and Forecasting 

There is a concern amongst the key stakeholders that E-Comm has historically not understood the 

true costs of delivering, maintaining, and upgrading the business, while taking on new customers over 

time (not always by choice and often adding to the structural deficit). In addition, users cited a 

significant frustration regarding the lack of transparency and understanding of the cost components of 

their invoices. 

E-Comm needs to re-baseline the allocation of direct and shared operational costs across all services.  

Allocations should be based on service type and informed by other key metrics and reviewed and 

updated on at least an annual basis. The cost allocation should be aligned with the minimum 

standards (refer to Section 5 ‘Corporate Structure’), which, in enabling E-Comm to adopt more 

standardized service offerings, should allow for more standardized costs. The Members’ Agreement 

states that costs should be reviewed on at least an annual basis and there is no restriction preventing 

E-Comm from reviewing and updating this corporate overhead ratio (or indeed a different method of 

allocation the costs) on at least an annual basis. However, this does require a stronger understanding 

of cost drivers and investment needs than exists today. 

Any changes to current operational and capital cost allocation models beyond this, however, will 

require amendments to – or replacement of – Schedule C of the Members’ Agreement, which requires 

approval by a simple majority resolution of Class A Members (s. 14.3 of the Members’ Agreement).  

The cost allocation model currently outlined in Schedule C applies only to radio users. 

There is also a need to develop a transparent, scalable mechanism to allocate corporate overhead 

costs across all services. This mechanism should be fair and equitable for all; based on key metrics 

(e.g., population, call volume, incident volume, call handle time, etc.); embedded into all service 

contracts; and revisited annually to reflect changes in key underlying metrics/cost drivers. 

From an operational financial planning and reporting perspective, there is a need to develop enhanced 

budgeting and forecasting processes and to implement software solutions to automate the collection, 

allocation and prioritization of budgets.  E-Comm should develop a rolling, scalable and reportable 

financial forecast for a 5+ year timeframe, including consideration of changes in customer volume, 

customer service needs and future transformations. This should be supported by dashboard reporting 

capabilities to enhance budget and forecast transparency, manageability, monitoring, and 

enforcement. These should be regularly reported to the Board and customers relating to costs, 

forecasts, and movement in reserves. 

 

9.3. Pricing Model 

The stakeholder interviews identified a commonly held perception that E-Comm is not fairly pricing its 

services and is seen to be creating additional costs and service delivery risks for existing customers, 

while creating a strong sense of inequity in treatment. There is a strong desire across all stakeholders 

for a transparent, predictable, and equitable pricing structure – which is highly dependent on the 

strong capital investment planning, funding and operational forecasting programs described above. 

E-Comm should develop a new, transparent, predictable, and equitable service delivery pricing model, 

with standardized pricing options.  The model should be informed by the re-baselining of costs; 

operating forecasts; long-term capital investment requirements; and incorporate all known and 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

38 | P a g e  

 

expected funding sources (e.g., call levies, property taxes, government grants, borrowing, 

debentures, bonds, or other sources etc.). 

The current pure cost recovery model should be enhanced to reflect more of a ‘cost + mark-up’ 

approach, which will enable enhanced predictability, customization, and defensibility. Changes will be 

required to Schedule C of the Members’ Agreement, including amending the current cost recovery 

model for radio services to allow for a ‘cost + mark-up’ approach.  Amending Schedule C requires 

approval by a simple majority resolution of Class A Members (s. 14.3 of the Members’ Agreement). In 

addition, though Schedule C of the Members’ Agreement applies only to radio services, a cost recovery 

approach is also currently applied by E-Comm for other service agreements (e.g., “Dispatch” service 

i.e. certain non-radio services).  Therefore, changes will also need to be implemented for other service 

agreements to allow for a standardized ‘cost + mark-up’ approach for all services. 

From a communication and reporting perspective, the pricing model should provide for full 

transparency of key cost components (operational, overheads and capital investment). The mark-up 

calculation should also be transparent and consistent for all customers, with any surplus’ restricted to 

approved levels and directed to a multi-year capital investment fund.  

A rebalancing of the cost allocations will likely result in customers who have previously benefited from 

the existing pricing model experiencing cost increases; conversely, costs will likely reduce for 

customers who have historically paid higher allocations. E-Comm will need to develop a change 

management plan to implement the transition to the new pricing model.  

9.4. Summary of Recommendations – Funding Model 

We recommend E-Comm consider implementing the following capital investment planning, 

operational forecasting and budgeting, and pricing model recommendations as a component 

of the materials supporting any shareholder resolutions or Special General Meetings relating to the 

implementation of any adopted governance changes as outlined in this report: 

Long-Term Capital Investment Planning: 

1. Clearly define and cost each service’s infrastructure requirements for the short-, medium- and 

long-term. 

2. Develop an equitable and firm long-term infrastructure investment planning model, which 

takes into consideration all funding sources.  Key to the model is achieving clarity on 

determining how each capital project is funded, and the impact on customers. 

3. Develop a systematic approach to identify and secure new funding sources, as well as 

maximizing the revenue received from existing sources. 

4. Implement a business case development function / mechanism / process to secure other 

sources of grant or other funding for specific capital projects. 

5. Continue to work with local governments to lobby the Provincial government regarding the 

possibility of a wireless call answer levy to support local government PSAP costs. 

6. Develop a capital investment cost allocation approach based on each service type’s 

infrastructure requirements. This should provide the basis for transparent reporting and 

ongoing investment monitoring.  

7. Consider seeking member approval to amend the Members’ Agreement to create reasonable 

capital reserves to balance funding requests. This should be a consideration once a realistic, 

predictable capital investment planning model has been created. 

8. Develop capital investment dashboard reporting capabilities to enhance the transparency and 

manageability of capital investments. These should be reported regularly to the Board and 

funders (including customers). 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

39 | P a g e  

 

Operational Costing and Forecasting: 

9. Consider re-baselining the allocation of direct and shared operational costs across all services.  

Allocations should be based on service type and informed by other key metrics and reviewed 

and updated on at least an annual basis.  

10. Develop a transparent, scalable mechanism to allocate corporate overhead costs across all 

services. This mechanism should be fair and equitable for all; based on key metrics (e.g., 

population, call volume, incident volume, call handle time, etc.); embedded into all service 

contracts; and revisited annually to reflect changes in key underlying metrics/cost drivers. 

11. Develop enhanced budgeting and forecasting processes and implement software solutions to 

automate the collection, allocation, and prioritization of budgets.  As part of this, E-Comm 

should develop a rolling, scalable and reportable financial forecast for a 5+ year timeframe, 

including consideration of changes in customer volume, customer service needs and future 

transformations. 

12. Develop dashboard reporting capabilities to enhance budget and forecast transparency, 

manageability, monitoring and enforcement.  Regularly report to the Board and 

users/customers on costs, forecast, and movement in reserves. 

Pricing Model: 

13. Develop a new, transparent, predictable and equitable service delivery pricing model, with 

standardized pricing options. Ideally, this should be implemented for all contract renewals 

beyond 2025. 

14. The current pure cost recovery model should be enhanced to reflect more of a ‘cost + mark-

up’ approach (while staying within the requirements of the Members’ Agreement). 

15. Develop a change management plan to implement the transition to the new pricing model. 

 

10. Overall Conclusions 

E-Comm’s operating paradigm has changed dramatically since it was conceived. The increased 

number of stakeholders, rapid pace of technological change, pressure to meet diverse user and public 

expectations, the ability to find and retain strong talent, and to achieve all of this on a minimal 

budget, has left E-Comm in a position of financial and technological deficit and with a credibility gap 

with its stakeholders including its members. While some aspects of the organization have evolved and 

scaled with this growth trajectory, E-Comm’s governance framework has remained somewhat 

stagnant and is constantly challenged to provide effective oversight and accountability.  

However, despite these concerns, E-Comm continues to meet and exceed its core 9-1-1 call answer 

performance metrics and remains well placed to continue to be the cornerstone of the emergency 

response system for BC into the future. Several critical changes need to be made to E-Comm’s 

governance framework including in its stakeholder (including member and user/customer) 

engagement and its operational and financial oversight. While these changes may seem relatively 

intuitive, to-date, E-Comm has not fully implemented them due to management’s significant workload 

to maintain a high level of operational responsiveness and to implement the more critical 

infrastructure, technology, human resource, and operational transformations that are required. The 

success of this governance transformation will depend on creating a strong Board oversight 

mechanism while freeing up management by providing to them the appropriate support and resources 

to elevate them out of their current reactive mode.  



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

40 | P a g e  

 

Our key recommendations include the following (without consideration of dependencies and therefore 

not listed in the order of implementation timeline14). It should be noted that this will initially require 

extensive member communications and engagement in order to formulate and align around the 

specifics of the implementation plans, activities and timelines: 

1) Implement a new governance structure (including a streamlined Board).  

2) Refine the use of representative service governance bodies, such as User and Service Committees 

with member appointed representatives. The committees should have broadly understood Terms 

of Reference and serve to enhance user representation in the governance structure.  

3) Propose revisions to Board and Management Committees to support enhanced decision-making 

and oversight. 

4) Create a member Nominating or Screening Committee to identify and approve new Board director 

candidates. 

5) Enfranchise all users regardless of regional geography by making them shareholders (rather than 

the current state in which only radio users are Class A members). 

6) Seek Board, member, and ministerial approvals, as required, for proposed changes to the 

governance structure and Articles/Members’ Agreement. 

7) Refine the Board agenda, cycle, materials, procedures, and policies, including a formal Delegation 

of Authorities. 

8) Redesign the operating cost/budgeting model to provide greater equity and transparency while 

reducing the perception that the cost allocation process is not equitable. 

9) Develop a streamlined service delivery and pricing process to drive stronger economies of scale 

and efficiency in the governance, pricing, and service delivery processes.  

10) Develop investment funding and operating cost forecasting strategies to provide greater clarity of 

future costs and remove unexpected fluctuations from the pricing/funding models. 

Although E-Comm is only one organization in the provincial emergency response ecosystem, it is a 

prominent one. There is a significant risk to public safety if E-Comm does not address its current 

trajectory through this governance review. Time is of the essence in continuing to strengthen 

E-Comm’s governance and oversight.   

 

14 See Appendix D – Implementation Roadmap for a chronological implementation approach and timeline. 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

41 | P a g e  

 

APPENDIX A – SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE  

The following chart lists the 26 current Class A shareholders of E-Comm and number of Board seats:  

Shareholder Services Seats Nominating Body 

Abbotsford Fire 1 City of Abbotsford 

Abbotsford Police Board  Police 

1 
Independent Police Boards (Abbotsford, 
New Westminster, Port Moody, Transit 
Police, West Vancouver) 

New Westminster Police Board Police 

Transit Police Board Police 

BC Emergency Health Services  Ambulance 1 BC Emergency Health Services 

Burnaby Police 

2 
Cities of Burnaby, Coquitlam, 
New Westminster, Port Coquitlam,  

Port Moody, Belcarra  

Coquitlam 
Fire 

Police 

New Westminster Fire 

Port Coquitlam 
Fire 

Police 

Port Moody 
Fire 

Police 

Delta Fire 
1 City of Delta/Delta Police Board 

Delta Police Board Police 

Langley City Fire 

2 
Cities of Langley, Surrey and White Rock, 

Township of Langley 

Langley Township 
Fire 

Police 

Surrey 
Fire 

Police 

White Rock 
Fire 

Police 

Lions Bay Fire 

1 
City of North Vancouver, District of North 
Vancouver, District of West Vancouver, 

Village of Lions Bay 

North Vancouver City 
Fire 

Police 

North Vancouver District Fire 

West Vancouver 
Fire 

Police 

Maple Ridge 
Fire 

1 Cities of Maple Ridge and Pitt Meadows 
Police 

Pitt Meadows 
Fire 

Police 

Richmond 
Fire 

1 City of Richmond 
Police 

South Coast British Columbia 

Transportation Authority 

Municipal 

Services 
1 Metro Vancouver and TransLink 

Vancouver Fire 1 City of Vancouver 

Vancouver Police Board Police 1 Vancouver Police Board 

N/A N/A 1 
Capital Regional District & E-Comm’s 
Southern Vancouver Island police agency 
partners 

N/A N/A 1 RCMP 

N/A N/A 2 Provincial Government 

N/A N/A 5 Independent 

TOTAL 23  

 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

42 | P a g e  

 

 

The following chart lists the 16 current Class B shareholders of E-Comm:  

Shareholder Services 

Belcarra 

Municipal Services 

Fire 

Police 

Coquitlam Municipal Services 

Delta Municipal Services 

Langley Township Municipal Services 

Maple Ridge Municipal Services 

Metro Vancouver Municipal Services 

New Westminster Municipal Services 

North Vancouver City Municipal Services 

North Vancouver District Police 

Pitt Meadows Municipal Services 

Port Coquitlam Municipal Services 

Port Moody Municipal Services 

Richmond Municipal Services 

Surrey Municipal Services 

Vancouver Municipal Services 

West Vancouver Municipal Services 

  



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

43 | P a g e  

 

APPENDIX B – EXAMPLE BOARD COMMITTEES  

To effectively govern E-Comm, we have recommended a number of potential Board Committees. 

Some example Committees and mandates have been presented below to assist in the confirmation 

and development of the terms for these Committees. The following outlines the purpose, 

recommended duration, and membership of such Committees.  

 

A. Governance & Public Affairs Committee – The Governance & Public Affairs Committee 

exercises general oversight with respect to the governance of the Board of Directors. 

Duration – Standing Committee 

Purpose - The Governance & Public Affairs Committee is charged with the care and feeding of the 

board itself. The Committee would be responsible for board recruitment and nomination, 

orientation, board, and director self-assessment, continuing education, and board management. 

The Committee also hold accountability for policy development, how management and the board 

interact, and the board agenda. Amongst other responsibilities, this Committee would also oversee 

board self-assessment process, continuing education for board members, mentoring program for 

directors and adoption and enforcement of a conflict-of-interest policy and a code of conduct 

among the directors. 

Membership – As determined by the roster of individuals who are selected based on a skills matrix 

(ideally including governance and legal competency) for the defined term, to provide a wholesome 

skills representation on the board at any point in time.  

 

B. Audit & Risk Committee – The Audit & Risk Committee provides oversight of the financial 

statement disclosures, selection and interface with the external and internal auditor, and oversight 

of strategic risks and internal controls.  

Duration – Standing Committee 

Purpose – The Audit & Risk Committee assists the Board in its oversight of management’s 

responsibility to assure that there is an effective system of controls reasonably designed to 

safeguard E-Comm’s assets and income, assure the integrity of E-Comm’s financial statements, 

and maintain compliance with E-Comm’s ethical standards, policies, plans and procedures, and 

with laws and regulations. The Audit & Risk Committee may be charged with a wide range of 

responsibilities, such as oversight of operational and capital budget preparation and presentation 

process, monitoring integrity of financial reporting and accounting practices, reviewing financial 

and fiscal policies, practices and procedures and provide recommendations for stakeholder 

engagement strategies to obtain feedback on budgets and expenses. The Audit & Risk Committee 

also assists the Board in its oversight of management’s responsibility to implement an effective 

strategic risk management framework, as well as overseeing the performance of E-Comm’s 

External Audit selection and Internal Audit function, if at such time one is required.  

Membership - Members of the Audit & Risk Committee should be financially literate, and at least 

one (and preferably more) should be financial professionals. While there may be some overlap in 

membership with the Finance Committee, the chair of the Finance Committee and the treasurer 

should not be on the Audit Committee. Likewise, the chair of the board and the CEO should not be 

on the Audit & Risk Committee. These restrictions are intended to provide the committee with the 

independence it requires to operate effectively. 

 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

44 | P a g e  

 

C. People & Compensation Committee – The role of the People & Compensation Committee is to 

enhance the culture and experience in the organization so that E-Comm’s talent is engaged and 

empowered and that E-Comm is viewed as an employer of choice in the industry, as well as 

ensuring CEO and management compensation and incentive structures are appropriate.  

Duration – Standing Committee 

Purpose – The People & Compensation Committee would advise the Board on fulfilling its corporate 

governance responsibilities relating to all people and culture matters including the selection, 

appointment, and evaluation of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and their compensation. The 

Committee should have a culture mandate to co-create cultural and behavioral aspirations for 

leadership and the broader community that can guide and inform E-Comm’s interactions. The 

People & Compensation Committee would provide oversight of compensation policies, programs, 

and related plans. 

 

Membership – Constituted by a majority of independent board members, who are skilled in 

overseeing the people risks and related mitigations. These skills are considered adjacent to their 

understanding of the role and remit of E-Comm’s strategies, what talent support and culture of 

engagement is required for E-Comm to achieve those goals. 

 

D. Finance & Capital Committee – The role of the Finance & Capital Committee is to develop and 

advise on E-Comm’s operational financial performance, forecasts and budgets and its capital 

funding requirements and related investments.  

Duration – Standing Committee 

Purpose – Provide oversight of operational and capital budget preparation and presentation 

process, reviewing financial and fiscal policies, practices and procedures and provide 

recommendations for stakeholder engagement strategies to obtain feedback on budgets and 

expenses. The Finance & Capital Committee’s responsibilities could also include oversight of a 

future looking capital adequacy model design, analysis, and recommendation to board for decision-

making on key capital projects. The Finance & Capital Committee would also review board policies 

regarding asset/liability management, capital adequacy, interest rate sensitivity, liquidity risk, and 

investments. The Finance & Capital Committee would recommend to the Board any necessary 

changes to such policies and oversee the effectiveness of the Company’s capital management 

processes.  The Finance & Capital Committee would also oversee the development of a capital 

investment program that can support E-Comm’s ability to meet its strategies. The Finance & Capital 

Committee would also review feasibility studies for capital project suggestions brought to the 

Committee, approve expansion plans, changes to capital budgets and schedules, including 

cancellation of projects where necessary and all other material investment opportunities. 

Membership – All members of Finance & Capital Committee should have experience with strategic 

investment requirements, heightened financial literacy and an acute sense of the industry, 

economy and levels of influence required from all stakeholders to implement the operational 

financial decisions and capital investment decisions, including a clear understanding of the role of 

the Province.  

 

E. Strategic Transformation Advisory Committee – A Strategic Transformation Advisory 

Committee (STAC) is created for a defined term, to focus on the time-sensitive and significant 

technology or organization transformation programs. In the context of E-Comm, this could oversee 

and coordinate the NG9-1-1 transformation program, for example. 

Duration – Defined Term 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

45 | P a g e  

 

Purpose – The Strategic Transformation Advisory Committee would oversee E-Comm’s governance, 

operational, technology, and other transformation initiatives which would typically include elements 

of customer relationship management, digital and infrastructure enablement, data management 

and analytics, and change management. This Committee could monitor and evaluate market and 

industry trends and opportunities for innovation, increase board awareness of the trends and 

constructively challenge E-Comm management’s transformation plans. Being an advisory 

Committee, it would guide the management in its transformation journey and in parallel, provide 

advice to the board. The board would ultimately approve transformational plans and budgets.  

Membership - STAC is a combination of board members, former board members, as well as subject 

matter experts with experience serving in an oversight role over organizations that have gone 

through significant transformation.  

  



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

46 | P a g e  

 

APPENDIX C – SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

There are a total of 38 key recommendations. They are organized by 4 categories:  

1) Corporate Structure 

2) Board Governance 

3) Stakeholder Engagement 

4) Funding Model 

 

1. Corporate Structure 

# Recommendation 

1.1 Maintain the current corporate legal structure. 

1.2 Review and amend the Members’ Agreement to address current inconsistencies or 

opportunities identified in this report (e.g., simplifying the shareholder voting structure; 
ensuring equity in approval and approval of decisions impacting all members; screening 
the nomination and approval of new Directors; facilitate the accumulation of capital 
reserves; etc.). 

1.3 Seek member and ministerial approval for the simplification of the share structure to a 
common shareholder model whereby all customers are considered equal shareholders and 
members. 

1.4 Develop a guidance document (Frequently Asked Questions) to support management and 
the Board in their understanding and interpretation of what is possible vs. not permitted 
under the requirements of the Members’ Agreement. This should be updated as new 
questions and concerns are raised for clarification 

 

2. Board Governance  

c Recommendation 

1.1 Set the Board size to a maximum of 10 directors including the Board Chair. 

1.2 Require all directors to meet specified independence requirements. This may not require all 
Directors to be fully independent (e.g., the provincial government may require continued 
representation, or the Board and members may decide a representative of a region or 
emergency service is required to complete the skills matrix knowledge requirements). 

1.3 Update the Articles to allow a term of 2-4 years, with the ability to be re-elected for 1-2 
subsequent terms. 

1.4 Implement a structured director on-boarding and exit/transition program to improve 
individual director knowledge, education and understanding of the operations of E-Comm.  

1.5 Create a member nominating or screening committee to facilitate the identification, 
screening, and recommendation and approval of director candidates to the E-Comm Board. 

1.6 Use a skills matrix reflecting the diverse and complementary sets of knowledge, skills and 
competencies required by Board directors to oversee the strategy, provide strong risk and 

oversight to key decisions, and hold management accountable. 

1.7 Consider leveraging a professional Board recruiter and/or the BC government CABRO to 
identify potential Board candidates.  

1.8 E-Comm’s Board could consider establishing/maintaining the following Board committees: 

1. Governance, Public Affairs & Nominating Committee 

2. Audit & Risk Committee 

3. People & Compensation Committee 

4. Finance Committee 

5. Strategic Transformation Advisory Committee (temporary)  



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

47 | P a g e  

 

1.9 Revisit the User and Service Committees and redefine their Terms of Reference (within the 
requirements of the Members’ Agreement) to provide appropriate representation and input 
into key management and Board decisions. 

1.10 Revise or develop formal Terms of Reference for each resulting Board committee to clarify 
roles, accountabilities, and management oversight responsibilities. In addition, the User 
and Service Committees and other advisory committees should also each have clearly 
defined Terms of Reference. 

1.11 Revisit and clearly document the formal Delegation of Authorities for the Board down to the 
Executive and Management, including Management Committees. 

1.12 The Board should adopt the guiding principles identified at the outset of this report and 
ensure they are reflected throughout their operating structure and decision-making 
process. 

 

3. Stakeholder Engagement 

# Recommendation 

3.1 Leverage the User and Service Committees to not only provide appropriate representation 
and input into key management and Board decisions on behalf of users/customers, but 
also support change management and communications back to these organizations around 
key initiatives for service governance. 

3.2 There is a need to increase public education and awareness around the role, structure, and 
responsibilities of E-Comm as a PSAP within the broader emergency response ecosystem. 

3.3 There is an opportunity for E-Comm to work with the provincial government to clarify 
service delivery expectations for all PSAPs and stakeholders across the emergency 
communications landscape in BC. 

3.4 Board agendas, materials and presentations should be concise and transparent about risks 

or challenges. Board meetings and materials should be structured to provide and allow for 
sufficient focused discussion on key challenges, metrics, and solutions – allowing early 
visibility and input to key risks and potential strategic initiatives well before formal 
approval is required.  

3.5 Ensure a clear succession plan for the Chair and CEO are in place and communicated to all 
members. 

3.6 Communications with users relating to operational, billing, or specific program concerns 
should be addressed by the appropriate members of management. Consider an account 
manager focused on anticipating the needs and concerns of key users, with access to 
senior executives as well as the operational and financial data required to resolve issues or 
present solutions 

3.7 Performance reporting and financial billings to users should be clear, concise, and 
transparent, supported by relevant statistics and other relevant information related to 
contractual service delivery metrics and budget/funding expectations.  

 

4. Funding Model  

Long-Term Capital Investment Planning 

# Recommendation 

4.1 Clearly define and cost each service’s infrastructure requirements for the short-, medium- 
and long-term. 

4.2 Develop an equitable and firm long-term infrastructure investment planning model which 
takes into consideration all funding sources.  Key to the model is achieving clarity on 
determining how each capital project is funded, and the impact on customers. 



E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review   

48 | P a g e  

 

4.3 Develop a systematic approach to identify and secure new funding sources, as well as 
maximizing the revenue received from existing sources. 

4.4 Implement a business case development function / mechanism / process to secure other 
sources of grant or other funding for specific capital projects. 

4.5 Continue to work with local governments to lobby the provincial government regarding the 
possibility of a cell phone call answer levy to support local government PSAP costs. 

4.6 Develop a capital investment cost allocation approach based on each service type’s 
infrastructure requirements. This should provide the basis for transparent reporting and 

ongoing investment monitoring.  

4.7 Consider seeking member approval to amend the Members’ Agreement to create 
reasonable capital reserves to balance funding requests. This should be a consideration 
once a realistic, predictable capital investment planning model has been created. 

4.8 Develop capital investment dashboard reporting capabilities to enhance the transparency 

and management of capital investments. These should be reported regularly to the Board 

and funders (including customers). 

 

Operational Costing and Forecasting  

# Recommendation 

4.9 Consider re-baselining the allocation of direct and shared operational costs across all 
services.  Allocations should be based on service type and informed by other key metrics 
and reviewed and updated on at least an annual basis.  

4.10 Develop a transparent, scalable mechanism to allocate corporate overhead costs across all 
services. This mechanism should be fair and equitable for all; based on key metrics (e.g., 
population, call volume, incident volume, call handle time, etc.); embedded into all service 
contracts; and revisited annually to reflect changes in key underlying metrics/cost drivers. 

4.11 Develop enhanced budgeting and forecasting processes and implement software solutions 
to automate the collection, allocation, and prioritization of budgets.  As part of this,         
E-Comm should develop a rolling, scalable and reportable financial forecast for a 5+ year 

timeframe, including consideration of changes in customer volume, customer service needs 
and future transformations. 

4.12 Develop dashboard reporting capabilities to enhance budget and forecast transparency, 
manageability, monitoring and enforcement. transparency and manageability. Regularly 
report to the Board and customers on costs, forecast, and movement in reserves 

 

Pricing Model 

# Recommendation 

4.13 Develop a new, transparent, predictable, and equitable service delivery pricing model, with 

standardized pricing options. Ideally, this should be implemented for all contract renewals 

beyond 2025. 

4.14 The current pure cost recovery model should be enhanced to reflect more of a ‘cost + 
mark-up’ approach (while staying within the requirements of the Members’ Agreement). 

4.15 Develop a change management plan to implement the transition to the new pricing model. 



DRAFT - E-Comm 9-1-1 – Governance Model Review | Private and Confidential  

  

49 | P a g e  

APPENDIX D – IMPLEMENTATION ROADMAP  

The following outlines our proposed implementation roadmap. This provides a high-level overview of a logical approach to implementing the 

recommendations in our review, subject to the Board, Ministerial and Executive review and approval: 

 



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

E-Comm Governance Changes 
 

SHAREHOLDER ACTION GUIDE 
For E-Comm’s Local Government and Agency Shareholders 

 
Your organization’s guide to the next steps in reviewing and approving 
E-Comm’s proposed changes to its corporate and board structure and 

financial model 
 

July 4, 2024 
  



 

E-Comm Governance Changes – Shareholder Action Guide    1 
 

 

E-COMM GOVERNANCE CHANGES – SHAREHOLDER ACTION GUIDE: 
 
WHAT’S HAPPENING? 
 
E-Comm 9-1-1 is proposing 10 important governance changes to its corporate and board 
structure, as well as its financial model, to better meet the needs of its shareholders, as well as 
the local governments and public safety agencies that use its services. 
 
These changes need to be reviewed and eventually approved by each of our shareholders, 
including your local government or agency. 
 

WHO ARE E-COMM’S SHAREHOLDERS? 
 
E-Comm has 26 Class A and 16 Class B shareholders.  
 
Class A shareholders are the local government and agency users of E-Comm’s Lower Mainland 
radio system. Class B shareholders are local governments that have reserved their interest in 
joining one or more of their agencies onto E-Comm’s radio system in future. 
 
Shares are only allocated to users of the radio system and not to users of the other 9-1-1 and 
public safety call-taking services that E-Comm is better known for providing.  

 
WHY ARE CHANGES NEEDED? 
 
E-Comm has grown rapidly since it was formed 25 years ago. It began as a regional emergency 
communications service provider, to operate a radio network for police, fire and ambulance in 
the Lower Mainland, and to provide 9-1-1 and public safety call-taking services.  
 
Today, it serves local governments and public safety agencies across B.C., yet its corporate 
and board structure, and funding model, have not changed to keep pace. 

 
WHAT’S WRONG? 
 
E-Comm’s structure presents many challenges for our shareholders, and the local governments 
and agencies who use our call-taking services (we refer to clients as our “partners”): 
 

 A board that is too big and doesn’t have the specific traits needed to meet the demand 
for corporate oversight and accountability; 

 Potential for director conflicts across different service areas; 
 Inequitable representation and lack of opportunities for input from partners who use 

E- Comm services; 
 Service delivery challenges, resulting from deficiencies in E-Comm’s operational and 

financial models; and 
 Increased financial risk for E-Comm’s shareholders. 



 

E-Comm Governance Changes – Shareholder Action Guide    2 
 

 

 

WHAT ARE THE CHANGES? 
 
An independent governance review, conducted by Deloitte, consulted with 80 different E-Comm 
stakeholders and representatives from all of its shareholder organizations, including yours. 
 
The review identified 10 key changes to strengthen E-Comm’s governance and financial model. 
 
Corporate structure and board governance: 
 

1) Implement a new governance structure (including a streamlined Board).  
2) Refine the use of representative service governance bodies, such as User and Service 

Committees with member-appointed representatives.  
3) Propose revisions to Board and Management Committees to support enhanced 

decision-making and oversight. 
4) Create a shareholder Nominating or Screening Committee to identify and approve new 

Board Director candidates. 
5) Enfranchise all users regardless of regional geography by making them shareholders 

(rather than the current state in which only radio users are Class A shareholders). 
6) Seek Board, member and ministerial approvals, as required, of proposed changes to the 

governance structure and articles/Members’ Agreement. 
7) Refine the Board agenda, cycle, materials, procedures, and policies, including a formal 

Delegation of Authorities. 
 
Financial governance: 
 

8) Redesign the operating cost/budgeting model to provide greater equity and transparency 
by changing the cost and capital allocation processes and pricing by type of service. 

9) Develop a streamlined service delivery and pricing process to drive stronger economies 
of scale and efficiency in the governance, pricing, and service delivery processes.  

10) Develop investment funding and operating cost forecasting strategies to provide greater 
clarity of future costs and remove unexpected fluctuations from the pricing/funding 
models. 

 

  



 

E-Comm Governance Changes – Shareholder Action Guide    3 
 

 

WHAT ARE THE KEY BENEFITS? 
 
E-Comm is improving public safety for British Columbians, by becoming a better partner 
and emergency communications services provider.  
 
We are doing this through: 
  

 Stronger governance and oversight of our operations; 
 Equitable representation for all our service-user partners; 
 Greater fairness and transparency in our pricing; 
 Reduced financial risk for our shareholders and local government taxpayers; 
 Better services for all. 

 
 

WHICH CHANGES REQUIRE SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL? 
 
The changes that require shareholder approval are primarily those involving E-Comm’s board 
and corporate structure. Some financial changes to E-Comm’s operating costs, budgeting and 
pricing may be made at the board level, while some may require shareholder approval. 
 

 
WHEN WILL THESE CHANGES HAPPEN? 
 
The proposed governance changes to E-Comm’s board and corporate structure will not be fully 
implemented until June 2025, after review and approval by shareholders. The changes to E-
Comm’s financial governance are still in development and the approach and timing of these 
changes will be communicated in the fall of 2024. 
 
This phased review and approval process will allow time for shareholders to evaluate and 
request additional information on the proposals, prior to providing approval in spring 2025. 
 

  



 

E-Comm Governance Changes – Shareholder Action Guide    4 
 

 

WHAT ARE THE APPROVAL STEPS FOR SHAREHOLDERS? 
 
Jul.-Aug. 
2024 

Phase 1) 
Review and 
preparation 

 Review proposed corporate structure and board 
governance changes and rationale. 

 Identify your shareholder representative to vote your 
organization’s share at upcoming meetings. 

 Determine your organization’s process to approve the 
proposed governance changes. 

 Advise E-Comm of any additional questions or information 
you require to support this decision. 
 

Fall 2024 Fall 
Shareholder 
Consultation 
Session 

 Provide feedback and advice on the direction of the 
proposed corporate structure and board governance 
changes. 

 Review the proposed approach for the financial governance 
changes. 

 E-Comm will then prepare the implementation measures 
needed to enact the corporate structure and board 
governance changes, for consideration by shareholders at 
the spring 2025 Special General Meeting (SGM).  
 

Oct. 2024 – 
Feb. 2025 

Phase 2) 
Approval of 
Changes 

 Review the implementation measures provided by E-Comm 
after the fall Shareholder Consultation Session, including 
proposed amendments to the “Members’ Agreement” and 
E-Comm Articles. 

 Review the proposed approach and timing of the financial 
governance changes. 

 Advise E-Comm of any additional questions or information 
you require to support this decision. 

 Complete internal approval of the measures. 
 

Spring 2025 Spring Special 
General 
Meeting (SGM) 

 Approve the implementation measures to enact the 
corporate structure and board governance changes. 

 Approve the implementation measures to enact the 
financial governance changes (if it is determined that 
shareholder approval is required).  

 E-Comm will then establish new service and user 
committees, board committees and a screening committee, 
to recommend the slate of directors to be presented to 
shareholders at the June 2025 AGM. 
 

Mar. – 
May 2025 

Phase 3) 
Implementation 

 Screening Committee will vet the slate of directors to be 
recommended for approval at the June 2025 AGM. 
 

June 2025 AGM  Approve directors to new E-Comm Board. 



 

E-Comm Governance Changes – Shareholder Action Guide    5 
 

 

WHAT DO SHAREHOLDERS NEED TO DO NOW? 
 
E-Comm’s fall “Shareholder Consultation Session” will provide an opportunity for shareholders 
to provide feedback and advice on the direction of the proposed corporate structure and board 
governance changes. In advance of that session, shareholder organizations need to: 
 

1) REVIEW PROPOSED GOVERNANCE CHANGES AND RATIONALE. 
 
The governance review report by Deloitte and other materials are available on the 
E- Comm website here: https://www.ecomm911.ca/transformation/governance/  
 

2) IDENTIFY YOUR SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE TO VOTE YOUR 
ORGANIZATION’S SHARE AT THE SPRING SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING. 
 
This shareholder representative is up to your organization to determine. This individual 
could be one of your organization’s representatives on the E-Comm Board of Directors, 
which would be ideal given their familiarity with the governance review 
recommendations. Or it can be someone else entirely.   
 

3) DETERMINE YOUR ORGANIZATION’S PROCESS TO APPROVE THE PROPOSED 
GOVERNANCE CHANGES.  
 
This approval process is up to your organization to determine. For some, it may be a 
decision of the city manager or agency chief, in consultation with legal staff, for the 
information of the council. For others, it may be a decision of the council or board.  
 
E-Comm recommends that your organization consider forming a small team, including 
your E-Comm board director appointee and a legal staff representative, to review the 
changes, and recommend an approval approach. 
 
E-Comm assesses that the feedback from our shareholders on the direction of the 
governance changes to be provided at the fall Shareholder Consultation Session does 
not constitute a commitment to implement the governance changes, and so does not 
require council or board approval. However, this is up to your organization to decide. 
 

4) ADVISE E-COMM OF ANY ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS OR INFORMATION YOU 
REQUIRE TO SUPPORT THIS DECISION. 
 
Our E-Comm team is here to assist, as is your E-Comm board representative. We would 
be pleased to provide briefings or any information requested to assist your review. 
 

NEXT STEPS 
 
E-Comm will be in contact to follow up with your organization on the actions above. For more 
information contact E-Comm Public Affairs: governance.communications@ecomm911.ca.    

  



 

E-Comm Governance Changes – Shareholder Action Guide    6 
 

 

APPENDIX – KEY MESSAGES: 
 
E-Comm is improving public safety for British Columbians, by becoming a better partner 
and emergency communications services provider. 
 

 STRONGER GOVERNANCE AND OVERSIGHT OF E-COMM’S OPERATIONS. 
 
E-Comm’s existing stakeholder-representative board structure creates the potential for 
director conflicts across different service lines. It results in high turnover of directors, 
inconsistencies in appointment processes, and gaps in the skills needed to provide 
effective oversight in key areas such as operations, technology, financial management 
and people and culture. 

 
 EQUITABLE REPRESENTATION FOR ALL USERS OF E-COMM’S SERVICES.  

 
Under the current corporate structure, only the users of E-Comm’s Lower Mainland radio 
system are shareholders. This leaves the many other users of E-Comm’s 9-1-1 and 
public safety call-taking services without any direct representation or input. 
 

 GREATER FAIRNESS AND TRANSPARENCY IN E-COMM’S PRICING. 
 
E-Comm’ operating and funding model hasn’t kept pace with growth. A new pricing 
model, to be developed, will ensure greater fairness and transparency in how costs and 
investments are shared. 
 

 REDUCED FINANCIAL RISK FOR SHAREHOLDERS AND THEIR LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT TAXPAYERS.  
 
An improved, more transparent operating and funding model will help to reduce financial 
risk for E-Comm’s shareholders and their local government taxpayers. 
 

 BETTER, MORE SUSTAINABLE, EFFECTIVELY-GOVERNED SERVICES FOR ALL.  
 
With the improved board and corporate structure and financial model, the ultimate result 
will be better, stronger, more effectively-governed emergency communications services 
for all British Columbians. 

 
 
  



 

E-Comm Governance Changes – Shareholder Action Guide    7 
 

 

APPENDIX – FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS: 
 
1) Board and corporate structure 
 
What are the problems with the current board structure? 
 
The board is large and unwieldy, with high-turnover and a very small number of independent 
directors, resulting in lack of consistency in tenure, and gaps in the traits needed to provide 
effective oversight in key areas including technology, legal and governance, financial 
management and people and culture. It is also inequitable in not representing the majority of 
E- Comm’s other service-user partners. 
 
What is E-Comm’s current board governance structure? 
 
E-Comm has a large, 23-member and primarily stakeholder board. Its directors are comprised 
of 15 representatives from its Class A shareholders, 2 representatives from the province, 1 
representative from E-Comm’s Vancouver Island police dispatch partners, and 5 independent 
directors appointed by the Board (including the chair). 
 
What is E-Comm’s current corporate shareholder structure? 
 
E-Comm has 26 Class A and 16 Class B shareholders. Class A shareholders are the local 
government and agency users of E-Comm’s Lower Mainland radio system. Class B 
shareholders are local governments that have reserved their interest in joining one or more of 
their agencies onto E-Comm’s radio system in the future. E-Comm’s police and fire dispatch 
partners outside the Lower Mainland, as well as its Regional District 9-1-1 call-taking partners, 
are not shareholders. 
 
How is the governance model changing? 
 
The governance change proposals call for a smaller, more effective independent board, with 
improved professional and independent qualifications, whose nominations would be reviewed 
by a new screening committee comprised of shareholder representatives. In addition, the 
shareholder structure will be amended to ensure each of E-Comm’s service-user partners has 
representation as a shareholder, regardless of geography and service used.  
 
How will existing “Class A” shareholders’ influence and representation be protected if all 
E-Comm’s service users become shareholders and its board size is reduced? 
 
Governance and oversight will be generally strengthened through independence on the Board, 
more consistency in board directors, improved length of terms, restructured committees, and 
more equitable, inclusive input to board decisions. Shareholder representation will be enhanced 
through stronger, more effective service and user committees and the ability for shareholders to 
review candidates for the board through the new screening committee. 
 



 

E-Comm Governance Changes – Shareholder Action Guide    8 
 

 

What will the impacts be for “Class B” shareholders? 
 
Under the proposed new model, Class A and Class B shares will be replaced with one share 
per user for each of E-Comm’s services used. 
 
Of E-Comm’s 16 Class B shareholders, all but two hold Class A shares as well, meaning they 
are already users of E-Comm’s radio system, and will continue to be shareholders under the 
new model. Therefore, it is expected that virtually all E-Comm’s Class B shareholders will 
continue to be shareholders under the new model. 
 
What is the role of a screening committee?  
 
The screening committee would work with the Board’s Governance and Public Affairs 
Committee to vet and recommend a slate of independent directors to the shareholders for 
approval. Shareholders would still vote to approve the directors.  
 
Who would sit on the screening committee?  
 
This is yet to be determined as is the process for determining who serves on the screening 
committee.  
 
How will a smaller board understand and represent all service lines of business?  
 
Through refining the use of representative service governance bodies, and service and user 
committees with member-appointed representatives. These committees should serve to 
enhance user representation in the overall governance structure.  
 
What is the role of service and user committees in the new model?  
 
The service and user committees could provide important input and advice on the delivery of 
services and service expectations, the annual operating budget and proposed annual capital 
budgets, the appointment of the president and other matters that they want to bring to the 
board’s attention. The Deloitte report provides additional details on other mechanisms for 
service delivery and operational matters such as service/account managers.  

2) Financial model and cost-sharing 
 
What are the problems with the current operating cost/budgeting model and pricing 
process? 
 
E-Comm’s outmoded financial model and planning have not evolved to keep pace with its 
growth and future needs. As a result, there is a lack of clarity in how pricing correlates to costs, 
and a perception of lack of fairness in how costs are allocated between different service lines, 
for example, the allocation of corporate costs between radio users (shareholders) and dispatch 
partners. 



 

E-Comm Governance Changes – Shareholder Action Guide    9 
 

 

How do these proposed changes in E-Comm’s financial model relate to the governance 
changes, and do these financial changes need to be approved by shareholders? 
 
E-Comm’s Board generally has the authority to make financial changes to its operating costs, 
budgeting and pricing. Depending on the nature of the financial changes, each will be 
considered to determine if they require amendments to the Members’ Agreement, which is 
being reviewed as part of the governance changes. 
 
How exactly will the new operating cost/budgeting model, pricing process and financial 
forecasting be improved? 
 
The specifics of the proposed funding model improvements are yet to be determined and still 
under development. E-Comm intends to share more details about these changes at the fall 
Shareholder Consultation Session. 
 
How is cost control referenced in the recommendations?  
 
Through the development of a transparent pricing model, understanding cost drivers and 
budgeting for long-term costs. The specifics of the proposed funding model improvements are 
being developed and will be shared as work progresses.  

3) Role of the province  
 
What about the call for a provincial mandate for E-Comm? Did the Deloitte report 
consider the province taking over E-Comm as a Crown corporation? 
 
The Deloitte report looked at different legal structures including a Crown corporation. However, 
a new provincial mandate for E-Comm is something that is within the province’s exclusive 
control. E- Comm supports a new provincial mandate for 9-1-1 services in B.C., including 
provincial standards and funding, and is in regular contact with the province about the 
governance review process. 
 
What about a provincial wireless call answer levy, or other new forms of funding – does 
this report address it? 
 
Any decision on new provincial funding sources, such as a wireless call answer levy, will be up 
to the province. E-Comm supports the many public calls that have been made for new provincial 
standards and funding for 9-1-1 services in B.C., and a new wireless call answer levy, including 
by the Union of BC Municipalities, Metro Vancouver Regional District, and the all-party Finance 
Committee of the Legislature in its Budget 2024 recommendations. 
 
 
 
 



 

E-Comm Governance Changes – Shareholder Action Guide    10 
 

 

Do you anticipate changes to the Emergency Communications Corporations Act as a 
result of this report? 
 
It is anticipated that there will be changes to the Members’ Agreement and those would require 
ministerial approval. However, there does not appear to be a need to seek legislative 
amendments to the Act. 
 
 
 



YTD Jun 30, 2024 0-6s 6-10s
Emergency Target 88% 

Ans < 10 Sec            
(Spectrum Target)

10-16s 16-30s
% Ans < 30 

Sec
30-46s 46-60s

% Ans < 60 
Sec

60-70s 70-90s
% Ans <90 

Sec
90-120s 120-180s % Ans < 180 Sec 180-240s 240-300s

% Ans < 
300 Sec

300-480s 480-600s
% Ans < 
600 Sec

600s+
% Ans > 
10 Min

Calls Ans
Calls 
Aban

Total Ans & 
Aban

New West Police 
Emerg

9,029        44          91% 78          186        94% 141        111        96% 65          84          98% 96          76          100% 29          12          100% 3            -         100% -         0.0% 9,954        20            9,974            

Emergency (All 
Police)

227,321    1,269     92% 2,028     4,538     94% 3,712     2,425     97% 1,335     1,994     98% 1,853     1,704     100% 527        167        100% 111        12          100% 7            0.9% 249,003    788          249,791        

New West Police 
Emerg

0-6s 6-10s
Emergency Target 88% 

Ans < 10 Sec            
(Spectrum Target)

10-16s 16-30s
% Ans < 30 

Sec
30-46s 46-60s

% Ans < 60 
Sec

60-70s 70-90s
% Ans <90 

Sec
90-120s 120-180s % Ans < 180 Sec 180-240s 240-300s

% Ans < 
300 Sec

300-480s 480-600s
% Ans < 
600 Sec

600s+
% Ans > 
10 Min

Calls Ans
Calls 
Aban

Total Ans & 
Aban

Jan 2024 1,461        2            96% 9            10          97% 8            5            98% 4            6            99% 7            6            100% 4            -         100% -         -         100% -         0.0% 1,522        1              1,523            

Feb 2024 1,500        7            95% 8            25          97% 16          13          99% 4            5            99% 7            2            100% 1            1            100% 1            -         100% -         0.0% 1,590        3              1,593            

Mar 2024 1,478        4            91% 13          34          94% 23          15          97% 9            14          98% 13          10          99% 4            4            100% 1            -         100% -         0.0% 1,622        2              1,624            

Apr 2024 1,487        10          88% 12          34          90% 40          32          95% 15          17          97% 29          19          99% 8            2            100% -         -         100% -         0.0% 1,705        6              1,711            

May 2024 1,524        11          88% 24          39          91% 24          27          94% 24          20          97% 21          23          99% 7            3            100% -         -         100% -         0.0% 1,747        3              1,750            

Jun 2024 1,579        10          90% 12          44          93% 30          19          96% 9            22          98% 19          16          100% 5            2            100% 1            -         100% -         0.0% 1,768        5              1,773            

Spectrum of Call Answer Times for New West Police Emerg Compared to Total Volume  YTD Jun 30, 2024

Spectrum of Call Answer Times for New West Police Emerg - Monthly

New West Police Non‐Emerg ‐ Calls Offered and Service Level

2.5(e)E-Comm Statistics



YTD Jun 30, 2024 0-6s 6-10s
Aban <= 10 

Sec   
10-16s 16-30s

% Aban <= 
30 Sec

30-46s 46-60s
% Aban <= 

60 Sec
60-70s 70-90s

% Aban 
<=90 Sec

90-120s 120-180s
% Aban <= 180 

Sec
180-240s 240-300s

% Aban 
<= 300 

Sec
300-480s 480-600s

% Aban 
<= 600 

Sec
600s+

% Aban > 
10 Min

Calls Ans
Calls 
Aban

Total Ans & 
Aban

New West Police 
Emerg

10              -         50% 1            7            90% 1            -         95% -         -         95% 1            -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         0.0% 9,954        20            9,974            

Emergency (All 
Police)

238            72          39% 69          102        61% 174        37          88% 18          35          95% 18          17          99% 6            -         100% 2            -         100% -         0.0% 249,003    788          249,791        

New West Police 
Emerg

0-6s 6-10s
Aban <= 10 

Sec   
10-16s 16-30s

% Aban <= 
30 Sec

30-46s 46-60s
% Aban <= 

60 Sec
60-70s 70-90s

% Aban 
<=90 Sec

90-120s 120-180s
% Aban <= 180 

Sec
180-240s 240-300s

% Aban 
<= 300 

Sec
300-480s 480-600s

% Aban 
<= 600 

Sec
600s+

% Aban > 
10 Min

Calls Ans
Calls 
Aban

Total Ans & 
Aban

Jan 2024 -             -         0% -         1            100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         0.0% 1,522        1              1,523            

Feb 2024 2                -         67% -         1            100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         0.0% 1,590        3              1,593            

Mar 2024 1                -         50% -         -         50% -         -         50% -         -         50% 1            -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         0.0% 1,622        2              1,624            

Apr 2024 4                -         67% 1            1            100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         0.0% 1,705        6              1,711            

May 2024 1                -         33% -         2            100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         0.0% 1,747        3              1,750            

Jun 2024 2                -         40% -         2            80% 1            -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         -         100% -         0.0% 1,768        5              1,773            

Spectrum of Call Abandon Times for New West Police Emerg Compared to Total Volume  YTD Jun 30, 2024

Spectrum of Call Abandon Times for New West Police Emerg - Monthly

New West Police Non‐Emerg ‐ Calls Abandoned Trend



R E P O R T

To: Mayor Johnstone and Members of the New 
Westminster Police Board 

Date: July 16, 2024 

From: Andrew Perry, Deputy Chief Constable 
(Acting) 

Item: 

Subject: 2024 Strategic Planning Priorities and Milestones Progress Report 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the New Westminster Police Board (“Board”) receive this report for information purposes. 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to provide the Board with an update on the NWPD Strategic Plan 
progress for 2024. 

KEY UPDATES 

1. The request for Proposal for the Police Patrol Division Workload and Operations Study has been

issued and the deadline for submissions is June 27, 2024.

2. The Human Resources Manager position has been filled and the successful candidate begins work

on July 3, 2024.

3. Proposed New Priority for Approval – 3.4 “Identify and Implement Approach to Police Staffing

Levels and Allocation” This proposed priority has been added as placeholder to flag this issue for

the Board’s discussion to determine whether this priority should be approved and added formally

to the Strategic Plan priorities and milestones.   This proposed priority is also aligned with

priorities 2.1 and 2.3.

4. Proposed New Priority for Approval – 2.4 “Gradually assume funding of Gang Suppression Unit

from Province of BC by 2028”. This proposed priority has been added as placeholder to flag this

3.1



New Westminster Police Department  July 16, 2024   2 
 

issue for the Board’s discussion to determine whether this priority should be approved and added 

formally to the Strategic Plan priorities and milestones.   This proposed priority is also aligned 

with strategic goal’s 2 and 3. 

Please see the attached NWPD Strategic Plan 2024 Priorities and Milestones Report for additional 
information on all priorities and milestones. 

 
OPTIONS 
 
1) That the Board receive this report for information purposes.   

 
2) That the Board provide further direction. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommend that the Board approve option 1. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 

1. NWPD Strategic Plan 2024 Priorities and Milestones Report 

2. NWPD Strategic Plan 2022-2024 

 
This report has been prepared by: 
 

 
____________________________ 
Andrew Perry 
Deputy Chief Constable (Acting) 
Operations Support Bureau 
 
 

 



NWPD Strategic Plan 2024 Priorities and Milestones Report 

Priority 1: Strengthen Community Engagement 

This means… 

We will engage with underrepresented groups to ensure their perspectives are heard and concerns are addressed.  We will listen and learn about 

our role in supporting Truth and Reconciliation. 

 

Indigenous Peoples Engagement 

 

 We are committed to supporting Truth and Reconciliation.  As a first step, we would like to establish relationships with local Indigenous 

Peoples so that we may learn about respective roles, needs, and expectations. 

Milestone, By Dec 31, 2024 we will Owner Status Notes 

1. Retain a contractor to develop an 

Indigenous Peoples engagement plan A/Insp 

Long 
Cancelled 

Update: This priority has been cancelled since we have decided to 

work directly with Qayqayt Nation to complete an Indigenous 

Peoples Engagement plan.  This will now be tracked under milestone 

1.2. 

2. Create an Indigenous Peoples engagement 

plan that identifies how we will engage and 

what we hope to learn, and what we should 

do to prepare for engagement 

A/Insp 

Long 
On Track 

Update: We have met with Qayqayt Nation twice. The Qayqayt Nation 

have agreed to work on a collaborative Indigenous Engagement Plan 

with the NWPD and will be attending in September to create an 

engagement plan road map. 

 

  



Community Engagement 

 

 We have a diverse community with diverse needs. We engage with our community regularly to understand their policing needs and 

expectations, and to work together to meet public safety needs.  

 This year we will focus on formalizing our engagement with community groups to learn more about their needs and expectations. 

Milestone, By Dec 31,2024 we will Owner Status Notes 

3. Create a 2024-2026 community 

communications and engagement plan 

Acting 

Chief 

Hyland 

On Hold 

Update: Report drafted identifying communications opportunities 

following IPSOS public opinion survey. More work to be done to 

understand the expectations the public has for communication 

coming from NWPD before developing a formal communications 

and engagement plan.  

4. Provide information to community groups 

in response to what we learned in the 

survey. 

H. 

Finnigan 
Achieved 

Update: Results from IPSOS public opinion survey have been 

published on the NWPD website, written about in the local news 

(New Westminster Record), published in the Clarion (New 

Westminster senior’s publication), and is in rotation as a message 

on all NWPD social media accounts.   

5. Conduct organization to organization 

working sessions to identify needs of each 

group 

A/Insp 

Long 
On Track 

Update:  In the Spring of 2024 the Community Engagement Unit 

(CEU) has re-established the Community Policing Committee 

(CPC).  This committee meets monthly and is comprised of various 

resident associations, community groups, faith based 

organizations and businesses for an opportunity for each subset 

group to raise discussions, issues or concerns to the NWPD. As a 

result the CEU has been invited to conduct security audits and 

presentations to sub-groups within the CPC.   

6. Respond to specific needs raised by 

community groups 

A/Insp 

Long 
On Track 

Update: The CEU is currently responding to independent requests 

to attend community groups and facilitate discussions in relation 

to areas of concern.  The CEU is engaged with the New 



Westminster – Overdose Action Team (NWOCAT) and the New 

Westminster Situation Table. 

 

  



Priority 2: Modernize Community Safety 

This means… 

We will clarify our role in supporting community needs related to homelessness, mental health, and addiction. We will optimize our use of public 

resources to provide best value for money. 

 

Opportunity Assessment & Service Improvement 

 

 NWPD devotes a significant portion of its resources (65%) to Patrol.  In 2024, NWPD would like to conduct an operations review of Patrol to 

identify strengths of the current operating model and identify opportunities for improvement.  

Milestone, By Dec 31,2024 Owner Status Notes 

1. Prepare for an operational review of Patrol 

Division: identify qualified providers, data 

needs, prep activities and 2025 budget 

A/Deputy 

Chief 

Perry 

On Track 

Update: A Request for Proposal was issued and closed on July 3.  

We have received 5 submissions.  Next step is to begin the 

evaluation process.   

2. Conduct an investigator resource needs 

assessment for child sexual exploitation 

files  

A/Deputy 

Chief 

Ward 

Achieved 
Update: We have completed the review, and the results are being 

considered in the 2025 Budget Planning Process.   

3. Inventory and prioritize civilian resource 

needs and present to the Board for review 

A/Deputy 

Chief 

Perry 

Behind 

Update 1: This milestone is also aligned with Priority 1.2, the Patrol 

Division review will also consider assessing civilian staffing level 

needs.  The review will not be completed until 2025. 

Update 2: We are reviewing a DEMS Coordinator or Patrol Digital 

Disclosure Assistant to meet new Patrol Division disclosure 

standards to Crown Counsel. 

4. Gradually assume funding of Gang 

Suppression Unit  from Province of BC by 

2028 

Acting 

Chief 

Hyland 

Pending 

Approval 

New: This proposed priority has been added as placeholder to flag 

this issue for the Board’s discussion to determine whether this 

priority should be approved and added formally to the Strategic 

Plan priorities and milestones.   This proposed priority is also 

aligned with strategic goal’s 2 and 3. 

 



Technology Roadmap  

 

 NWPD has recognized a need for technology investments.  These investments represent a large commitment of resources and will shape the 

future capabilities of the organization. To guide this investment, NWPD will create technology roadmap to guide investments over the next five 

years and inform capital planning, resourcing, and technology project planning. 

Milestone, By Dec 31,2024 Owner Status Notes 

5. Retain a contractor to complete an 

information technology review 

A/Deputy 

Chief 

Perry 

Deferred 

Update:  We are deferring this priority to 2026 due so we will have 

sufficient budget funding for consultants to complete priority 2.1 

and 3.2. 

  

Policing Standards 

 NWPD recognizes the importance of evolving policing to meet community needs. The role of policing is defined in provincial policing 

standards. Policing standards continue to evolve at the provincial level and NWPD is committed to implementing these policing standards. 

Milestone, By Dec 31,2024 Owner Status Notes 

6. Implement 2024 policing standards 

regarding Training to promote equitable 

and unbiased police and enhancing service 

delivery to vulnerable communities (to be 

completed before Dec 31, 2024) 

A/Insp 

Long 
On Track 

Update:  The Province has extended the timelines for meeting this 

standard to Dec 31, 2024. NWPD Training Unit is currently assessing 

options to provide this training, currently there are training courses 

created by the VPD and SPS that have been accredited by the 

Province that we can utilize to meet this standard. 

7. Implement 2024 policing standards 

regarding Sexual Assault Investigations (to 

be completed before July 30, 2024) 

A/Insp 

Long 
Achieved 

Update:  The 2024 policing standards regarding Sexual Assault 

Investigations has been adopted into NWPD policy 0B220 – Sex 

Offence Investigations. 

  



Priority 3: Invest in our People 

This means… 

We will improve the diversity, inclusion, and wellness of our Department and workplace. We will introduce new practices to support the growth 

and development of our members. 

 

Workplace Health and Engagement 

 

 A healthy and engaged workplace is the foundation for ensuring that NWPD can attract and retain a highly skilled and capable workforce.  

NWPD has completed its first health and wellness survey and is in the process of receiving results.   

 In 2024, NWPD will continue to the backfill strategy to ensure sufficient staff are available to reduce workplace stress and burnout.  

 In 2024, NWPD will review the findings of the employee wellness assessment and define a wellness program. 

Milestone, By Dec 31,2024 Owner Status Notes 

1. Implement backfill strategy program year 

2 (five new FTEs). Assess future needs. 

Acting 

Chief 

Hyland 

On Track 
Update: Hiring is on track to have year 2 hiring completed and year 

3 is being considered in the 2025 budget planning process. 

2. Formalize employee wellness program 

based on employee survey results and 

consultant advice 

Acting 

Chief 

Hyland 

On Track 

Update: The results of the survey were communicated to the Board, 

NWPOA and employees.  We will be seeking the consultant’s 

recommendations for areas to improve. 

3. Hire an HR Manager 

A/Deputy 

Chief 

Perry 

Achieved  
Update: HR Manager has been hired and began work on July 3, 

2024. 

4. Identify and Implement Approach to 

Police Staffing Levels and Allocation 

Acting 

Chief 

Hyland 

Pending 

Approval 

New: This proposed priority has been added as placeholder to flag 

this issue for the Board’s discussion to determine whether this 

priority should be approved and added formally to the Strategic 

Plan priorities and milestones.   This proposed priority is also 

aligned with priorities 2.1 and 2.3. 

 



Diversity, Equity, Inclusion, Anti-Racism 

 

 NWPD is committed to demonstrating DEIAR in its practices.  In addition to embedding these principles in its operations, NWPD participates in 

City led DEIAR initiatives.  These initiatives are driven by the City, and often require participation or action by the NWPD. 

Milestone, By Dec 31,2024 Owner Status Notes 

5. Lead NWPD DEIAR initiatives that are 

based on City DEIAR findings and actions 

A/Deputy 

Chief 

Perry 

On Hold 

Update: The NWPD participated in the development of the City of 

New Westminster’s DEIAR Framework, which was completed in May 

2022. In July 2024, the City of New Westminster held a meeting to 

discuss the consultant’s revised DEIAR Training Proposal, and the 

NWPD participated in this meeting. 

 



NWPD 2022 - 2024 STRATEGIC PLAN  |  1 

New Westminster 
Police Department

2022-2024 STR ATEGIC PL AN



2  |  NWPD 2022 - 2024 STRATEGIC PLAN NWPD 2022 - 2024 STRATEGIC PLAN  |  3 

We recognise and respect that New Westminster is on the unceded and unsurrendered 

land of the Halq’eméylem speaking peoples. We acknowledge that colonialism has 

made invisible their histories and connections to the land. As a city, we are learning 

and building relationships with the people whose lands we are on.

Halq'eméylem

The following Strategic Plan has been developed as a three-year roadmap 

for the New Westminster Police Department (NWPD). It sets out concrete 

actions, building and expanding upon the significant work that has been 

completed over the last several years. 

The last three years have been characterized by resiliency. The NWPD remained flexible during 

the COVID-19 pandemic to ensure the community received the policing services it needed 

during a challenging time and placed a continued emphasis on organizational wellness.  

A Gang Unit was created, and crime was reduced throughout the City of New Westminster. 

The NWPD respects its unique position to serve the community and protect each of its 

residents, regardless of race, ethnicity, age, and mental or physical ability. The Department 

is focused on tackling systemic discrimination in all its forms, working with the community 

to better understand how diverse groups of people experience NWPD policies and services 

and ensuring its workforce composition is reflective of the community it serves. The NWPD’s 

Strategic Plan lays out three priorities for the next three years, including: 

• Strengthening community engagement 

The NWPD will continue serving the community at a time when people continue to face 

significant challenges as a result of the pandemic, and racialized and marginalized people 

face historic and present-day barriers that limit their full participation in the community. 

• Modernizing community safety 

The NWPD will continue its transformation to a modern police department through 

innovation, transparency, inclusiveness, and community partnerships. 

• Investing in our people 

The NWPD recognizes its people as its greatest asset and will continue  

putting significant effort towards the growth and development of its 

team members and building future leaders, while ensuring diversity  

and inclusion are a pillar of its operations. 



4  |  NWPD 2022 - 2024 STRATEGIC PLAN NWPD 2022 - 2024 STRATEGIC PLAN  |  5 

We serve everyone.
We want every person, in particular those that have had 
negative experiences with police, to feel safe enough 
to reach out to us, and to be served with compassion, 
integrity, and professional excellence.

We want to earn the trust of everyone in our community,  
so that we can assist in the moments when they need help.

With integrity, excellence,  
and compassion.
In 2019, a member of our community came to us looking 
for help. She explained that, as a sex worker, she had many 
negative experiences with police and, as a result, did not 
trust police.

However, as we worked with her, she was surprised to 
be treated with respect, compassion, and dignity. Because  
she felt safe, and that we cared for her well-being, she  
had confidence to continue with the investigation, and 
allowed us to help.

We serve everyone in our community with 

integrity, excellence, and compassion.

OUR PURPOSE



6  |  NWPD 2022 - 2024 STRATEGIC PLAN NWPD 2022 - 2024 STRATEGIC PLAN  |  7 

Integrity
We are open, honest, and accountable for  
the work we do. We are transparent about  
our successes and failures. 

Excellence
We serve with commitment and dedication  
to the highest standard.

Compassion
We treat everyone with dignity, humility,  
and empathy and we are sensitive to each 
person's experiences.OUR VALUES

Integrity   |  Excellence   |  Compassion



NWPD 2022 - 2024 STRATEGIC PLAN  |  9 

STRATEGIC GOALS
The New Westminster Police Department (NWPD) has set three strategic goals that define its direction 
over the next five to ten years. These goals align to the NWPD’s vision and will be used to evaluate the 
department’s progress towards its vision. The NWPD’s strategic goals are as follows: 

NEW WESTMINSTER POLICE DEPARTMENT STRATEGIC GOALS

We are a valued community partner. We engage 
with our diverse community, listen to their needs, 

and collaborate to ensure their needs are met. 

We ensure community safety with integrity, 
compassion, and excellence.  

We have a diverse, inclusive, healthy, and 
engaging workplace that promotes employee 

equity, growth, wellness, and fulfillment.

SERVING OUR COMMUNITY

SUPPORTING OUR PEOPLE

LISTENING TO OUR COMMUNITY

1. Public satisfaction 
2. Public trust of police
3. Stakeholder satisfaction

4. Crime rates
5. Response times
6. Police costs
7. Police effectiveness

8. Employee engagement
9. Attrition
10. Vacancy

STRATEGIC GOALS MEASURED BY

OUR ACCOUNTABILITY

The 2022 – 2024 New Westminster Police Department (NWPD) Strategic Plan was  

prepared under the direction of the Police Board, Chief Constable, and police department. 

Collectively, we are committed to implementing the Strategic Plan.

We are accountable for the contents of this plan and for regularly communicating 

progress on our results. Publishing this strategy is the first step towards transparency and 

accountability. Looking forward, we will regularly make available public-facing progress 

reports to identify how we are tracking against our milestones and report out on our key 

performance indicators, annually. It is our expectation that the community, the Police 

Board, our leaders, and every member of our department, holds us accountable to each  

of the priorities we have committed to. 

Continuous engagement with the community will be key to our progress – and feedback 

received during these discussions and touchpoints will allow us to evolve our policies 

and programs in a way that best serves the community. Ultimately, this plan will only be 

successful if it is executed in a way that best aligns our policing services with the needs  

of the entire community. 

The New Westminster Police Board, Chief Constable and Police Department are committed 

to implementing this Strategic Plan and the priorities and goals outlined within that will 

support us in listening, serving, and supporting our people and community. These activities 

will bring us closer to creating a future where the department is known and recognized for 

its integrity, excellence, and compassion. 

Mayor Jonathan X. Cote Dave Jansen
Chair, New Westminster Police Board  Chief Constable, New Westminster Police

 

8  |  NWPD 2022 - 2024 STRATEGIC PLAN



2022-2024 PRIORITIES:
Over the next three years we will focus on three priorities and several key 

milestones to help us achieve our strategic goals.

By December 31, 2022

Create an Indigenous Peoples 
Engagement Plan

Establish an NWPD Diversity  
and Engagement Team

Begin community engagement 

By December 31, 2023

Engage with local First 
Nations

Engage with community 
groups

Identify and Implement 
recommended actions

By December 31, 2024

Continue engagement 
activities

Identify and Implement 
recommended actions

By December 31, 2022

Complete the operations 
review

Support committee work 
to clarify police role for 

homelessness, mental health 
and addiction

Establish Key Performance 
Indicators 

By December 31, 2023

Milestones for this year 
will be indentified based 

on committee work, public 
engagement and the 

operations review

By December 31, 2024

Milestones for this year 
 will be identified based  

on committee work,  
public engagement and  
the operations review

By December 31, 2022

Implement an employee 
engagement survey

Implement DEIAR 
recommendations

Pilot performance and  
growth reviews

By December 31, 2023

Create a module-based 
leadership development 

program

Implement peformance and 
growth reviews

Continue to act on employee 
engagement results

By December 31, 2024

Measure impact of leadership 
development

Expand leadership 
development program

Continue to act on employee 
engagement results

Strengthen
Community Engagement

Modernize
Community Safety

Invest
in our People

10  |  NWPD 2022 - 2024 STRATEGIC PLAN NWPD 2022 - 2024 STRATEGIC PLAN  |  11 



1 | P a g e

Board Chair 

Introduction 

Every two years, a municipal police board must elect a chair and a vice chair from among its members. If 

either position becomes vacant, a new chair or vice chair must be elected at the board's next meeting, 

the term of the replacement appointee is at the discretion of the Board. 

The vice chair acts as chair when the chair is absent or unable to act. If both the chair and vice 
chair are absent, the board members present must elect a temporary chair from among 
themselves to preside over the meeting. The chair is a non-voting member but casts the 
deciding vote in the event of a tie. 

The role and responsibilities of the Board Chair are distinctly separate from those of any elected official 
who occupies the position. As an independent entity, the Board must maintain this distinction to 
operate without political interference 

Role and Accountability 

The Board Chair’s primary role is to provide leadership to the Board, including ensuring the Board is 
organized properly, functions effectively and independently, and meets its Police Act obligations and 
responsibilities, and acts in the best interests of NWPD and the public. The Board Chair is accountable to 
the Board and represents the Board internally and externally, including acting as a spokesperson on 
behalf of the Board. 

Appointment 

The Board Chair is elected by the Board members from amongst themselves for a two -year term and 
may be appointed for additional, consecutive terms. 

Voting Right 

The Police Act directs that in case of a tie vote at a meeting of the Board, the Chair may cast the deciding 
vote. The Board interprets this section to mean that the Board Chair is not entitled to vote, except to 
cast the deciding vote in the event of a tie.  

Managing Conflicting Roles 

The City Council representative on the Board provides a direct link between the Board and City Council 
and plays an important role in sharing information with the Board concerning the City’s priorities, goals 
and objectives and putting considerations for the NWPD in the broader context of the City’s policy.  

If the City Council representative on the Board is the Board Chair there may be times where the Chair’s 
duties and responsibilities as a City Councillor or Mayor may conflict with or be in opposition to the 
Chair’s duties and responsibilities as Board Chair. 

3.2



2 | P a g e  
 

Where there is a conflict between the Board Chair’s responsibilities as Board Chair and the Board Chair’s 
responsibilities as a City Councillor or Mayor, the Vice Chair will step in to lead the Board in dealing with 
such issues, having the same powers and authority as the Board Chair would if there were not a conflict.  
 
 
 



3 | P a g e  
 

Responsibilities  
 
The Board Chair is responsible for:  

1. upon majority Board approval, signing contracts, agreements or other documents that legally bind the 
Board, and where two signatures are legally required, the Vice Chair is authorized to co-sign with the 
Chair;  

2. Board meetings, including:  

a. with the Office of the Chief Constable, coordinating the Board’s forward calendar and annual 
schedule of Board meetings,  

b. with the Chief Constable and the Office of the Chief Constable, developing and setting Board 
meeting agendas,  

c. reviewing pre-meeting agendas for completeness, with the goal of providing Board members with 
sufficient information to enable them to prepare for the meeting,  

d. chairing Board meetings open to the public and portions of meetings approved by the Board to be 
held in private, i.e., in camera meetings, and facilitating a candid and full discussion of all key matters 
that come before the Board,  

e. ensuring, through the Office of the Chief Constable, the recording of minutes of meetings of the 
Board that are open to the public or held in private,  

f. ensuring, through the Office of the Chief Constable, that minutes of a meeting held in private, and 
the reasons for so holding the meeting, are promptly submitted to the Minister,  

g. if a meeting held in private did not include the Chief Constable or member of the Office of the Chief 
Constable, ensuring that the minutes of the meeting are nonetheless recorded, and the minutes and 
reasons for so holding the meeting are promptly submitted to the Minister,  

h. ensuring Board decisions are clear, understandable, ethical, and responsible, and that Board 
members speak with one voice after a decision is made, and  

i. ordering the removal of any member of the public in attendance at meetings due to improper 
conduct or a concern for public safety;  

3. Information and issues management, including:  

a. communicating with the Board and Chief Constable to ensure timely dissemination of information 
about major developments or initiatives that may impact policing,  

b. working closely with the Chief Constable and the Office of the Chief Constable to ensure effective 
relations and communications with Board members, the NWPD, City Council, and others,  

c. ensuring the Board receives adequate and regular updates from the Chief Constable on all issues 
which impact the performance and effectiveness of NWPD.  



4 | P a g e  
 

4. Board management, including:  

a. managing the affairs of the Board, including ensuring the Board is organized properly, functions 
effectively and meets its obligations and responsibilities,  

b. seeking to build consensus and develop teamwork within the Board, encouraging an atmosphere of 
openness and trust, and maintaining a cohesive group without losing diversity of opinion and 
independent points of view,  

c. dealing effectively with dissent and working constructively towards arriving at a decision and 
achieving consensus,  

d. being available to Board members for questions, counsel, and discussions relating to NWPD,  

e. overseeing issues raised with respect to conflicts of interest and standards of conduct under the 
Code of Conduct,  

f. deferring to the Vice Chair on any Board issues where there may be a conflict with the Chair’s role as 
City Councillor or Mayor (if applicable), or the Chair is unavailable or unable to act, and recognizing the 
authority of the Vice Chair when so acting,  

g. at the request of the provincial government, and in consultation with the Board, reviewing and 
assessing Board and Committee member performance, and  

h. with the assistance of the Office of the Chief Constable, develop, for approval of the Board, an 
annual Board budget, to be incorporated into the annual NWPD budget.  

5. Board appointments, including:  

a. communicating, on behalf of the Board, with City Council and the Province to ensure they 
understand the process the Board has undertaken with respect to considering its composition and the 
specific Board requirements at that time;  

6. NWPD strategies and initiatives, including:  

a. in consultation with the Chief Constable, ensuring major NWPD initiatives and strategies have 
proper and timely Board understanding, consideration, approval and oversight;  

7. Collaboration with Chief Constable, including:  

a. on behalf of the Board, acting as the principal liaison with the Chief Constable, and ensuring the 
Chief Constable is aware of the expectations and any concerns of the Board,  

b. acting as a sounding board, counselor and mentor for the Chief Constable, and  

c. seeking to ensure the Chief Constable presents to the Board all information necessary to allow the 
Board to effectively discharge its responsibilities;  

8. Communications, including:  



5 | P a g e  
 

a. acting as the official spokesperson for the Board,  

b. appointing a spokesperson for specific Board matters, as required, and  

c. ensuring the Board is appropriately represented at official functions and meetings; and  

 

 

Vice Board Chair 

The Vice Chair works closely with the Chair to support and assist the Chair and provide an independent 
perspective pertaining to the Board’s oversight activities, including taking the lead on Board issues and 
chairing meetings when the Chair is unavailable or the Chair’s duties conflict with their duties if they are 
a City Councillor or Mayor.  

Appointment  

The Vice Chair is elected by the Board members from amongst themselves for a two -year term and may 
be appointed for additional, consecutive terms. As the Vice Chair plays a key role in supporting the 
Board Chair, it is necessary for Board members to consider the Board Chair’s input in electing the Vice 
Chair.  

Board members must self-identify as candidates for Vice Chair. If only one Board member agrees to act 
as Vice Chair, that person is acclaimed as Vice Chair. If a slate of candidates is identified, each candidate 
has the opportunity to speak for up to five minutes. After all presentations are completed, a secret 
ballot is taken. Voting rules for Board meetings apply.  

Responsibilities  

The Vice Chair is responsible for supporting the Chair, chairing Board meetings and taking the lead on 
any Board issues when the Chair is unavailable or if there may be a conflict with the Chair’s duties if they 
are a City Councillor or Mayor, until such time as Chair is able to resume responsibilities.  

While presiding over a Board meeting or acting in the Chair’s place, the Vice Chair has and may exercise 
all the same rights, powers, and authorities of the Chair, including the responsibility to speak on behalf 
of the Board. While presiding at a Board meeting, the Vice Chair will not have the right to vote, except to 
cast the deciding vote in the event of a tie.  

The Vice Chair is responsible for:  

1. providing an independent perspective to the Board Chair pertaining to the Board’s oversight activities 
and the management of issues raised with respect to conflicts of interest and standards of conduct;  

2. together with the Chair , meeting as needed with Board members to assess their suitability for Board 
committees, discussing performance issues, and providing general guidance and advice;  



6 | P a g e  
 

3. together with the Chair, meeting with the Chief Constable to evaluate and review the Chief 
Constable’s performance and compensation and assessing succession planning needs for the Chief 
Constable;  

Together with the Chair, meeting with the Chief Constable to evaluate and review the Chief 
Constable’s performance and compensation, and assessing succession planning needs for the 
Chief Constable, after considering the direction and input of the rest of the board; 

4. providing feedback to the Board Chair and acting as a sounding board with respect to strategies, 
accountability, relationships, and other issues; and  

5. performing any additional duties requested by the Board.  

 
 
 
 

Board Member Position Description 
 
Role of Board Members 
 
Board members are responsible for collectively governing the activities and affairs of the NWPD and, in 
so doing, working collaboratively to ensure the Board makes effective and informed decisions that 
promote the achievement of NWPD’s priorities, goals and objectives.  
 
Responsibilities of Board Members 
 
In discharging their responsibilities, all Board members are expected to:  

 act in the best interests of NWPD as a whole;  

 perform their duties with due diligence, honesty, impartiality, and in good faith, and in accordance 
with the Police Act, their oath/affirmation of office, and any other applicable laws, regulations, rules 
or policies;  

 be effective ambassadors of NWPD;  

 act with the highest standards of conduct, and in so doing, comply with all Board policies, the Code 
of Conduct, and all other policies applicable to them;  

 fully disclose to the Board any actual, potential, or apparent interests that they have which may 
conflict with NWPD’s interests;  

 maintain the confidentiality of information, including all information associated with private, i.e., in 
camera meetings, in accordance with the Code of Conduct, until the Board decides the information 
may be disclosed;  

 participate in ensuring the Board’s work is effective and productive;  



7 | P a g e  
 

 participate on standing Committees, and other Committees where needed (which may include the 
BCAPB), and become knowledgeable about the purpose and goals of the duties required of the 
Committees;  

 foster a strong and positive relationship between NWPD, the Board, and the community;  

 be knowledgeable about the NWPD purpose, values, strategic goals and priorities, and substantive 
issues affecting NWPD and the community and political environment in which NWPD operates;  

 prepare for Board meetings by devoting the necessary time and attention to reading the Board 
agenda and information packages and otherwise being well-informed on relevant issues that come 
before the Board;  

 participate in Board activities that will enhance and expand the knowledge required to be an 
effective Board member.  

In carrying out their responsibilities, Board members are expected to be actively engaged in and add 
value to the Board’s work. 



Board Governance Manual 

 

APPENDIX 11:   New Westminster Municipal Police Board Honorarium 

 

1. ELIGIBILITY 

Members of the Police Board, other than the Mayor as Chair, are eligible to receive an 

honorarium.   

 

2. PURPOSE 

The honorarium is a token payment designed to express appreciation for voluntary hours and 

to cover out-of-pocket and incidental expenses (e.g. parking, transportation, printing costs, 

cell phone, telephone, and child care) incurred by the member in the course of carrying out 

their Board duties. The honorarium is not designed to compensate a Board member for actual 

hours worked. 

 

3. HONORARIUM RATE REVIEW 

The honorarium will be reviewed by the Board annually. Provided the Board is satisfied that 

the honorarium rate remains appropriate and in line with similar boards, the rate may be 

adjusted at the time of review to ensure it is equivalent to the previous year’s honorarium plus 

an increase in line with inflation.  

 

4. BOARD MEETING HONORARIUM RATES 

Effective January 1, 2022, the following honorarium rates will apply for Board meetings: 

 

a) $273 per meeting of four hours or less and $548 per meeting of four to eight hours.  If the 

Board meets for more than eight hours consecutively, a further honorarium will be paid. 

 

b) Meetings that occur next to each other, on the same date, will be considered as one 

continuous meeting. 

 

c) As recognition of the significant additional responsibility and time commitment of the Chair 

and Vice-Chair, including but not limited to coordinating Board affairs with the Chief 

Constable, and acting as the Board’s spokesperson, the Chair is to receive an additional 

flat-rate honorarium of $500 per month and the Vice-Chair an additional flat-rate 

honorarium of $250 per month. 

 

5. ELIGIBLE MEETINGS FOR HONORARIUM  

The Board meeting honorarium will be paid for attendance at: 

 

a) Official regular and in-camera Board meetings. 

 

b) Official Board workshops organized by the Board (e.g. annual Strategic Planning 

workshop). 

 



Board Governance Manual 

 

c) Official meetings for Board members who are serving on the Board of Directors for the 

Canadian Association of Police Governance (CAPG) or BC Association of Police Boards 

(BCAPB). 

 

d) Other special official meetings determined by the Board; and, 

 

e) Attendance at an eligible meeting may be in-person, via tele-conference call or by virtual 

attendance. 

 

6. MINIMUM MEETING LENGTH AND ATTENDANCE 

Eligible Board Meetings must be at least 30 minutes in length to qualify for the honorarium 

and Board members must attend eligible meetings for at least 30 minutes to qualify for the 

honorarium. 

 

7. HONORARIUM RATES FOR OTHER MEETINGS AND ACTIVITIES  

The following other meetings and activities will be eligible for an honorarium: 

 

a) A honorarium of $150 will be paid for: 

 

i) Attendance at CAPG Conferences or Annual Governance Summits.  

 

ii) Attendance at BCAPB Conferences or Annual General Meetings.   

 

iii) This honorarium is for Board members who are not on the Board of Directors, nor 

acting in their official capacity during these meetings/activities (i.e. attendance is for 

education reasons). 

 

b) A further honorarium of $100 will be paid, to any Board member, for any day necessarily 

spent travelling (outside the Lower Mainland or Vancouver Island) before or after these 

meetings. This is in addition to per diem payments for travel and meals made under the 

NWPD’s travel policy. 

 

c) Other similar activities arranged and approved by the Board Office. 

 

8. ATTENDANCE IN AN OFFICIAL CAPACITY AT SOCIAL EVENTS 

Honorariums are not paid for attendance at social events. In the course of a year, Board 

members may be invited to various social events in their official capacity. For some of these 

events there is a charge for attendance. Such events include, but are not limited to, the NWPD 

Mess Dinner, and the NWPD Fall Social. The cost of a Board member’s tickets to social events 

will be borne from the Board budget where all the following apply: 

 

a) Board members have been invited in their official capacity. 

 



Board Governance Manual 

 

b) The event takes place in New Westminster. 

 

c) The event is directly related to the work of the Board or the NWPD. 

 

Exclusions: 

d) Where events are primarily for the purposes of fundraising, tickets will not be paid from 

the Board budget. 

e) Tickets for partners or other accompanying persons will not be paid from the Board budget. 

 

9. OTHER MEETINGS AND ACTIVITIES NOT ELIGIBLE FOR HONORARIUM 

The following meetings and activities will not be eligible for an honorarium: 

 

a) Participation at social events or awards/recognition ceremonies other than those eligible 

social events referred to in paragraph 8. 

 

b) Informal meetings with Board and NWPD staff. 

 

c) Externally organized workshops and events, unless specifically authorized by the Board 

based on the level of work and responsibility involved and the benefit to the Board of 

having the member participate. 

 

d) Travel time to or from meetings except for those referred to in paragraph 7. 

 

e) Extraordinary childcare expenses will not be normally be eligible for an honorarium 

however these expenses will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis by the Board. 

 

10. HONORARIUM SUBMISSION FOR PAYMENT 

The Board member is responsible for requesting an honorarium payment by submitting a City 

of New Westminster Travel Expense Report (see Appendix 2) to the Finance Supervisor of 

the NWPD by the end of each month. Board members will receive a T4A tax form at Year End 

and are responsible for the payment of any taxes.   

 

11. RECORD KEEPING 

The NWPD will keep records of all payments made to Board members. 

 


	E-Comm Governance Reivew - Deloitte Governance Review - Summary.pdf
	E-Comm Governance Review – Summary


	Button1: 
	Button2: 


